
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad or Android 
Device.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another 

format or language please contact: 
Governance Support, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 
 

Friday, 5 September 2025 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Planning Committee will be held on 
 

Monday, 15 September 2025 
 

commencing at 5.30 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Banking Hall, Castle Circus entrance on the left 
corner of the Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Brook (Chairman) 

 

Councillor Billings 

Councillor Mandy Darling 

Councillor Fox (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Pentney 

 

Councillor Strang 

Councillor Tolchard 

Councillor Virdee 

 

 

 

A Healthy, Happy and Prosperous Torbay 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


(2) 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies for absence  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 6) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of this 

Committee held on 18 August 2025. 
 

3.   Disclosure of Interests  
 (a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 

items on this agenda. 

 
For reference: Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on 
the matter in question. A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting.  

 
(b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda. 

 
For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of 
the item. However, the Member may remain in the meeting to 
make representations, answer questions or give evidence if the 
public have a right to do so, but having done so the Member 
must then immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and 
must not improperly seek to influence the outcome of the 
matter. A completed disclosure of interests form should be 
returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.  

 
(Please Note: If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on 
any potential interests they may have, they should contact 
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.)  

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   11 Alta Vista Road, Paignton (P/2025/0253) (Pages 7 - 56) 
 Demolition of existing dwelling, garage and outbuildings and 

construction of ten dwellings plus associated access, parking, 
infrastructure, landscaping and associated works.  (Part-
retrospective). 
 

6.   Pannier Market, Union Square, Market Street, Torquay 
(P/2025/0164) 

(Pages 57 - 82) 

 Demolition and associated works to adjoining structures to south 
and west elevations of Pannier Market including removal of internal 
fixtures.  Formation of arched openings and new emergency escape 
doors to south and west elevations. 
 



(3) 

7.   Union Square Shopping Centre and Pannier Market, Union 
Square, Torquay (P/2025/0173) 

(Pages 83 - 178) 

 Partial demolition of existing shopping centre, demolition of 9 no. 
commercial units fronting on Union Street and Market Street and 
partial demolition of modern additions to Pannier Market.  
Redevelopment of site to provide residential development with 
associated amenity space, creation of new Class E commercial unit, 
repurposing of retained shopping centre floorspace sited below 
multistorey car park for Class E uses and associated external 
alterations, external works to Pannier Market, creation of public 
square and associated development infrastructure and works. 
 

 Public Speaking  
 If you wish to speak on any applications shown on this agenda, 

please contact Governance Support on 207087 or email 
governance.support@torbay.gov.uk before 11 am on the day of the 
meeting. 
 
We are using hybrid meeting arrangements to give registered 
speakers the opportunity to either attend the meeting in person to 
give their views or to attend the meeting remotely via Zoom.  If you 
would like to attend the meeting remotely to speak you will be 
provided with a Zoom link to join the meeting.  We also ask that you 
provide a copy of your speech to 
governance.support@torbay.gov.uk, before 11 am on the day of the 
meeting, so that the Clerk will be able to continue to read out your 
speech if you lose connection or cannot be heard in the physical 
meeting.  Remote attendees who lose connection may still be able 
to follow the meeting via the live stream on the Council’s YouTube 
channel. 
 
Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee will 
also be able to join the meeting via Zoom and must use their raise 
hand function to declare any interests. 
 

 

 Site Visits  
 If Members consider that site visits are required on any of the 

applications they are requested to let Governance Support know by 
5.00 p.m. on Wednesday, 10 September 2025.  Site visits will then 
take place prior to the meeting of the Committee at a time to be 
notified. 
 

 

 Live Streaming  

mailto:democratic.services@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk


(4) 

 To encourage more people to engage in our public meetings the 
Council is trialling streaming our Planning Committee meetings on 
our YouTube channel in addition to recording the meetings and 
publishing the recording on our website.  To watch the meeting live 
please visit https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil. 
 
We are also using hybrid meeting arrangements to enable 
registered speakers to either attend the meeting in person or to 
attend the meeting remotely via Zoom.  Anyone attending the 
meeting remotely must register their intention to do so by 11 
am on the day of the meeting and provide a copy of their 
speech to governance.support@torbay.gov.uk by this deadline.  
If anyone attending the meeting remotely loses connection the 
meeting will continue and their speech will be read out by the Clerk 
and they will have the option to follow the meeting via the YouTube 
live stream. 
 

 

https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk


  
 

 

Minutes of the Planning Committee 
 

18 August 2025 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Brook (Chairman) 

 

Councillors Billings, Mandy Darling, Fox (Vice-Chair), Pentney, Tolchard, Virdee and Bye 
 
 

 
4. Apologies for absence  

 
It was reported that, in accordance with the wishes of the Conservative  Group, the 
membership of the Committee had been amended to include Councillor Bye in place 
of Councillor Strang. 
 

5. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 23 June 2025 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

6. Land Adjacent County Court, Nicholson Road, Torquay, TQ2 7AZ (P/2024/0511)  
 
The Committee considered an Outline Application (matters of appearance and 
landscaping reserved) for Use Class B2, B8 and E(g)(ii) & E(g)(iii) commercial units 
with associated works.   
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a site visit and 
written representations were available on the Council’s website.  At the meeting Dr 
Rodney Horder addressed the Committee on behalf of the Torquay Neighbourhood 
Forum in support of the application.  Mr Tim Jones addressed the Committee in 
support of the application.   
 
At the meeting the Planning Officer advised, that since the report had been published, 
an update had been received from the Council’s Principal Policy and Project Planner 
who had provided an update on the Local Plan Working Party’s deliberations relating 
to employment land.  The Local Plan Working Party held on the 26 June 2025 
considered the allocation of employment sites in the light of the final Economic 
Development Needs Assessment data.  The Working Party considered that the 
forthcoming draft Local Plan should seek to allocate between 20 hectares (ha) and 
28ha of employment land which is an increase from the circa 14ha allocated in the 
current Torbay Local Plan.  The land adjacent to the County Court was identified as a 
site for allocation in the draft Local Plan, and it is intended to be published for public 
consultation in Autumn.  This carries very little weight in the Planning Balance at 
present since it is only a Working Party Recommendation however, the Planning 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee   Monday, 18 August 2025 
 

 

Committee should be aware that the Working Party had agreed to consult on the 
principle of developing the site in the Local Plan.   
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
Approved for the following reasons: 
 

 the impact on highway safety was not considered severe; 

 the lack of pedestrian access into the site via the ramp was not considered to 
cause a potential health and safety issue; and 

 additional weight attached to the economic benefits of the proposal. 
 
Subject to the final drafting of conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, to include the following but not be limited 
to; 

 

 restrict use classes B2/B8/E – no additional class E uses;   

 biodiversity matters; 

 ecology enhancement measures; 

 construction management plan; 

 landscape plan;  

 works not to take place during bird nesting season; 

 flooding and drainage plan; 

 tree protection plan; 

 final design – reserve matter stage for appearance of buildings; 

 external lighting; 

 designing out crime measures; 

 waste and recycling storage; 

 bicycle storage; 

 stepped access; 

 car park and road management plan; 

 travel plan; 

 hours of delivery; 

 noise levels; and 

 energy and sustainability. 
 

7. Appeals Monitoring Report  
 
The Committee received a report from the Service Manager for Development 
Management that provided information on the latest appeal decisions received. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That Members noted the Appeals Monitoring Report. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 6



 

Application Site Address 11 Alta Vista Road 

Paignton 

TQ4 6DB 

Proposal Demolition of existing dwelling, garage and 

outbuildings and construction of ten dwellings 

plus associated access, parking, infrastructure, 

landscaping and associated works. (Part-

retrospective). 

Application Number  P/2025/0253 

Applicant MDP Development South West Ltd 

Agent Bell Cornwell LLP 

Date Application Valid 21.05.2025 

Decision Due date 20.08.2025 

Extension of Time Date 19.09.2025 

Recommendation  Approval subject to:  

1. Completion of a unilateral undertaking.  

2. The planning conditions outlined below, with 

the final drafting of planning conditions 

delegated to the Divisional Director of 

Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency.  

3. The resolution of any new material 

considerations that may come to light following 

Planning Committee to be delegated to the 

Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and 

Climate Emergency, including the addition of 

any necessary further planning conditions or 

obligations. 

Reason for Referral to 

Planning Committee 

Major Development. 

Planning Case Officer Emily Elliott  

 

 

 

  

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


 

 

Location Plan 

 

Site Details 

 

The site contains a large two storey, detached residential dwelling with a render and tile hung 

appearance with a mixture of aluminium and uPVC windows and doors. The application site 

is surrounded by residential uses. The site area is approximately 0.2 hectares. The site lies 

to the eastern side of Alta Vista Road, and the site levels are relatively flat. The site is adjacent 

to Roundham and Paignton Harbour Conservation Area. 

 

Works have commenced in accordance with the extant planning permission (refs: 

P/2019/0893 and P/2022/1090), by means of the new access from Alta Vista Road has been 

implemented, the former swimming pool has been removed, and excavation has taken place 

to the rear of the site.  

 

The site forms part of the built-up area is within the Paignton Strategic Delivery Area but is 

not otherwise subject to any designations within the Torbay Local Plan. The site is also 

located within Flood Zone 1 and the Torbay wide Critical Drainage Area.  

 

Description of Development 

 

Page 8



 

 

This is a full planning application for the demolition of the existing dwelling, garage and 

outbuildings at 11 Alta Vista Road and the construction of 10no. dwellings plus associated 

access, parking, infrastructure, landscaping and associated works. The application is part-

retrospective. 

 

The proposed development will also include the construction of 6no. 4-bedroom town house 

dwellings and 4no. 2-bedroom ‘coach house’ style dwellings. A new vehicular and pedestrian 

access point is proposed from Alta Vista Road, while the existing access from Roundham 

Gardens will be maintained.  

 

Relevant Planning Policy Context  

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on local 

planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. The following development plan policies and 

material considerations are relevant to this application: 

 

Development Plan 

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan"); and 

- The Adopted Paignton Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 (“The Neighbourhood Plan”) 

 

Material Considerations 

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); 

- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG); 

- Published Standing Advice;  

- Heritage setting, within a Conservation Area (Upton);  

-  Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990:  Section 

72; and  

-  Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the following advice 

and representations, planning history, and other matters referred to in this report. 

 

Relevant Planning History  

 

 DE/2024/0172: Formation of 6 town houses & 4 coach houses with associated access, 

parking and amenity. Pre-application decision issued 18/02/2025. 

 CN/2024/0059: Discharge of Conditions relating to P/2019/0893. Condition: 4 - 

Construction Method Statement. Approved with legal agreement 11/09/2024.  

 P/2022/1090: Reserved Matters application on P/2019/0893. Matters to be discharged: 

(i) landscaping (to include hard and soft landscaping, and means of enclosure). Approved 

18/01/2023.  

 CN/2022/0118: Discharge of Conditions relating to application P/2019/0893. Conditions: 

02 - RM landscaping, 07 - Biodiversity Enhancement, 08 - Bicycle Storage, 13 - Electric 

Charging Point, 14 - Boundary Treatment. Approved 02/12/2022.  

 P/2019/0893: Outline consent for the demolition of existing building and construction of 

10 x residential flats with access, appearance, layout and scale matters given in detail 

and landscaping matters reserved. Approved 15/07/2020  

 P/2002/1060: Erection of 4 Bedroom Residential Property. Refused 03/10/2002.  

Page 9



 

 

 P/2001/1360: Redevelopment to Provide 10 Residential Apartments with Vehicular and 

Pedestrian Access (As Revised by Plans Received 4/2/02). Approved 11/04/2003.  

 P/2000/0738: Renewal of Application Reference No.95/0859/Pa for Erection of Garage. 

Approved 29/06/2000.  

 P/2000/0277: Redevelopment to Form 8 Self Contained Flats (In Outline). Approved 

22/01/2001.  

 P/1990/0719: Conversion of Previously Approved Three Bedroom Apartment Ref App. 

No. 89.2853 To Form 2 Two Bedroom Flats (Total 8 Units). Approved 30/05/1990.  

 P/1989/2853: Conversion and Extension to Form Seven Apartments with Parking. 

Approved 03/04/1990.  

 

Summary of Representations  

 

19 letters of objection have been received.  

 

Note: Full responses are available to view on the public access system 

(https://publicaccess.torbay.gov.uk/view/). 

 

Concerns include: 

 Drainage 

 Impact on local area 

 Loss of light 

 Noise 

 Not in keeping with local area 

 Overdevelopment  

 Privacy/overlooking 

 Traffic and access 

 Trees and wildlife 

 Impact on conservation area 

 Design/scale/visual impact 

 Parking  

 Sets precedent  

 Residential amenity  

 

Summary of Consultation Responses 

 

Devon and Cornwall Police Designing Out Crime (Comments dated 06/06/2025):  

As the security element of the building regulations, namely Approved Document Q (ADQ), 

sits outside the decision making process for the planning authority the following is to inform 

the applicant:- 

ADQ creates security requirements in relation to all new dwellings. All doors that provide 

entry into a building, including garage doors where there is a connecting door to the dwelling, 

and all ground floor, basement and other easily accessible windows, including roof lights, 

must be shown to have been manufactured to a design that has been tested to an acceptable 

security standard i.e. PAS 24. 

 

Page 10



 

 

As such it is recommended that all external doors and easily accessible windows are sourced 

from a Secured by Design (SBD) member-company List of Member Companies 

(Alphabetical). The requirements of SBD are that doors Accredited Product Search for Doors 

and windows Accredited Product Search for Windows are not only tested to meet PAS 24 

(2022) standard by the product manufacturer, but independent third-party certification from a 

UKAS accredited independent third party certification authority is also in place, thus 

exceeding the requirements of ADQ and reducing much time and effort in establishing 

provenance of non SBD approved products. 

 

Secured By Design is a free from charge police owned crime prevention initiative which aims 

to improve the security of buildings and their immediate surroundings in order to provide safer 

places and more secure places. 

 

There is a concern that there is free access around plots 1 & 6 around the front to the rear of 

both properties. It would be recommended this is gated in the interest in preventing 

unauthorised access and preventing anti-social behaviour. 

 

All external doors providing access to the stores must be lockable, it is recommended that 

the doors are also fitted with a self-closing and lockable mechanism to prevent them be 

inadvertently left insecure. The internal side of the door should also be fitted with a thumb 

turn twist or another type of emergency egress equipment. 

 

It is assumed that the private garden area to the front of the townhouses (along Roundham 

Gardens) are proposed as a front garden area and the lower walls are to allow for the sea 

views. I do have a concern that the vegetation on top of the wall in front of the pathway 

providing exclusive access to the entrance of the town houses could provide an area with 

limited natural surveillance or concealment if allowed to become overgrown. 

 

Where hedging is being utilised as a boundary treatment for dwellings, also must be robust 

enough to prevent and deter unauthorised access to the properties. It is also important that 

the plants being used for the hedging do not go through any drastic seasonal change which 

could undermine the security of the boundary. Given it can take some time for the hedging to 

grow and thicken to be an appropriate boundary treatment, it should be supported by a 

temporary solution, such as wooden fencing for example. 

 

Torbay Council’s Senior Environmental Health Officer (response dated 05/06/2025): 

I would confirm that I have no objections subject to the inclusion of the following condition 

should this application be approved:  

 

Construction/Demolition Management Plan  

No development shall take place until a detailed site-specific Construction/Demolition 

Management Plan has been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Council. The 

plan must demonstrate the adoption and use of the best practicable means to reduce the 

effects of noise, & dust. The plan should include, but not be limited to:  

 Procedures for maintaining good neighbour relations including complaint management. 

Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste from the site must 

only take place within the permitted hours detailed above.  

Page 11



 

 

 Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2 : 2009 Noise and Vibration 

Control on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise noise disturbance from 

construction works.  

 Control measures for dust and other air-borne pollutants.  

 Waste management. (note – the burning of building/demolition waste is not an acceptable 

means of disposal).  

 All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at such other 

place as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority, shall be carried out only 

between the following hours:  

08:00 Hours and 18:00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 and 13:00 Hours on 

Saturdays and; at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays.  

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the construction of 

the development. 

 

Torbay Council’s Principal Policy & Project Planner (response dated 01/07/2025):  

I note that the site has a long planning history, including approval P/2019/0893 for demolition 

of the existing building and erection of 10 flats. Permissions for conversion/flatted 

development going back to at least 1990 (P/1989/2853). On that basis the principle of 

redevelopment has been established. It is in any event a sustainably located brownfield site 

and scores well against the criteria in Policy H1 of the Local Plan. The 2024 NPPF has 

increased the importance of boosting housing supply and developing brownfield urban sites.  

 

The most important strategic planning consideration remains to maximise the number of 

dwellings achieved and to ensure a development that is built-out in the next five years rather 

than sitting undeveloped. The current proposal achieves 10 dwellings, which is the same 

number as the approved flatted scheme. Houses are likely to be more marketable than flats. 

It appears to me that the current proposed scheme is an improvement on the previously 

approved flatted scheme, and houses will be more marketable than apartments.  

 

As set out in my pre-application comments, the site may be capable of achieving more than 

10 dwellings. The terrace town houses are 167 sq. m gross internal floor area, which is quite 

substantial. The site area appears to be about 0.19ha so 10 dwellings is about 52 dwellings 

per hectare, which is a reasonable density. The Design and Access Statement indicates that 

densities are consistent with the surrounding area, however the area is relatively low density. 

There may be opportunities to increase the height of the building, or increase the number of 

terrace houses. However, I do note that neighbour amenity may prevent this. The impact on 

the adjacent Roundham and Paignton Harbour Conservation Areas will also need to be taken 

into account; although the building is not within the conservation area.  

 

The proposal achieves a significant increase in density of the site, and there is no policy in 

the Local or Neighbourhood Plans which imposes a minimum density. Similarly, the proposal 

is below the Local Plan target for affordable housing (15 dwellings), and it is not clear whether 

a scheme of 15+ dwellings could be achieved. On that basis I do not consider that there are 

grounds to argue that the proposal is an underdevelopment, and I welcome the proposal that 

achieves good use of an urban brownfield site.  

 

Page 12



 

 

The site is within CIL Charging Zone 2 i.e. chargeable at £70 per square metre, and I note 

that a form has been submitted in relation to this (stating 1146 sq. m net additional 

floorspace). On that basis, wider sustainable development S106 contributions would not be 

sought. However, site deliverability matters such as Berry Head recreation contributions 

would still be required.  

 

On the basis of the above I support the application. 

 

Torbay Council’s Principal Historic Environment Officer (response dated 25/06/2025): 

Impacts on Heritage assets  

The site is adjacent to the Roundham and Paignton Harbour Conservation Area which can 

be found to the west of the site. The submitted heritage statement describes the important 

characteristics of the conservation area and the contribution the existing site and its environs 

makes to this character. The document goes on to quantify the impact that the proposed 

development would have on the nearby conservation area. I would agree with the conclusions 

of the heritage statement and would advise that the proposed development would preserve 

the character and appearance of the Roundham and Paignton Conservation Area and would 

have a neutral impact on its significance as a designated heritage asset.  

 

Design  

The site is in a visually prominent, highly elevated location, and is visible from a number of 

public vantage points. Roundham Gardens is characterised by large, detached, two storey 

dwellings, whilst on the opposing (western) side of Alta Vista Road in the Roundham and 

Paignton Harbour Conservation Area is a three to four storey apartment block. There is an 

extant planning permission for the demolition of the existing building and the erection of a 

block of 10 residential flats. The general design approach appears to be acceptable for this 

location and would be considered a betterment to the extant planning permission. 

 

External materials will be key in the successful delivery of the proposed development, 

therefore, should the application be approved it is recommended that all external materials 

be controlled through a suitably worded condition, and this should include the need for 

physical samples/sample panels to be assessed on-site.  

 

Torbay Council’s Climate Strategy & Project Officer (response dated 05/06/2025): 

Given permission to demolish the current building has already been approved, my comments 

relate only to the sustainable and low carbon approach proposed. 

 

The applicant has submitted an Energy and Sustainability Statement and Sustainability 

Checklist. The contents of both broadly meet Policy SS14 and ES1 of the Torbay Local Plan 

and Policy PNP1(f) of the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

It is welcomed that the applicant is proposing a range measures/approaches that will result 

in an estimated 63% reduction in regulated carbon emissions (over Building Regulations Part 

L 2021), and including:  

 Fabric first approach  

 Installation of Air Source Heat Pumps (estimated to provide 53% of the site’s total energy 

demand) and Solar PV  

 EV charging points  Page 13



 

 

 Water saving measures  

 Overheating assessment to follow at the detailed design stage  

•  

I therefore propose the following conditions:  

 

Energy and Sustainability  

1)The development hereby approved shall incorporate the energy efficiency measures, 

renewable energy, sustainable design principles, water conservation and climate  

change adaptation measures into the design and construction of the development in full 

accordance with the energy and sustainability statement by AES Sustainability Consultants 

Ltd dated April 2025 prior to occupation.  

2)As proposed by the applicant, a 63% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions (beyond Part 

L 2021 Building Regulations) and in line with the energy hierarchy shall also be achieved, 

unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development incorporates measures to minimise the effects of and 

can adapt to a changing climate and to meet Policy SS14 and ES1 of the Torbay Local Plan 

and Policy PNP1(f) of the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

Renewable energy  

1)The development hereby approved shall incorporate the renewable energy measures 

outlined in the energy and sustainability statement by AES Sustainability Consultants Ltd into 

the design and construction of the development to ensure that at least 20% of the site’s total 

energy demand is met through renewable energy sources  

2)Prior to occupation, the following information shall be provided: - Evidence of the PV and 

ASHP systems as installed including exact location, technical specification and projected 

annual energy yield (kWh/year) e.g. a copy of the MCS installer’s certificate  

3)A calculation showing that the projected annual yield of the installed system is sufficient to 

meet at least 20% of the site’s total energy demand.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development contributes to minimising the effects of and can adapt 

to a changing climate and meets Policy ES1 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy PNP1(f) of 

the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

SWISCo’s Senior Tree Officer (response dated 01/07/2025): 

I have reviewed the soft landscape proposals, but due to the density of the proposed 

development there is not scope for meaningful structural tree planting. The proposed hedges 

required for plot subdivision and as boundary treatments are appropriate for the proposed 

context.  

 

If planning permission is granted, then the proposed soft landscape works are acceptable in 

terms of the proposed layout. 

 

South West Water (response dated 27.06.2025): 

Asset Protection 

Please find enclosed a plan showing the approximate location of a public 1,675mm sewer in 

the vicinity. Please note that no development will be permitted within 5 metres of the sewer, 

and ground cover should not be substantially altered. Page 14



 

 

 

Should the development encroach on the 5-metre easement, the sewer will need to be 

diverted at the expense of the applicant. 

 

Please click here to view the table of distances of buildings/structures from a public sewer. 

Further information regarding the options to divert a public sewer can be found on our website 

via the link below: 

https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/sewer-

servicesconnections/diversion-of-public-sewers  

 

Surface Water Services 

The applicant should demonstrate to your LPA that its prospective surface run-off will 

discharge as high up the hierarchy of drainage options as is reasonably practicable (with 

evidence that the Run-off Destination Hierarchy has been addressed, and reasoning as to 

why any preferred disposal route is not reasonably practicable): 

1. Water re-use (smart water butts, rainwater harvesting, grey flushing toilets) 

2. Discharge into the ground (infiltration); or where not reasonably practicable, 

3. Discharge to a surface waterbody; or where not reasonably practicable, 

4. Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or where 

not reasonably practicable, 

5. Discharge to a combined sewer. (Subject to Sewerage Undertaker carrying out capacity 

evaluation) 

 

Having reviewed the applicant’s current information as to proposed surface water disposal 

for its development (domestic roof and driveway run off only) Please note that discharging to 

the public combined sewerage network is not an acceptable proposed method of disposal, in 

the absence of clear evidence to demonstrate why the preferred methods listed within the 

Run-off Destination Hierarchy have been discounted by the applicant. 

 

For Highway run off please contact the Highway Authority to agree disposal method. 

 

Clean Potable Water 

South West Water is able to provide clean potable water services from the existing public 

water main for the above proposal. The practical point of connection will be determined by 

the diameter of the connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the company’s 

existing network. 

 

Foul Sewerage Services 

South West Water is able to provide foul sewerage services from the existing public foul or 

combined sewer in the vicinity of the site. The practical point of connection will be determined 

by the diameter of the connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the 

company’s existing network. 

 

The applicant can apply to South West Water for clarification of the point of connection for 

either clean potable water services and/or foul sewerage services. For more information and 

to download the application form, please visit our website: 

www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/pre-development-services  

 Page 15

https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/sewer-servicesconnections/diversion-of-public-sewers
https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/sewer-servicesconnections/diversion-of-public-sewers
http://www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/pre-development-services


 

 

Torbay Council’s Drainage Engineer (updated response dated 19/08/2025): 

I have discussed with my colleague, and we could ask for further infiltration testing in the right 

location and depth, but due to site constraints and likely ground conditions, on this occasion 

we would accept the controlled discharge off site. You can use the standard advice for this.  

 

Torbay Council’s Drainage Engineer (response dated 23/06/2025): 

 

The development is located in Flood Zone 1. 

 

As Torbay is classified as a critical drainage area the developer has submitted a site specific 

flood risk assessment (FRA) with his planning application. 

 

Infiltration was tested but ruled out due to poor infiltration rates and insufficient space. 

However, the trial pit locations were located outside of the green zone (SK001) and space 

available for soakaways. The infiltration test results do not directly represent the soil 

conditions within the actual proposed soakaway area. 

 

Torbay Council require urban creep to be applied to all impermeable surfaces. 

 

Additional testing within the green zone would be advisable in order to confirm infiltration 

is truly unfeasible and to avoid overdesigning attenuation and / or allow a hybrid SuDS 

approach. 

 

As Torbay is a Critical Drainage Area, enhanced surface water management including 

infiltration is required where possible. 

 

The FRA includes a maintenance plan only for the attenuation crates (Section 6.3), but does 

not provide any maintenance details for the SuDS planters. These must have a defined 

maintenance regime to ensure long-term performance. 

 

SWISCo’s Waste (Strategy & Performance) Team Manager (updated response dated 

28/07/2025): 

In response to this consultation request, I note that Bi�a are named as the collector of 

recycling and waste for this development. 

 

I would ask that this arrangement is kept in place for the life of the development. 

 

In recognition of this arrangement, I will withdraw the request for waste management 

contributions. 

 

SWISCo’s Waste (Strategy & Performance) Team Manager (original response dated 

04/06/2025): 

I have no objection to this development. 

 

The developer has shown detailed drawings for the storage of waste and recycling 

containers. 

 

Page 16



 

 

However, the residents will need to bring their waste and recycling containers to the nearest 

point on the adopted highway no later than 6am on the day of collection. 

 

I have attached the guidance for developers for advice. 

 

I would also like to request waste management contributions. 

 

WSP on behalf of the Highway Authority (updated response dated 26/08/2025): 

Vehicular Access 

The new vehicular access will be off Alta Vista Road serving 9 units, whilst the existing 

remains to serve one unit only. The new access and internal layout must comply with the 

adoptable standards set out on Page 15 of the Torbay Highways Design Guide for New 

Developments, April 2025 irrespective of the Applicant confirming it will remain a Private 

Road.  

 

The Highway Authority recommend a Condition be secured with any consent that requires 

detailed highway drawings to be submitted demonstrating that the Private Road accords with 

adoptable standards. An informative should also be added which states that the Highway 

Authority intends to serve an Advance Payments Code notice on receipt of Building 

Regulations plans. This is to ensure that the road is constructed to adoptable standards.  

 

The Adopted Highways Design Guide states the policy is the Highway should adopt roads 

serving over 5 dwellings. If highway adoption is unachievable as the Applicant proposes, via 

a Planning Condition secured to any Consent, a Road Maintenance Plan for the Private Road 

should be provided pre-occupation including the arrangements for the implementation of a 

Private Road Management Scheme to secure the effective management and maintenance 

of the access road and refuse collection, emergency vehicle and public access in perpetuity. 

 

The proposed Site Access layout drawing (DWG. 167-SK-P01) shows a 4.8-metre-wide 

access with a gradient of 1:20 (5%) leading towards the far end of the driveway which is 

considered acceptable. However, the access road must be constructed as a ‘shared surface’ 

in line with the adopted Highway Design Standards.  

 

Detailed design of both site accesses including cross sections, dropped kerbs, the access 

radii, and visibility splay area of vehicles and pedestrians is required and should be agreed 

before works resume.  

 

No drainage information at either site access is shown to demonstrate that no surface water 

run-off from the site will exit into the highway. This must be achieved.  

 

There is no turning area for delivery / servicing vehicles to turn on site. Whilst tracking for a 

7.5tonne HGV is provided, this assumes the driver will reverse in, no parked vehicles are 

opposite the access to cause an obstruction, and vehicles are not larger. None of these 

assumptions is guaranteed and an HGV’s manoeuvring into or out of the Private Road could 

easily cause delay, disruption, or incidents upon the public highway involving the traveling 

public. However, the number of vehicles over and above this size will be limited and those 

that do need access will more than likely be accompanied by banksmen to assist with safety 

on the public highway.  Page 17



 

 

 

Refuse / Servicing / Emergency Access 

The proposed site layout drawings (167-PA-P18 and P19) show refuse collection points for 

the coach houses in front of garages and for town houses in front of the parking areas. For 

Unit 6 bins will be collected by the access gate on Roundham Gardens. The Applicant states 

that a private contractor will be commissioned, however it should be confirmed whether this 

is for Plot 6 also, given it has direct access of the public highway.  

 

More information is required on how the contractor will collect waste and recycling given Plots 

5 and 10 are beyond the recommended distances for drag distance by either the occupier or 

the contractor. No tracking of a refuse vehicle, almost 4-metres longer than the 7.5tonne 

HGV, has been provided entering and exiting the Private Road. Drawings using the 

contractor’s confirmed refuse and recycling vehicle should be provided assuming vehicles 

are parked along the western side of Alta Vista Road opposite the access during the 

manoeuvre.  

 

A Planning Condition should be secured with any consent to require the site to be serviced 

by a Private Waste Contractor in perpetuity given the Council will not service the site which 

is not in accordance with the Torbay Recycling and Waste Collection Guidance for 

Developers. The Highway Authority would not accept waste and recycling bins ever being 

collected from any part of the highway given the obstruction that will be caused to 

pedestrians, including children and adults with pushchairs etc. heading to and from the leisure 

areas north and south of the site. The lack of a communal bin area by the edge of the highway 

within the site means no future proofing exists for occupiers should issues occur with the 

private collection arrangement.  

 

Should a Consent be granted, the Highway Authority will require pre-commencement of 

works to facilitate construction vehicles’ access a Construction Traffic Management Plan. 

This may necessitate a temporary Traffic Regulation Order to remove parking from Alta Vista 

Road opposite the access. The Applicant will be responsible for any costs incurred by the 

Council.  

 

Conclusion  

Given the existing permission upon the site, the Local Highway Authority would not object to 

the application subject to the following being secured by Conditions:  

 Prior to works commencing / resuming detailed highway technical plans should be agreed 

and delivered as such before any occupation. 

 Prior to any occupation a Road Maintenance Scheme should be agreed, including the 

requirements set out above.  

 Prior to any occupation a Road Management Scheme should be agreed including the 

requirements set out above.  

 Prior to any occupation agreement that the site will be serviced by a Private Waste 

Contractor in perpetuity should be made.  

 

An informative should also be added which states that the Highway Authority intends to serve 

an Advance Payments Code notice on receipt of Building Regulations plans. This is to ensure 

that the road is constructed to adoptable standards. 

 Page 18



 

 

The Comments of the Drainage and Waste Teams should be noted.  

 

WSP on behalf of the Highway Authority (updated response dated 21/08/2025): 

Vehicular Access 

The new vehicular access will be off Alta Vista Road serving 9 units, whilst the existing 

remains to serve one unit only. The new access and internal layout must comply with the 

adoptable standards set out on Page 15 of the Torbay Highways Design Guide for New 

Developments, April 2025 irrespective of the Applicant confirming it will remain a Private 

Road.  

 

The Highway Authority recommend a Condition be secured with any consent that requires 

detailed highway drawings to be submitted demonstrating that the Private Road accords with 

adoptable standards. An informative should also be added which states that the Highway 

Authority intends to serve an Advance Payments Code notice on receipt of Building 

Regulations plans. This is to ensure that the road is constructed to adoptable standards.  

 

The Adopted Highways Design Guide states the policy is the Highway should adopt roads 

serving over 5 dwellings. If highway adoption is unachievable as the Applicant proposes, via 

a Planning Condition secured to any Consent, a Road Maintenance Plan for the Private Road 

should be provided pre-occupation including the arrangements for the implementation of a 

Private Road Management Scheme to secure the effective management and maintenance 

of the access road and refuse collection, emergency vehicle and public access in perpetuity. 

The Private Road Management Scheme should be approved in writing by the local planning 

authority and should outline the following:  

a) The setting up of a company or other entity to be responsible for the on-going 

management and maintenance of the road, refuse collection, and public access for all 

units excluding Unit 6 that is served directly off the existing public highway (the 

"Management Body");  

b) How the company and the future management and maintenance of the road and refuse 

collection will be financed including initial capital investment with subsequent funding;  

c) The rights for and obligations on the Management Company to manage and maintain the 

road and collect refuse;  

d) Arrangements for the management and collection of refuse and waste from the dwellings;  

e) A road management and maintenance and refuse collection schedule;  

f) How refuse and waste will be managed on site including the location of individual and 

communal refuse and waste collection facilities and the locations where refuse and waste 

is to be transferred off-site;  

g) Confirmation from the relevant waste collection company that they have agreed to collect 

the refuse and waste from the development in accordance with the approved details;  

h) The ongoing maintenance and management of any communal lighting illuminating any 

part of the access road and surface water drainage systems; and  

i) An action plan which specifically covers road maintenance and management of access 

where potholes or subsidence arise.  

 

The development should be carried out in accordance with the Road Maintenance Plan and 

the Private Road Access Scheme which should thereafter be fully complied with and 

implemented. No dwelling should be occupied unless it connects directly to an access which 

is:  Page 19



 

 

a) Adopted, or subject to an agreement by the Highway Authority as a highway maintainable 

at the public expense; or  

b) Subject to a Private Road Management Scheme where the Management Body has been 

established and is responsible for the management and maintenance of the road and the 

collection of waste and refuse from the date of occupation of the dwelling.  

 

Any roads (including carriageways and footways) which do not form part of the highway 

maintainable at the public expense should be permanently maintained to an adoptable 

standard and retained and made available for public use in perpetuity.  

 

The proposed Site Access layout drawing (DWG. 167-SK-P01) shows a 4.8-metre-wide 

access with a gradient of 1:20 (5%) leading towards the far end of the driveway which is 

considered acceptable. However, the access road must be constructed as a ‘Shared 

Surface’. The following is to be noted:  

 On site access road is shown as ‘Tarmac’ on the submitted Landscaping Plan (167-PA-

P16 Rev A). This needs to be an imprinted coloured bituminous material design mix at 

the Engineer’s specification.  

 Detailed design of both site accesses including cross sections, dropped kerbs, the access 

radii, and visibility splay area of vehicles and pedestrians is required and should be 

agreed before works resume.  

 No drainage information at either site access is shown to demonstrate that no surface 

water run-off from the site will exit into the highway.  

 There is no turning area for delivery / servicing vehicles to turn on site. Whilst tracking for 

a 7.5tonne HGV is provided, this assumes the driver will reverse in, no parked vehicles 

are opposite the access to cause an obstruction, and vehicles are not larger. None of 

these assumptions is guaranteed and an HGV’s manoeuvring into or out of the Private 

Road could easily cause delay, disruption, or incidents upon the public highway involving 

the traveling public. 

 

Car and Cycle Parking 

21- parking spaces are proposed including two each for three coach houses and one for the 

fourth, and two spaces per town house. There are also two visitor spaces and an EV charging 

point per unit. This is in accordance with Appendix F of the Torbay Local Plan though the 

positioning of the visitor bays adjacent to the two end units and indeed obstructing access 

into Plot 10 could see them overtaken by occupies of those end units as overspill parking.  

 

Refuse / Servicing / Emergency Access 

 

The proposed site layout drawings (167-PA-P18 and P19) show refuse collection points for 

the coach houses in front of garages and for town houses in front of the parking areas. For 

Unit 6 bins will be collected by the access gate on Roundham Gardens. The Applicant states 

that a private contractor will be commissioned, however it should be confirmed whether this 

is for Plot 6 also, given it has direct access of the public highway.  

 

More information is required on how the contractor will collect waste and recycling given 

Plots 5 and 10 are beyond the recommended distances for drag distance by either the 

occupier or the contractor. No tracking of a refuse vehicle has been provided entering and 

exiting the Private Road. Drawings using the contractor’s confirmed refuse and recycling Page 20



 

 

vehicle should be provided and assume vehicles are parked along the western side of Alta 

Vista Road opposite the access.  

 

A Planning Condition should be secured with any consent to require the site to be serviced 

by a Private Waste Contractor in perpetuity given the Council will not service the site which 

is not in accordance with the Torbay Recycling and Waste Collection Guidance for 

Developers. The Highway Authority would not accept waste and recycling bins ever being 

collected from any part of the highway given the obstruction that will be caused to 

pedestrians, including children and adults with pushchairs etc. heading to and from the 

leisure areas north and south of the site. The lack of a communal bin area by the edge of the 

highway within the site means no future proofing exists for occupiers should issues occur 

with the private collection arrangement.  

 

Should a Consent be granted, the Highway Authority will require pre-commencement of 

works to facilitate construction vehicles’ access that a Traffic Regulation Order to remove 

parking from Alta Vista Road is made. The Applicant will be responsible for consultation and 

costs of delivering the scheme should the TRO be successful.  

 

Conclusion 

The Local Highway Authority wishes to raise an objection to the application due to the lack 

of provision for the access and turning of HGV’s including refuse, recycling, fire tenders, 

deliveries vehicles, and 10metre rigid trucks.  

 

The proposed on-site layout is contrary to the current Torbay Highways Design Guide for 

New Developments, April 2025.  

 

The proposal is not in accordance with the Torbay Recycling and Waste Collection Guidance 

for Developers which directly could impact the highway.  

 

No information on how the Private Road will be managed or maintained is provided.  

 

Although there is a Permit for 10 flats upon the site from the previous application for 22 

bedrooms, this application with this proposal of 10 homes and 32 bedrooms, an uplift of 69%, 

has significant potential to create more demand for HGV servicing and with more parking on 

the site, 21 compared to 12, the risk of delay and obstruction on the Private Road overspilling 

into the public highway increases, as does the risk to passing members of the traveling public 

be it in a vehicle, on a bike, or on foot.  

 

If the Planning Authority are minded to provide a Planning Permit for this Application, then 

before works commence / continue detailed highway technical plans should be agreed and 

before any occupation:  

• A Road Maintenance Scheme should be agreed, including the requirements set out above.  

• A Road Management Scheme should be agreed including the requirements set out above.  

• Agreement that the site will be serviced by a Private Waste Contractor in perpetuity made. 

• A Traffic Regulation Order to remove parking from Alta Vista Road is applied for and made 

subject to due process.  

 

Page 21



 

 

An informative should also be added which states that the Highway Authority intends to serve 

an Advance Payments Code notice on receipt of Building Regulations plans. This is to ensure 

that the road is constructed to adoptable standards. 

 

The Comments of the Drainage and Waste Teams should be noted.  

 

WSP on behalf of the Highway Authority (updated response dated 13/08/2025): 

Vehicular Access 

The new access and internal layout must comply with the adoptable standards set out on 

Page 15 of the Torbay Highways Design Guide for New Developments, April 2025. The 

Highway Authority would recommend a Condition which requires highway details submitted 

which must indicate that the highways accord with adoptable standards and an informative 

which state that the Highway Authority intends to serve an Advance Payments Code notice 

on receipt of Building Regulations plans. This is to ensure that the road is constructed to 

adoptable standards. Our policy states we should adopt a road serving over 5 dwellings.  

 

The proposed Site Access layout drawing (DWG. 167-SK-P01) shows a 4.8-metre-wide 

access with a gradient of 1:20 (5%) leading towards the far end of the driveway which is 

considered acceptable. However, the access road must be constructed as a ‘Shared 

Surface’. The following is to be noted:  

- On site access road is shown as ‘Tarmac’ on the submitted Landscaping Plan (167-PA-

P16 Rev A). This needs to be an imprinted coloured bituminous material design mix at 

the Engineer’s specification.  

- Detailed design of both site accesses including cross sections, dropped kerbs, the access 

radii, and visibility splay area of vehicles and pedestrians is required and should be agreed 

before works resume.  

- No drainage information at either site access is shown to demonstrate that no surface 

water run-off from the site will exit into the highway.  

- There is no turning area for delivery / servicing vehicles to turn on site. Whilst tracking for 

a 7.5tonne HGV is provided, relying on such vehicles reversing into the site is not 

supported as this could lead to delay, disruption, or incidents upon the public highway.  

 

If highway adoption is unachievable, via a Planning Condition secured to any Consent, a 

Road Maintenance Plan for the access road should be provided pre-occupation including the 

arrangements for the implementation of a Private Road Management Scheme to secure the 

effective management and maintenance of the access road and refuse collection, emergency 

vehicle and public access in perpetuity. The Private Road Management Scheme should be 

approved in writing by the local planning authority and should outline the following:  

a) The setting up of a company or other entity to be responsible for the on-going 

management and maintenance of the road, refuse collection, and public access for all 

units excluding Unit 6 that is served directly off the existing public highway (the 

"Management Body");  

b) How the company and the future management and maintenance of the road and refuse 

collection will be financed including initial capital investment with subsequent funding;  

c) The rights for and obligations on the Management Company to manage and maintain the 

road and collect refuse;  

d) Arrangements for the management and collection of refuse and waste from the dwellings;  

e) A road management and maintenance and refuse collection schedule;  Page 22



 

 

f) How refuse and waste will be managed on site including the location of individual and 

communal refuse and waste collection facilities and the locations where refuse and waste 

is to be transferred off-site;  

g) Confirmation from the relevant waste collection company that they have agreed to collect 

the refuse and waste from the development in accordance with the approved details;  

h) The ongoing maintenance and management of any communal lighting illuminating any 

part of the access road and surface water drainage systems; and  

i) An action plan which specifically covers road maintenance and management of access 

where potholes or subsidence arise.  

 

The development should be carried out in accordance with the Road Maintenance Plan and 

the Private Road Access Scheme which should thereafter be fully complied with and 

implemented. No dwelling should be occupied unless it connects directly to an access which 

is:  

a) Adopted, or subject to an agreement by the Highway Authority as a highway maintainable 

at the public expense; or  

b) Subject to a Private Road Management Scheme where the Management Body has been 

established and is responsible for the management and maintenance of the road and the 

collection of waste and refuse from the date of occupation of the dwelling. 

 

Any roads (including carriageways and footways) which do not form part of the highway 

maintainable at the public expense should be permanently maintained to an adoptable 

standard and retained and made available for public use in perpetuity.  

 

Car and Cycle Parking 

21- parking spaces are proposed including two each for three coach houses and just one for 

the fourth, and two spaces per town house. There are also two visitor spaces and an EV 

charging point per unit. This is in accordance with Appendix F of the Torbay Local Plan.  

 

The Highway Authority are satisfied with the secured and covered cycle parking apart from 

for Unit 6, as no information is provided.  

 

Refuse / Servicing / Emergency Access 

The proposed site layout drawings (167-PA-P18 and P19) show refuse collection points for 

the coach houses in front of garages and for town houses in front of the parking areas. For 

Unit 6 bins will be collected by the access gate on Roundham Gardens. The Applicant states 

that a private contractor will be commissioned.  

 

The Highway Authority are concerned that not only is it impossible for any HGV including a 

refuse or recycling wagon to enter and exit the new access in a forward gear as is required, 

but, in the event that contractors change or the houses take back a public Council collection, 

the lack of a communal bin area by the edge of the highway could lead to bins being stored 

on the footway obstructing pedestrians. This would not be acceptable. A communal bin 

collection area is required, and the Applicant should accord fully with Torbay Council’s waste 

storage guidance in the interests of public safety and maintaining recycling rates.  

 

Conclusion 

Page 23



 

 

The Local Highway Authority wishes to raise an objection to the application due to insufficient 

details in relation to the proposed access arrangements, the on-site highway layout is 

contrary to the current Torbay Highways Design Guide for New Developments, April 2025, 

and access arrangements for waste collection are not proven in perpetuity to be without risk 

to public throughfare.  

 

Detailed highway technical plans should be submitted of both accesses amongst further 

information if a positive outcome from the Highway Authority is to be secured.  

 

The Comments of the Drainage and Waste Teams should be noted.  

 

WSP on behalf of the Highway Authority (original response dated 26/06/2025): 

Site Description  

The site currently comprises one large dwelling, a detached garage and a pool house. 

Operations at the site have been discontinued since February 2024, as outlined in the 

Planning Statement. The site is located in a built-up residential area and is accessible to 

nearby facilities and local services.  

 

Footways are located on the Alta Vista Road but not on Roundham Gardens. However, a 

pedestrian and cyclist link to the Southwest Coast Path exists to the south of the site.  

 

Bus stops are available to the north and south of the site on Alta Vista Road, each located 

less than 100m from the site. The nearest railway station is Paignton, located approximately 

800m northwest of the site.  

 

Site History  

The site has extant outline planning permission (ref P/2019/0893) that was granted in July 

2020 to demolish the existing dwelling on the site and replace this with ten residential 

apartments and parking.  

 

It is also noted that a pre-application enquiry (ref DE/2024/0172) was submitted in November 

2024, where the principle of the proposed redevelopment was agreed. Highways were not 

consulted on this pre-app.  

 

Policy  

The Planning Statement dated April 2025 references various policies outlined in the Torbay 

Local Plan 2012 to 2030 and the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan. While we welcome this, in 

support of the planning application the Highway Authority would also require the applicant to 

review the Torbay Highways Design Guide for New Developments.  

 

Traffic Impact  

Trip Generation - Section 4 of the Transport Statement (TS dated April 2025) provides the 

anticipated trip generation from the proposed residential development. As this is expected to 

be fewer than 10 two-way vehicular trips during the standard AM and PM peak hours, the 

development is not considered to have a severe impact on the highway network capacity.  

 

Highway Safety - Section 2.5 of the TS details the collision analysis undertaken in the vicinity 

of the site using the Devon Collison Map website, which indicates 2 slight collisions near the Page 24



 

 

Alta Vista Road/ Roundham Road junction. As no cluster sites have been identified, the 

Highway Authority do not require the Applicant to carry out any further exercise.  

 

Design Considerations 

Vehicular Access - Vehicular access is proposed via a new junction off the Alta Vista Road 

serving the development. The existing vehicular access to the site will be retained as a 

secondary point of access.  

 

It is noted in the Design and Access Statement (DAS – 04, dated April 2025) that the new 

site access works has commenced in October 2024, in accordance with the earlier consented 

planning permission – P/2019/0893, however it should be noted that the design has changed 

between the permitted and proposed (Drawing No 110 Rev A).  

 

The proposed layout is to serve 10 dwellings and therefore the internal layout must be built 

to adoptable standards as per the Torbay Highways Design Guide for New Developments 

(Feb 2024). Under the Design Guide, the access road will need to be a ‘Shared Surface’. The 

current proposals do not meet these standards:  

 On site access road is shown as ‘Tarmac’ on the submitted Landscaping Plan (167-

PAP16 Rev A). This needs to be an imprinted coloured Bituminous Material Design mix 

at the Engineers Specification. (A single hard surface for use by pedestrians and vehicles 

without segregation).  

 Details of the dropped kerb / ramp including gradients must be provided.  

 There is no turning area for delivery / servicing vehicles to turn on site.  

 Details of the waste collection arrangements, including drag distances and reversing 

distances must be demonstrated to be in line with the Torbay Recycling and Waste 

Collection Guidance for Developers.  

 

Car and Cycle Parking  

A total of 21 car parking spaces is proposed (two spaces per unit for 3 coach houses, one 

space per unit for the remaining 1 coach house and two spaces per unit for 6 town houses, 

along with 2 spaces for visitors in communal parking area). This is in accordance with the 

Torbay parking requirements. EV charging points are proposed alongside the parking area 

for the housing units and we welcome this.  

 

Appendix F of the Torbay Local Plan requires that 10% of the total allocation of car parking 

spaces must be dedicated and appropriately designed for disabled people and provide for 

safe, easy and direct movement for mobility impaired users. Currently, no information is 

available regarding this in the supporting plans/ documents.  

 

The Highway Authority are satisfied with the secured and covered cycle parking provision is 

proposed for each of the individual housing units.  

 

Trees 

The proposed layout plan (Drawing ref 167-PA-P17, Rev A dated April 2025) indicates 

removal of the existing hedge in the property to be removed and replaced with new planting. 

Care should be taken to ensure that the public highway boundary is respected during all 

times.  

 Page 25



 

 

Planning Obligation  

The Local Highway Authority will seek the necessary 278 works or S106 planning 

contributions that are essential to make the scheme acceptable in planning terms. Please 

also refer to the adopted Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary 

Planning Document, Section 4.3 for the framework of seeking additional Sustainable 

Transport contributions for major schemes (PCAH SPD 

(https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/local-plan/spd/) and Table 4.3. 

For major proposals that are likely to result in increased trips, Sustainable Transport 

contributions will be sought in accordance with the Planning Contributions SPD.  

 

Conclusion 

The Local Highway Authority wishes to raise an objection to the application due to insufficient 

details in relation to the proposed access arrangements and because the on-site highway 

layout is contrary to the Torbay Highways Design Guide for New Developments (NPPF para 

115c).  

 

Devon County Council’s Principal Ecologist (updated response dated 20/08/2025): 

 

I am happy with the amendments suggested by the agent – happy for the CMS to be updated 

with those changes. 

 

Devon County Council’s Principal Ecologist (updated response dated 13/08/2025): 

 

The CMS as submitted doesn’t include any ecological considerations for construction, mainly 

around pollution control, water quality, nesting birds nor bats. I believe that the construction 

recommendations as provided within the ecology report need to be added to the CMS, and 

there also needs to be a small section on how water quality/pollution will be controlled 

throughout construction, given the location of the scheme in close proximity to the marine 

SAC. 

 

Devon County Council’s Principal Ecologist (response dated 23/06/2025): 

South Hams SAC – Berry Head Recreational Zone 

The HRA developed and agreed with Natural England for the Torbay Local Plan concluded 

that as long as the s106 contributions as described above are implemented as part of 

development in the Brixham Peninsula, development in this area will have no adverse effect 

upon the integrity of any of the European sites and the conservation objectives would be 

sustained. With this measure secured, there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the 

SAC.  

 

Lyme Bay to Torbay SAC  

The site is approximately 200m from Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC. Qualifying features are 

reefs, sea caves and great white sharks.  

 

The potential threat of increased public access and disturbance to the sea caves has been 

raised in the SAC Site Improvement Plan (SIP) - Site Improvement Plan: Lyme Bay and 

Torbay - SIP128 (naturalengland.org.uk).  

 

Page 26



 

 

The SIP states: A number of the coastal cave features are accessible to visitors. If access is 

left unregulated, coasteerers, kayakers, diver visits and casual visitors using the entrances 

in the coastal cliffs could impact the delicate fauna and rare species. Coasteering is growing 

in popularity as a sport, so the sea caves are likely to be visited more frequently in future. At 

least two commercial dive operators organise dives at Watcombe Sea Caves. The biological 

communities at risk are highly delicate.  

 

The SIP states however, that this issue is being addressed through the promotion of Codes 

of Conduct and a coasteering licencing scheme led by the Torbay Coast and Countryside 

Trust. Furthermore, this application does not lead to a direct increase in an activity likely to 

impact upon the designated features of the SAC.  

 

It is therefore considered that this proposal will not result in a Likely Significant Effect on the 

SAC either alone or in-combination with other Plans and Projects.  

 

There is potential for an increase in waterborne pollutants to be produced and enter controlled 

water during the construction phase of development.  

 

In the absence of mitigation, it is deemed that this development could, in combination with 

other plans and projects, have a Likely Significant Effect on the Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC 

due to pollution impacts and so Appropriate Assessment is needed.  

 

Appropriate Assessment:  

A Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) will be submitted and agreed 

with the LPA. This document will provide measures of construction controls on dust and 

reducing contaminated run-off.  

The CEMP and any required pollution control measures will be conditioned as part of any 

planning permission.  

 

HRA Conclusion:  

With these mitigation measures secured, there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of 

the SAC. Condition – CEMP. 

 

European Protected Species - Bat flight lines / foraging  

The consultant ecologist deems that the site offers features suitable for commuting and 

foraging bats, but the site was of too small a scale to undertake bat activity surveys – this 

conclusion is deemed valid.  

 

Potential impacts of the development would be associated with lighting during both the 

construction and operational phases of development. Condition – External lighting. 

 

European Protected Species - Bat roosts – buildings / trees  

Proposed mitigation includes an application for a European protected species licence from 

Natural England as the consultant ecologist believed an offence cannot be avoided.  

 

The authority must consider whether the proposal meets the three derogation tests of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), and accordingly 

whether Natural England are likely to grant an EPSL which would permit the proposal to Page 27



 

 

lawfully proceed. The first two tests (below) are essentially planning tests and are for the case 

officer to conclude. The third test I have concluded below.  

 

i) The consented operation must be for ‘preserving public health or public safety or other 

imperative reasons for overriding public interest including those of a social or 

economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 

environment’; confirms in writing to the LPA that the recommendations have been 

implemented. Condition: No external lighting shall be installed at any time at the 

application site without the written permission of the Local Planning Authority. Reason: 

In the interests of nocturnal biodiversity. 

ii) There must be ‘no satisfactory alternative’  

iii) The action authorised ‘will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of 

the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range’.  

 

Given the mitigation measures included within the Ecology Report, it is my opinion that the 

third test of the Habitats Regulations is satisfied. If upon consideration of the first two tests 

you consider them met, then it is reasonable to conclude that Natural England would grant 

an EPS licence for this development.  

 

Condition – Ecological enhancements and recommendations. 

 

Other Protected Species - Nesting birds  

These measures are deemed sufficient to minimise potential negative impacts on nesting 

birds. Condition – Vegetation clearance. 

 

Net Gain  

Statutory Biodiversity Net Gain not required because this application is part retrospective.  

 

Planning Officer Assessment 

 

Key Issues/Material Considerations 

 

1. Principle of Development 

2. Design and Visual Impact (including the impact upon heritage assets) 

3. Residential Amenity 

4. Highways, Movement and Parking  

5. Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees 

6. Flood Risk and Drainage 

7. Low Carbon Development and Climate Change 

8. Designing Out Crime 

 

1. Principle of Development 

 

The proposal is for the demolition of the existing dwelling, garage and outbuildings at 11 Alta 

Vista Road and the construction of 10no. dwellings plus associated access, parking, 

infrastructure, landscaping and associated works.  

 

Page 28



 

 

The site benefits from an extant planning permission (P/2019/0893 and P/2022/1090) which 

was implemented in October 2024, such included the creation of the new access onto Alta 

Vista Road and the removal of land to the north of the existing dwelling including the removal 

of the former swimming pool. 

 

The Council’s Principal Policy & Project Planner has been consulted on the application and 

has confirmed that the principle of redevelopment has been established. The Planner has 

outlined that the proposed scheme is an improvement on the previously approved flatted 

scheme, as houses are likely to be more marketable than flats. The Planner has also stated 

that the site may be capable of achieving more than 10 dwellings, however the site area 

appears to be about 0.19ha so 10no. dwellings is approximately 52no. dwellings per hectare, 

which is a reasonable density. It is noted that the surrounding area has relatively low density. 

The proposal achieves a significant increase in density of the site, and there is no current 

policy in the Development Plan which imposes a minimum density. The Planner concluded 

that the proposal that achieves good use of an urban brownfield site.  

 

Policy H1 of the Local Plan states that proposals for new homes within the Strategic Delivery 

Areas will be supported subject to consistency with other policies of the Plan and subject to 

nine criteria, notably including the need to provide a range of homes to meet the objectively 

assessed needs and maintain a rolling 5-year supply of deliverable sites. Policy SS12 of the 

Local Plan sets out that housing provision will focus upon a sustainable pattern of distribution 

throughout the Bay, with an emphasis upon the regeneration of brownfield sites and town 

centre sites, and development of urban sites. The site is located within the Paignton Strategic 

Delivery Area, as defined by Policy SS1 of the Local Plan. Policy SS1 confirms that Strategic 

Delivery Areas are the focus for delivery of growth and change in the Bay over the Plan period, 

providing strategic and sustainable locations for new employment space, homes and 

infrastructure. 

 

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF promotes the effective use of land in meeting the need for homes 

and other uses. Paragraph 125 of the NPPF presents clear support for the principle of using 

land effectively to meet the need for homes and guides that decisions should give substantial 

weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes. It also 

promotes support for the development of under-utilised land and buildings, especially where 

proposal would help to meet identified needs for housing.  

 

The Government published the most recent Housing Delivery Test in December 2024. 

Torbay’s result is 66%. The Council have recently reported that their housing land supply 

figure has decreased to 1.72 years through a recent planning appeal (ref: 

APP/X1165/W/24/3354507). The Housing Delivery Test requires that the presumption in 

favour of sustainable development be applied as per Paragraph 11 of the NPPF.  

 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states: 

 

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

 

For decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 

delay; or  Page 29



 

 

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date [Footnote 8], granting permission 

unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance [Footnote 7] provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having 

particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making 

effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, 

individually or in combination [Footnote 9]. 

 

Footnote 7: The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in 

development plans) relating to: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 189) and/or 

designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green 

Space, a National Landscape, a National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as 

Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets 

of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 75); and areas at risk of flooding or coastal 

change. 

 

Footnote 9: The policies referred to are those in paragraphs 66 and 84 of chapter 5; 91 of 

chapter 7; 110 and 115 of chapter 9; 129 of chapter 11; and 135 and 139 of chapter 12. 

 

Whilst government guidance pulls in somewhat different directions, there is a clearly stated 

government objective of boosting the supply of housing. Policies SS3 and SS13 of the Local 

Plan also set out a presumption in favour of sustainable development separately to the NPPF. 

Accordingly, the presumption in favour of sustainable development is applied to applications 

involving the provision of housing.    

 

Under the presumption, permission should only be refused where either: 

(i) The application of policies in the Framework that protect designated heritage assets 

provides a strong reason for refusal (i.e. the “tilted balance” at Paragraph (d)i) or  

(ii) The impacts of approving a proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies of the Framework taken as a whole, 

having particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable 

locations, making effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing 

affordable homes, individually or in combination (i.e. the “tilted balance” at Paragraph 

11(d)ii).  

 

Development plan polices are taken into account when assessing whether the harm caused 

would “significantly and demonstrably” outweigh the benefit.   

 

Given the explanation within Footnote 8 and Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF the policies within 

the Development Plan which are most important for determining the proposal are out-of-date. 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development indicates that planning permission 

should be granted unless one of two circumstances apply. It is considered that neither limb 

within Paragraph 11(d) applies and therefore the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development applies and the tilted balance is engaged.  

 Page 30



 

 

Policies SS3 and SS13 of the Local Plan also set out a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development separately to the NPPF. 

 

In terms of the principle of development, the development is considered acceptable in 

principle.  

 

This position is however subject to wider policy considerations that are relevant to the 

development proposal and consideration of relevant material considerations, the forthcoming 

sections of the report will discuss these matters.  

 

2. Design and Visual Impact (including Heritage Impacts) 

 

It is important to note that achieving good design is a central thread within national guidance 

and Part 12 of the NPPF “Achieving well-designed places” offers key guidance on this. 

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable 

buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 

achieve. Paragraph 131 goes on to state that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 

development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development 

acceptable to communities. In addition, paragraph 139 states that “development that is not 

well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and 

government guidance on design [Footnote 54], taking into account any local design guidance 

and supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes.”. Similar design 

expectations are engrained within the Development Plan through Policies SS11, DE1 and 

DE4 of the Local Plan and Policy PNP1(c) of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

The site is in a visually prominent, highly elevated location, a corner plot where Alta Vista 

Road meets Roundham Gardens, evident from a large expanse of public vantage points. 

Roundham Gardens is characterised by large, detached, two storey dwellings, whilst on the 

opposing (western) side of Alta Vista Road in the Roundham & Paignton Harbour 

Conservation Area is a three to four storey apartment block. 

 

The application site is directly adjacent to Roundham & Paignton Harbour Conservation Area. 

The site is occupied by large two storey detached dwelling, an associated double garage, a 

pool house and previously a swimming pool. The existing buildings on site have pitched roofs 

and the existing dwelling is finished in a mixture of render, brick and hanging slates, whereas 

the garage and pool house are finished in render. The site is bounded by a Cock and Hen 

stone wall with brick pillars, which form the pedestrian access points from Alta Vista Road and 

the vehicular access point from Roundham Gardens. 

 

The extant planning permission was for the demolition of the existing dwelling and associated 

ancillary buildings and the construction of a single block of development that would contain 

10no. (mixture of 2-bed and 3-bed) residential flats. The extant permission sought a similar 

position within the plot as the existing dwelling, but sought to increase the width of the built 

form from east to west. The parking for the flatted development was to the north east section 

of the site.  

 

Objectors have raised concerns regarding the proposed development in terms of its impact 

on the local area, its impact on the conservation area, it not being in keeping with the local Page 31



 

 

area, it constitutes overdevelopment, it sets an unwanted precedent and its 

design/scale/visual impact. 

 

The proposal seeks to maintain a similar positioning as per the extant planning permission, 

but widen the width. The proposals seek to form 6no. 4-bedroom townhouses and 4no. 2-

bedroom coach house style dwellings with associated landscaping, outdoor amenity space 

and parking provision. The proposed townhouses would front Roundham Gardens providing 

an active frontage, whereas the proposed coach house style dwellings would be located 

behind the townhouses providing a lower-scaled transition towards the northern boundary.  

 

The supporting Design and Access Statement outlines that the design of the townhouses 

takes inspiration from the local beach hut vernacular, whereas the coach house dwellings are 

subdued and traditional in form to demonstrate subservience to their positioning in the site. 

The proposed materials palette reflects the site’s coastal location as well as providing a 

contemporary design. A planning condition is recommended for the external materials.  

 

In terms of scale and massing, the extant planning permission sought a flatted development 

that measured approximately 32.5 metres in width, had a ranging depth of 14.5-17 metres 

and a ranging height of 9.9-12.2 metres. The proposed 6no. townhouses would have the 

following approximate measurements – 35.9 metres width excluding the balconies (38.6 

metres including the balconies), 12.2 metres depth and a ranging height of 11.5-12.7 metres 

when within the parking court but 9.9 metre height when viewed from Roundham Gardens. 

The application has been supported by overlaid drawings to demonstrate that the proposed 

development does not exceed the height established through the extant planning permission. 

Whilst the proposed width is slightly larger than the extant scheme, it is considered that such 

is acceptable as it is maximising the opportunity of the site. The proposed roofscape differs 

from the extant scheme, the proposed roofscape of the townhouses will have a north-south 

pitch rather than the extant scheme which sought an east-west pitch.  

 

The general design approach appears to be acceptable for this location and is considered to 

be a betterment to the extant planning permission. The southern elevation of the townhouses 

presents a development which is more in keeping with the coastal environment than the extant 

planning permission and such is welcomed. The proposed coach houses are staggered to 

respond to the topography and to assist in breaking up the massing which it has demonstrated 

effectively 

 

Given the siting, scale, and design of the proposal, it is considered that the proposal would 

not result in unacceptable harm to the character or visual amenities of the locality, subject to 

a planning condition to secure details of external materials prior to their installation. The 

proposal is considered to comply with Policy DE1 of the Local Plan, Policy PNP1(c) of the 

Neighbourhood Plan and the guidance contained in the NPPF.    

 

Policy SS10 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed, amongst other things, 

in terms of the impact on listed and historic buildings, and their settings, and in terms of the 

need to conserve and enhance the distinctive character and appearance of Torbay's 

conservation areas. Development is also required to sustain and enhance undesignated 

heritage assets. 

 Page 32



 

 

It is also incumbent on the Authority, in exercising its duties, under the provisions of The 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (Section 72(1)), to pay special 

attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 

conservation area. 

 

Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource, and 

should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed 

for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. The NPPF outlines 

that the conservation of heritage assets should be given great weight in decision making 

(Paragraph 212 refers). 

 

As the site is adjacent to Roundham & Paignton Harbour Conservation Area, the application 

is supported by a Heritage Statement. The Council’s Principal Historic Environment Officer 

has been consulted on the application and agrees with the supporting Heritage Statement 

where it outlines the important characteristics of the conservation area and the contribution 

the existing site and its environs makes to this character, as well as quantifying the impact 

that the proposed development would have on the nearby conservation area. The Officer has 

concluded that the proposed development would preserve the character and appearance of 

the Roundham & Paignton Harbour Conservation Area and would have a neutral impact on 

its significance as a designated heritage asset.  

 

The proposal is considered to accord with Policy SS10 of the Local Plan and the guidance 

contained within the NPPF. 

 

3. Residential Amenity 

 

The NPPF guides that decisions should ensure that developments create places that are 

safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard 

of amenity for existing and future users and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, 

do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience (Paragraph 135). 

The Local Plan contains policy guidance aligned with the aspirations of the NPPF, principally 

through Policies SS11, H1 and DE3, towards ensuring that residential development produces 

high-quality living environments that present a good level of amenity for future users and 

neighbouring occupiers. Policy DE3 also identifies size standards for self-contained units, 

which reflect the nationally described space standards. 

 

Quality of living accommodation for future occupiers  

 

Policy DE3 sets out the minimum floor space standards for new residential units, which align 

with the nationally described space standards. The proposed residential units comply with 

the minimum floor space requirements.  

 

The proposal seeks to provide 6no. x 4-bed townhouse and 4no. 2-bed coach house style 

dwellings. All dwellings are considered to provide an acceptable scale of living 

accommodation with floor areas exceeding the prescribed standards. In addition to the size 

of the space, the quality of the space should be considered, in terms of how it is positively 

influenced by natural light levels and outlooks. It is considered that the 6no. proposed 

townhouses will provide future occupiers with adequate natural light levels and outlook. In Page 33



 

 

terms of the proposed coach house style dwellings, the applicant previously submitted a pre-

application enquiry where the matter of light levels and outlook was discussed in detail. The 

supporting information details that the coach house dwellings would be limited to short 

periods of overshadowing in the winter months, but will maintain good levels of natural light 

throughout the remainder of the year, demonstrating the proposal is in line with BRE 

guidelines. The proposed development is therefore considered to provide all residential units 

with adequate natural light levels and outlooks. 

 

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan guides that new dwellings should provide 55 square metres of 

outdoor amenity space. The proposed plans show the 6no. townhouses having outdoor 

amenity areas, with all but 1no. having such within their frontages, as well as balconies. The 

proposed 4no. coach houses would have small first floor projecting balconies. It should be 

noted that the site is within very close proximity to Roundham Gardens, Youngs Park and 

Goodrington Sands, which offer large expanses of public outdoor space. Therefore, the 

requirement to provide 55 square metres is mitigated by the adjacent public open spaces. 

 

Adjacent neighbouring amenity 

 

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan states that development should not unduly impact upon the 

amenity of neighbouring and surrounding occupiers. Objectors have raised concerns 

regarding noise, loss of light and residential amenity. 

 

The construction phase will naturally have some temporary impacts however such impacts 

are not unusual and can be limited through positively managing the process through a 

Construction Method Statement, the application is supported by such given that works have 

commenced, a planning condition shall be employed to secure such.   

 

In terms of the finished development the residential use aligns with the residential uses 

nearby and the proposed use would not result in undue noise or general disturbance.  

 

To the west of the application site, the existing properties on the opposing side of Alta Vista 

Road (Nos. 4, 4A, 6 and 6A Alta Vista Road and Highcliffe Mews) will not be detrimentally 

affected by the proposed development given the separation distances (in excess of 20 

metres) and the extant planning permission. To the eastern of the application site is ‘West 

Cliff’. The separation distance between the built form of the proposed development (Plot 6) 

and ‘West Cliff’ is approximately 7.5 metres, however it should be noted that ‘West Cliff’ has 

no existing openings at first floor on its west elevation facing the application site. ‘West Cliff’ 

does have some openings at ground floor on its west elevation. In relation to the proposed 

development, Plot 6 has got openings on its eastern elevation across all floors. It is 

considered unreasonable to employ a planning condition to obscurely glaze the ground floor 

openings as the intervening boundary treatment will prevent any intervisibility/privacy issues. 

At first and second floor there are sets of doors located towards the front of the dwelling, 

given the separation distances and oblique angle towards ‘West Cliff’ it is not considered 

necessary to obscurely glaze such. At first floor there is a secondary window serving the open 

living space and at second floor there is a window serving an en-suite, given the existing 

vegetation which is outside of the applicant’s ownership it is considered reasonable to 

recommend a planning condition to obscurely glaze both openings. A further planning 

condition is recommended to secure privacy screens to the eastern flank of the first and Page 34



 

 

second floors of Plot 6’s balconies to ensure privacy levels are maintained. Given the 

aforementioned planning conditions, it is considered that the proposal would not have a 

detrimental impact upon the privacy of the occupiers of the property ‘West Cliff’. 

 

To the north of the site is Nos.5, 5A, 7 and 7A Alta Vista Road, the application is supported 

by suitably scaled drawings demonstrating the 25 degree test, which confirms that the 

proposed development would not result in any overshadowing to these adjacent properties. 

From a site visit, it is noted that the rear outdoor amenity spaces for Nos.5, 5A, 7 and 7A Alta 

Vista Road are at a higher level than natural ground level. The application is supported by 

proposed sections which demonstrate that there will be additional boundary treatments to the 

northern boundary, to prevent the second bedrooms of the coach houses from overlooking 

the outdoor amenity spaces of the adjacent neighbours. A planning condition is 

recommended to secure suitable boundary treatments, including heights, finishes and details 

of how such will interact with existing boundary treatments. 

 

Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions and given its siting, scale, and design, it 

is considered that the proposal would not result in any detrimental harm to the amenities of 

the occupants of neighbouring buildings in terms of their privacy, outlook, or access to natural 

light. Having regard to the amenities provided within the proposal for future occupants and 

the future relationship of the development with adjacent plots and neighbouring occupants, 

the proposed scheme broadly aligns with the aims and objectives of Policies SS11 and DE3 

of the Local Plan and the guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 

4. Highways, Movement and Parking 

 

Paragraph 115 of the NPPF guides that in assessing specific applications for development it 

should be ensured that a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the 

vision for the site, the type of development and its location; b) safe and suitable access to the 

site can be achieved for all users; c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport 

elements and the content of associated standards reflects current national guidance, 

including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code; and d) any 

significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and 

congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree 

through a vision-led approach. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF confirms that development should 

only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 

on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, following 

mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future scenarios. 

 

Development Plan objectives align with the aspirations of national guidance with principal 

guidance within Policies TA1, TA2 and TA3 of the Local Plan encompassing outcomes for 

developing a sustainable model of transport, providing a good standard of access for walking, 

cycling, public and private transport modes, standard for parking and cycling facilities. Policy 

PNP1(d) of the Neighbourhood Plan states that new residential development should aim to 

achieve where appropriate and subject to viability, purpose designed cycle parking space 

that is covered, safe and convenient. Where cycle parking and bin storage are located within 

a garage, it should be demonstrated that the garage will be of sufficient size to house at least 

2no. cycles in addition to car parking, complying with the relevant adopted standards. 

 Page 35



 

 

The site is located in a built-up residential area and is accessible to nearby facilities and local 

services. Footways are located on the Alta Vista Road but not on Roundham Gardens. 

However, a pedestrian and cyclist link to the Southwest Coast Path exists to the south of the 

site. Bus stops are available to the north and south of the site on Alta Vista Road, each 

located less than 100m from the site. The nearest railway station is Paignton, located 

approximately 800m northwest of the site. A new vehicular and pedestrian access point is 

proposed from Alta Vista Road, while the existing access from Roundham Gardens will be 

maintained as a secondary access. Alta Vista Road and Roundham Gardens are subject to 

a 30mph speed limit, and neither are classified roads.  

 

The proposed development seeks to provide 21no. parking spaces. Objectors have raised 

concerns regarding traffic, access and parking. Local Plan policy guidance states that the 

proposed development should provide 2no. off-street parking spaces per dwelling, totalling 

20no. off-street parking spaces, however the proposal provides a deficit of 1no. parking space 

for Plot 10 and provides 2no. parking spaces for visitors. The proposed layout assigns specific 

parking spaces to each dwelling. The Highway Authority has not raised a concern regarding 

the level of parking provision and is satisfied with the accessibility of the parking provision. 

Planning conditions are recommended to secure the parking provision and the provision of 

electric vehicle charging points Provision should also be made for 2no. bicycle storage 

spaces per dwelling, such is recommended to be secured via planning condition, 

notwithstanding the approved plans as no information of such has been provided for Plot 6.  

 

In terms of trip generation, the supporting Transport Statement outlines the anticipated trip 

generation from the proposed residential development. The Transport Statement states that 

it is expected to be fewer than 10 two-way vehicular trips during the standard AM and PM 

peak hours, the development is not considered to have a severe impact on the highway 

network capacity. The Highway Authority agree with this conclusion. 

 

The Highway Authority consider that the proposed on-site layout is contrary to the current 

Torbay Highways Design Guide for New Developments. The Adopted Highways Design 

Guide for New Developments states the policy is the Highway should adopt roads serving 

over 5no. dwellings. If highway adoption is unachievable as the applicant proposes, then the 

Highway Authority have stated that a planning condition securing a Road Management and 

Maintenance Plan should be imposed. The new vehicular access will be off Alta Vista Road 

which will serve 9no. residential units, whilst the existing access on Roundham Gardens will 

serve 1no. residential unit. The proposal shows a 4.8-metre-wide access with a gradient of 

1:20 (5%) leading towards the far end of the driveway which is considered acceptable to the 

Highway Authority. However, the Highway Authority have stated that the access road must 

be constructed as a ‘Shared Surface’. The Highway Authority have stated that the new access 

and internal layout must comply with the adoptable standards contained within the Torbay 

Highways Design Guide for New Developments. A planning condition is recommended to 

secure such. The Highway Authority have also recommended an informative which state that 

the Highway Authority intends to serve an Advance Payments Code notice on receipt of 

Building Regulations plans. This is to ensure that the road is constructed to adoptable 

standards. A planning condition is also recommended to secure the hard landscaping for the 

proposal. 

 

Page 36



 

 

The Highway Authority have requested a pre-commencement planning condition in relation 

to construction vehicles’ access and a Traffic Regulation Order to remove parking from Alta 

Vista Road. However, the application is part-retrospective and having undertaken a site visit 

construction machinery has been on-site, therefore such is not considered necessary. 

 

The applicant has provided some tracking plans, including for 7.5 tonne heavy goods 

vehicles. The tracking plans assume that the driver will reverse in and that vehicles will not 

be larger than 7.5 tonnes. When considered delivery drivers such vehicles will be under this 

limit. The Highway Authority have stated that the tracking assumes no vehicles parked on 

the opposite side of Alta Vista Road. The Highway Authority have raised concern that the 

manoeuvring could cause delay, disruption or incidents on the public highway, however the 

extant planning permission would have required the same arrangements for larger vehicles 

wanted to visit the site. The Highway Authority have stated that  the number of vehicles over 

and above this size will be limited and those that do need access will more than likely be 

accompanied by banksmen to assist with safety on the public highway.  

 

The Highway Authority have raised concern regarding the increase in number of bedrooms 

from the extant planning permission, in terms of servicing, however the quantum of 

households remains as 10no. therefore it is not considered reasonable to assume that there 

would be an increased risk of delay and obstruction from vehicles on the private access 

overspilling into the public highway causing a risk to passing members of the traveling public 

be it in a vehicle, on a bike, or on foot. A planning condition is recommended to secure the 

detailed design of the access including cross sections, dropped kerbs, the access radii, and 

visibility splay area of vehicles and pedestrians.  

 

In terms of key ancillary elements, Policy W1 of the Local Plan states that as a minimum, all 

developments should make provision for appropriate storage of waste. The applicant has 

confirmed that all the proposed residential units will have their waste collected by a private 

contractor. The Highway Authority have raised concerns regarding the drag distances by 

either the occupier or the contractor for Plots 5 and 10. However, further measurements have 

taken place, and it is confirmed that Plot 5 is within the requisite drag distance, and Plot 10 

is very marginally outside of such. The Highway Authority have stated that a communal bin 

area should be provided within the site, however given the drag distances this is not 

considered necessary. 

 

The Highway Authority have removed their objection, subject to the imposition of planning 

conditions which are recommended at the end of this report. Subject to the aforementioned 

planning conditions, the proposed development is considered to comply with Policies TA1, 

TA2, TA3 and W1 of the Local Plan and Policy PNP1(d) of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

5. Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees 

 

Paragraph 187 of the NPPF provides guidance in that planning decisions should contribute 

to and enhance the natural and local environment and includes guidance towards minimising 

impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. The Development Plan frames similar 

aspirations principally through Policy NC1 of the Local Plan, the latter in terms of impacts 

upon any existing protected species or habitats. Policy C4 of the Local Plan states that 

development proposals should seek to retain and protect existing hedgerows, trees and Page 37



 

 

natural landscape features wherever possible, particularly where they serve an important 

biodiversity role. 

 

Objectors have raised concerns regarding trees and wildlife. The application is supported by 

the Council’s Wildlife Trigger Table and an Ecological Impact Assessment.  

 

The supporting ecological information has been reviewed by Devon County Council’s 

Principal Ecologist. The site is approximately 200m from Lyme Bay and Torbay Special Area 

of Conservation (SAC). The proposal does not lead to a direct increase in an activity likely to 

impact upon the designated features of the SAC. It is therefore considered that this proposal 

will not result in a Likely Significant Effect on the SAC either alone or in-combination with 

other Plans and Projects. There is potential for an increase in waterborne pollutants to be 

produced and enter controlled water during the construction phase of development. To 

mitigate such, a planning condition is recommended to secure a Construction and 

Environmental Management Plan, subject to such there will be no adverse effect on the 

integrity of the SAC.  

 

The site offers features suitable for commuting and foraging bats, potential impacts of the 

development would be associated with lighting during both the construction and operational 

phases of development. Therefore, a planning condition is recommended to ensure that no 

external lighting is installed without the permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

Emergence surveys were undertaken which informs that the pool house is used as an 

occasional night roost by lesser horseshoe bats, with the proposed demolition of such, it will 

result in the bat roost being permanently destroyed. However, a compensatory night roost 

will be provided in advance of demolition of the pool house. Proposed mitigation includes an 

application for a European Protected Species Licence from Natural England as the consultant 

ecologist believed an offence cannot be avoided.  

 

As the proposal will trigger a Habitats Regulations offence (destruction/obstruction of roosts), 

the Local Planning Authority must consider whether the proposal meets the three derogation 

tests, and accordingly whether Natural England are likely to grant a European Protected 

Species Licence which would permit the proposal to lawfully proceed. The three derogation 

tests are outlined below:  

 

1. Imperative Reason Overriding Public Interest - The proposal would result in the provision 

of 10no. residential units, whereas the existing site contains 1no. residential unit. The 

proposal would deliver housing, make effective use of previously developed land. It would 

also deliver tangible economic benefits to the local building trade in the construction of the 

development and subsequent patronage of local services by future occupants. 

2. No Satisfactory Alternative - Given the application site benefits from an extant planning 

permission, whereby the demolition of the building which contains the roost has been agreed. 

It is considered that there is no satisfactory alternative.  

3. Maintenance of Favourable Conservation Status - The ecology report sets out mitigation 

measures which Devon County Council’s Ecologist has confirmed that they consider would 

satisfy this third test, subject to a planning condition imposed requiring adherence to the 

ecological report, including the delivery of the ecological enhancements. 

 

The application site includes some habitats in the wider area have the potential to support nesting Page 38



 

 

birds. A planning condition is recommended regarding vegetation clearance as well as ensuring 

mitigation and enhancement measures in line with the supporting ecological report. 

 

Policy NC1 of the Local Plan states all development which creates recreational pressure upon 

the Annex I habitats (European dry heath, semi-natural grasslands and scrubland facies on 

calcareous substrates) at the Berry Head to Sharkham Point Component of the South Hams 

SAC must pay a contribution towards mitigating the impact of increased visitor pressure. This 

mitigation has been costed at £135 per new dwelling. Providing that the proposed 

development provides a monetary contribution via s.106 legal agreement/unilateral 

undertaking equivalent to £135 per new unit, the resultant increases in recreational pressure 

can be mitigated and the development will not have an adverse effect upon the integrity of 

the European site. The HRA developed and agreed with Natural England for the Local Plan 

concluded that as long as new developments provide the contributions as described above 

to deliver the required mitigation measures, there will be no adverse effect upon the integrity 

of the European site as a result of increased recreational pressures impacting the Annex I 

habitats, and the conservation objectives would be sustained. 

 

The local financial contributions section of this report covers this contribution. 

 

In England Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) has been mandatory from 12 February 2024 under 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by the Environment Act 2021). This 

means that, subject to certain exemptions, development must deliver a 10% gain in 

biodiversity. The application is part-retrospective and Devon County Council’s Ecologist has 

confirmed that as such the proposal is exempt from delivering the mandatory 10% biodiversity 

net gain. The NPPF confirms that planning policies and decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural environment by providing net gains for biodiversity. A planning condition 

is recommended to ensure that the proposed development secures a net gain.  

 

Policy C4 of the Local Plan states that development will not be permitted when it would 

seriously harm, either directly or indirectly, protected trees or veteran trees, hedgerows, 

ancient woodlands or other natural features of significant landscape, historic or nature 

conservation value. Policy C4 goes on to state that development proposals should seek to 

retain and protect existing hedgerows, trees and natural landscape features wherever 

possible, particularly where they serve an important biodiversity role. 

 

SWISCo’s Senior Tree Officer has reviewed the soft landscape proposals, however due to 

the density of the proposed development there is not scope for meaningful structural tree 

planting. The Officer has confirmed that the proposed hedges required for plot subdivision 

and as boundary treatments are appropriate for the proposed context. A planning condition 

is recommended to secure the proposed soft landscape works. 

 

Subject to the aforementioned planning condition, the development is considered acceptable, 

in-line with the aspirations of Policy C4 of the Local Plan, and advice contained within the 

NPPF. 

 

6.  Flood Risk and Drainage 

 

Page 39



 

 

The NPPF provides guidance towards avoiding inappropriate development in areas of flood 

risk by directing development away from areas at higher risk (Paragraph 170), and when 

determining applications seeks that local planning authorities ensure that flood risk is not 

increased elsewhere (Paragraph 181). The Development Plan offers similar expectations for 

ensuring the risk of flooding is not increased, together with expectations that proposals should 

maintain or enhance the prevailing water flow regime on-site, including an allowance for 

climate change, through Policy ER1. Policy ER1 of the Local Plan also outlines a hierarchy 

for water-flow management within new development, with similar guidance is contained within 

the Environment Agency’s Critical Drainage Area Advice Note for Torbay. Policy PNP1(i) of 

the Neighbourhood Plan states that developments will be required to comply with all relevant 

drainage and flood risk policy. 

 

The application site sits within Flood Zone 1 and the wider Torbay Critical Drainage Area as 

designated by the Environment Agency. Objectors have raised concerns regarding 

drainage. The submission has been reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Engineer. The 

application has been supported by a flood risk assessment and a drainage strategy.  

 

The Engineer has confirmed that due to the site constraints and likely ground conditions, a 

controlled discharge off-site would be considered acceptable. Therefore, the proposed 

surface water drainage strategy is for all surface water run-off from the development to be 

drained at a controlled discharge rate to the combined sewer system. The hydraulic design 

confirms that the drainage system has been designed for the critical 1 in 100 year storm event 

plus 50% for climate change. A planning condition is recommended to secure surface water 

drainage. 

 

Subject to a planning condition to secure the surface water drainage for the proposed 

development, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy ER1 of the Local Plan and 

Policy PNP1(i) of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

7.  Low Carbon Development and Climate Change  

 

Paragraph 161 of the NPPF guides that the planning system should support the transition to 

net zero by 2050 and take full account of all climate impacts including overheating, water 

scarcity, storm and floor risks and coastal change. It should help: to shape places in ways 

that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and 

improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of 

existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 

infrastructure. 

 

Policy SS14 of the Local Plan supports national guidance and seeks major development to 

minimise carbon emissions and the use of natural resources, which includes the 

consideration of construction methods and materials. Policy ES1 of the Local Plan seeks that 

all major development proposals should make it clear how low-carbon design has been 

achieved, and that proposals should identify ways in which the development will maximise 

opportunities. Policy PNP1(f) of the Neighbourhood Plan states that new development should 

aim to achieve where appropriate and subject to viability measures towards a sustainable low 

carbon energy efficient economy. 

 Page 40



 

 

The applicant has submitted an Energy and Sustainability Statement and completed the 

Council’s Sustainability Checklist. The Council’s Principal Climate Emergency Officer has 

been consulted on the application and has confirmed that the submitted documents both 

broadly meet Policy SS14 and ES1 of the Local Plan and Policy PNP1(f) of the 

Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

The applicant is proposing a range measures/approaches that will result in an estimated 63% 

site-wide saving (over Building Regulations Part L 2021), and includes:  

 Fabric first approach  

 Installation of Air Source Heat Pumps (estimated to provide 53% of the site’s total energy 

demand) and Solar PV  

 EV charging points  

 Water saving measures  

 Overheating assessment to follow at the detailed design stage  

 

The Officer has recommended planning conditions should be employed to  accord with the 

energy and sustainability statement and incorporation of renewable energy measures. 

Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions, the proposal is considered to accord with 

Policies ES1 and SS14 of the Local Plan, and the guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 

8. Designing Out Crime 

 

Policy SS11 of the Local Plan seeks that development proposals should help to reduce and 

prevent crime and the fear of crime whilst designing out opportunities for crime, antisocial 

behaviour, disorder and community conflict. Policy PNP1(g) of the Neighbourhood Plan 

outlines that all developments will be expected to show how crime and the fear of crime have 

been taken into account.  

 

The application has been supported by a Crime Prevention Statement. The Police Designing 

Out Crime Officer was consulted and commented upon the application. The Officer has 

provided recommendations and concerns with some elements the proposal, including the 

access around Plots 1 and 6 in terms of unauthorised access and anti-social behaviour; locks 

on external doors; vegetation and species of hedging. 

 

A planning condition is recommended to secure up-to-date Secured by Design measures to 

assist in preventing crime and the fear of crime. Subject to the aforementioned planning 

condition, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy SS11 of the Local Plan and Policy 

PNP1(g) of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

Sustainability 

 

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. The NPPF definition of sustainability has three aspects which are economic, 

social and environmental. The application has been supported by a Sustainability Checklist. 

Each of which shall be discussed in turn: 

 

The Economic Role  

 Page 41



 

 

Housing development is recognised as an important driver of economic growth and there 

would be economic benefits to the construction industry from the proposed development.   

 

Once the residential units are occupied there would be an increase in the level of disposable 

income from the occupants some which would be likely to be spent in the local area and an 

increase in the demand for local goods and services. 

 

In respect of the economic element of sustainable development the balance is considered to 

be in favour of the development. 

 

The Social Role  

 

The principle social benefit of the proposed development would be the provision of additional 

housing. Given the NPPF priority to significantly boost the supply of housing the additional 

dwelling to be provided must carry significant weight in this balance. 

 

The provision of housing would provide an appropriate use and offer units within a sustainable 

location. On balance, the social impacts of the development weigh in favour of the 

development. 

 

The Environmental Role  

 

With respect to the environmental role of sustainable development the development is 

supported by drainage, landscaping, and ecological measures to mitigate impact, as detailed 

in this report. The proposed development would preserve the character and appearance of 

the Roundham & Paignton Harbour Conservation Area and would have a neutral impact on 

its significance as a designated heritage asset. On balance, the environmental impacts of the 

development weigh in favour of the development. 

 

Sustainability Conclusion 

 

Having regard to the above assessment the proposed development is considered to 

represent sustainable development. 

 

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 

 

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Act, 

and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act. This Act gives further 

effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 

recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development 

rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community 

interests, as expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central 

Government Guidance. 

 

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 

provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and Section 

149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different Page 42



 

 

people when carrying out their activities. Protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 

reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and 

sexual orientation. 

 

Local Finance Considerations  

 

Affordable Housing: 

The proposal falls below the threshold for affordable housing contributions as outlined in 

Policy H2 of the Local Plan which seeks affordable housing contributions on brownfield sites 

of 15 dwellings or more. 

 

CIL: 

The land is situated in Charging Zone 2 in the Council's CIL Charging Schedule; this means 

that all new floorspace will be charged at a rate of £70/sqm for 4+ dwellings.   

 

The estimated CIL liability is £103,860.99. This figure is indexed linked, and the final figure 

will be calculated on the day of the decision.  

 

An informative can be imposed, should consent be granted, to explain the 

applicant's/developer's/ landowner's obligations under the CIL Regulations. 

 

CIL is a “Local Finance Consideration” relevant to determining applications.  However, in the 

officer’s assessment, it is not a determining factor (either way) in the planning balance 

assessment below.  

 

S106: 

Site Acceptability Matters: Recreational impacts financial obligation to mitigate additional 

pressures upon the South Hams SAC in accordance with Policy SDB1 of the Local Plan and 

as identified as a necessary mitigation within the completed HRA/AA.  

 

£135 per new dwelling in the Brixham Peninsula towards management/reduction of impacts 

on the Berry Head grassland, in accordance with the Planning Contributions and Affordable 

Housing Supplementary Planning Document (December 2022).  For 10no. dwellings this 

would equate to an obligation of £1,215.00 (9 x £135, as there is 1no. existing residential 

unit). This has been previously secured through CN/2024/0059 which relates to P/2019/0893. 

However, the applicant has confirmed that if planning permission is granted for this current 

scheme, then P/2019/0893 will not be built out. 

 

Affordable Housing: Not applicable for this scale of development on a brownfield site. 

 

Sustainable Development Matters: N/A as CIL liable development.  

 

A unilateral undertaking is considered necessary to confirm that the monies previously paid 

will transfer onto this planning permission.  

 

EIA/HRA 

 

EIA: Page 43



 

 

Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on the 

environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development. The development does 

not meet the thresholds for screening and is not in a sensitive area. 

 

HRA: 

Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on the 

South Hams SAC or Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC and does not require a formal HRA. 

 

Planning Balance 

 

The planning assessment considers the policy and material considerations in detail. It is 

considered that the scheme in terms of addressing the Development Plan aspiration to 

provide housing would produce a significantly positive impact overall and help with the supply 

of much needed housing. 

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on local 

planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

The proposal is supported by policies in the Local Plan that seek to boost housing supply. As 

noted above, the Council has less than 5 years housing land supply and on this basis the 

Development Plan must be “deemed” to be out of date. At 1.72 years supply, the shortfall is 

serious and must be given significant weight in the planning balance. Out-of-date policies can 

still carry weight in the planning balance, but in practice attention shifts to other material 

considerations, especially the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development which is 

set out in Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF.  

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states:  

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

For decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 

delay; or  

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date [Footnote 8], granting permission 

unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance [Footnote 7] provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having 

particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making 

effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, 

individually or in combination [Footnote 9]. 

 

When taking account of the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 

homes and the role of the construction industry in supporting economic growth, along with 

the acknowledged important contribution that small sites can make to meeting the housing 

requirement of an area and the Council’s housing land supply situation, the cumulative public 

benefits of the proposed scheme attract moderate weight.  

 Page 44



 

 

Great weight should be given to the conservation of designated heritage assets. The Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that special attention shall be 

paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the 

Roundham & Paignton Harbour Conservation Area. However, as outlined in this report, it is 

considered that the proposed development would preserve the character and appearance of 

the Roundham & Paignton Harbour Conservation Area and would have a neutral impact on 

its significance as a designated heritage asset. 

 

The public benefits in the form of the economic and social benefits include the economic 

growth and associated economic benefits to the construction industry from the proposed 

development, the proposal would also result in additional disposable income from the 

occupants. The proposal would provide housing where there is a lack of 5 year housing land 

supply, and this would be located within a sustainable location. Other matters that weigh in 

favour include a landscaping and drainage scheme and the proposal promotes low carbon 

and energy efficiency measures in the building construction and promotion of electric vehicle 

charging points and bicycle storage.   

 

Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 

 

The relevant legislation requires that the application be determined in accordance with the 

statutory development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

In terms of material considerations, the provision of 10no. residential units, is a significant 

public benefit in favour of the development where national guidance seeks to significantly 

boost the supply of homes. The weight afforded housing supply is not insignificant where the 

most recent Housing Delivery Test (December 2023) for Torbay was published as 55% (i.e. 

between 2019-22 there were only 55% as many completions as the number of homes 

required), and Torbay’s most recent housing land supply (Appeal reference 

APP/X1165/W/24/3354507 – June 2025) is that there is 1.72 years, which is a significant 

shortfall. 

 

In terms of other matters that weigh in the developments favour there will be economic 

benefits through construction phase in terms of created jobs, and post construction in terms 

of local household spend within the local economy.  

 

In-line with the above conclusions and the assessment within this report, the proposals are 

considered to be in principle accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan and to 

demonstrate that an acceptable scheme could be accommodated on the site. The NPPF 

states that development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan should 

be approved without delay.  

 

Due to the level of accordance with the Development Plan and in the absence of material 

considerations that weigh sufficiently against the proposal, the Officer recommendation is one 

of approval, subject to suitable planning conditions and the unilateral undertaking to secure 

the recreational impact mitigation payment.  

 

Page 45



 

 

The proposed development is considered to represent sustainable development and is 

acceptable, having regard to the Torbay Local Plan, the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan, the 

NPPF, and all other material considerations. 

 

The NPPF guides that decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development and for decision making that means approving development proposals that 

accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay. For housing proposals within 

situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites, the NPPF guides to granting permission unless the application of 

policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a strong 

reason for refusing the development proposed or where any adverse impacts of doing so 

would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (10no. residential units), when 

assessed against the policies in the NPPF when taken as a whole, having particular regard 

to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land, 

securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in combination. 

Subject to the recommended planning conditions and the unilateral undertaking, the 

application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance do not 

provide a strong reason for refusing the development proposed and there are no adverse 

impacts of doing so that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 

assessed against the policies in the NPPF when taken as a whole, having particular regard 

to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land, 

securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in combination.  

 

Officer Recommendation 

 

Approval: subject to;  

 

1. The completion of a unilateral undertaking. 

2. The conditions outlined below, with the final drafting of conditions delegated to the 

Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency. 

3. The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following Planning 

Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate 

Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning conditions or 

obligations.  

 

Planning Conditions 

 

1. External Materials 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to their installation, technical details and/or 

samples of the proposed exterior materials including wall finishes, roofing materials, 

openings, eaves, fascias and rainwater goods shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

The development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved details, 

and shall be retained as such for the life of the development.  

 

Page 46



 

 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and SS10 

of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy PNP1(c) of the Adopted Paignton 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

2. Boundary Treatments 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the first occupation of the 

development hereby approved, a scheme of boundary treatment shall be fully installed in 

accordance with details which shall previously have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once provided, the approved boundary treatment 

shall be maintained and retained for the life of the development.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory completion of development in the interests of visual and 

residential amenity and to protect the privacy of future and neighbouring occupants in 

accordance with Policies DE1, SS10 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-

2030 and Policy PNP1(c) of the Adopted Paignton Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

3. Bicycle Storage 

 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the bicycle storage 

detailed on approved plan (ref: ‘167-PA-P32 (Bicycle Provision)’, received 3rd September 

2025) shall be installed and made available for use. Once provided, the agreed storage 

arrangements shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the development. 

 

Reason: To ensure adequate parking facilities are provided to serve the development in 

accordance with Policies TA2 and TA3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

4. Bin Storage 

 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the bin storage area 

detailed on approved plans (refs: ‘167-PA-P17 (Parking Level)’, received 2nd May 2025 

and ‘167-PA-P19 (Waste Storage - Plot 6)’, received 16th July 2025) shall be installed and 

made available for use. Once provided, the agreed storage arrangements shall be retained 

for the life of the development.  

 

Reason: In interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies W1 and DE1 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

5. Waste Management Plan 

 

Prior to the first occupation of the development a Waste Management Plan (WMP) for the 

building, setting out recycling and waste collections methods which follow the waste 

hierarchy to ensure locally established recycling targets at the that time are met, together 

with measures to review and respond to evolving targets, shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved WMP shall be 

implemented prior to the first occupation of the building and maintained at all times 

thereafter as a working document and strategy for the lifetime of the development. 

 Page 47



 

 

Reason: To ensure that the private waste collection strategy for the apartment building, 

which will not receive waste collection from the local authority due to the location within a 

building, accords with locally established recycling rates, to accord with Policies W1 and 

W2 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

6. Electric Vehicle Charging Points 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the occupation of the development 

hereby approved, a scheme for the insertion of 1no. electrical charging point per dwelling 

to be located within the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. Details shall include design, location, specification and a timescale for 

insertion prior to occupation. The agreed electrical charging point shall be thereafter 

maintained and retained for the lifetime of the development.  

 

Reason: To ensure the parking provision of the new residential units is in accordance with 

the requirements of Planning Policy TA1, TA3 and Appendix F of the Adopted Torbay Local 

Plan 2012-2030 

 

7. Parking Provision 

 

The residential units hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until the 

parking areas as detailed on approved plan (ref: ‘167-PA-P31 (Parking Provision)’, 

received 3rd September 2025), have been provided in full and are available for use. Once 

provided the parking spaces shall be retained as parking associated with the development 

for the lifetime of the development. 

 

Reason: In accordance with highway safety and amenity, and in accordance with Policy 

TA3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

8. Road Management and Maintenance Plan 

 

No properties shall be occupied unless the Local Planning Authority has approved a Road 

Maintenance Plan for that road including the arrangements for the implementation of a 

Private Road Management Scheme to secure the effective management and maintenance 

of the road and refuse collection and emergency vehicle access throughout the lifetime of 

the development.  

 

Where it is proposed that the estate roads shall be privately maintained, no properties shall 

be occupied unless a Private Road Management Scheme has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and which shall provide for: 

a) Setting up a company or other entity to be responsible for the on-going management 

and maintenance of the road, refuse collection, and public access for all units 

excluding Unit 6 that is served directly off the existing public highway (the 

"Management Body").  

b) How the company and the future management and maintenance of the road and 

refuse collection is to be financed including initial capital investment with 

subsequent funding.  

Page 48



 

 

c) The rights for and obligations on the Management Company to manage and 

maintain the road and collect refuse.  

d) Arrangements for the management and collection of refuse and waste from the 

dwellings.  

e) A road management and maintenance and refuse collection schedule.  

f) How refuse and waste will be managed on site including the location of individual 

refuse and waste collection facilities and the locations where refuse and waste is to 

be transferred off-site.  

g) Confirmation from the relevant waste collection company that they have agreed to 

collect the refuse and waste from the development in accordance with the approved 

details.  

h) The ongoing maintenance and management of any communal lighting illuminating 

any part of the access road and surface water drainage systems.  

i) An action plan which specifically covers road maintenance and management of 

access where potholes or subsidence arise.  

 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Road Maintenance 

Plan and the approved Private Road Access Scheme which shall thereafter be fully 

complied with and implemented.  

 

No dwelling shall be occupied unless it connects directly to a road (including a footway and 

carriageway) which is:  

a) Adopted, or subject to an agreement by the highway authority as a highway 

maintainable at the public expense; or  

b) Subject to a Private Road Management Scheme where the Management Body has 

been established and is responsible for the management and maintenance of the road 

and the collection of waste and refuse from the date of occupation of the dwelling.  

 

Any roads (including carriageways and footways) which do not form part of the highway 

maintainable at the public expense shall be permanently maintained to an adoptable 

standard and retained and made available for public use in perpetuity.  

 

Reason: To provide safe and sustainable access to the site for drivers, cyclists and 

pedestrians in accordance with Policies TA1, TA2 and DE1 of the Adopted Torbay Local 

Plan 2012-2030. 

 

9. Designing Out Crime  

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the first use of the development 

hereby approved, evidence shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority to demonstrate that the design of the development meets Secured by 

Design standards as far as practicable.  

 

Reason: In the interests of crime prevention in accordance with Policy DE1 and SS11 of 

the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy PNP1(g) of the Adopted Paignton 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

10. Vegetation Clearance Page 49



 

 

 

No vegetation clearance or demolition works shall take place during the bird nesting 

season (01 March to 31 August, inclusive) unless the developer has been advised by a 

suitably qualified ecologist that the works will not disturb nesting birds and a record of this 

kept.  

 

Reason: To ensure due protection is afforded wildlife, in accordance with Policy NC1 of 

the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and the advice contained within the National 

Planning Policy Framework. 

 

11. Ecology Report 

 

The development shall proceed, and shall be retained thereafter, in full accordance with 

the mitigation and enhancement measures contained within the approved Ecological 

Impact Assessment (ref: '2513-EcIA-SE (Bat & Bird Survey)’, received 2nd May 2025). 

 

1no. compensatory night roost will be provided in advance of the demolition of the existing 

pool house. 5no. integrated bird nest boxes, 5no. integrated bat boxes and 5no. bee/insect 

bricks shall be installed across the site prior to first occupation of the development hereby 

approved in accordance with approved plan ‘2513-EcIA-F2’ contained within the approved 

Ecological Impact Assessment (ref: '2513-EcIA-SE (Bat & Bird Survey)’, received 2nd May 

2025). The compensatory night roost, bird boxes, bat boxes and bee/insect bricks shall be 

retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the development proceeds in an appropriate manner, in 

accordance with Policy NC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

12. External Lighting 

 

No external lighting shall be installed at any time within the application site unless in 

accordance with details that shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the location, number, luminance, 

angle of illumination and type of each luminaire or light source and a lux diagram showing 

the light spill from the scheme. The lighting shall thereafter be installed, operated and 

maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To avoid harm to bats and wildlife in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Adopted 

Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

13. Surface Water Drainage 

 

The development shall proceed in full accordance with the approved drainage details and 

drainage strategy and shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the development 

hereby approved. The drainage system shall then be maintained at all times thereafter to 

serve the development.  

 

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and in 

order to accord with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, Page 50



 

 

Policy PNP1(i) of the Adopted Paignton Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030, and the guidance 

contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

14. Energy and Sustainability 

 

The development hereby approved shall incorporate the energy efficiency measures, 

renewable energy, sustainable design principles, water conservation and climate change 

adaptation measures into the design and construction of the development in full 

accordance with the approved Energy and Sustainability Statement (ref: ‘P2025-0253-3 

(Energy Sustainability)’, received 2nd May 2025). Such measures shall be incorporated 

and/or installed prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved. 

 

A site-wide saving of a 63% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions in line with the energy 

hierarchy shall also be achieved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  

 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of the solar panels 

and Air Source Heat Pump systems shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the 

Local Planning Authority. Details shall include exact location, technical specification and 

projected annual energy yield (kWh/year) e.g. a copy of the MCS installer’s certificate. A 

calculation showing that the projected annual yield of the installed system is sufficient to 

meet at least 20% of the site’s total energy demand.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development incorporates measures to minimise the effects of and 

can adapt to a changing climate and to meet Policy SS14 and ES1 of the Adopted Torbay 

Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy PNP1(f) of the Adopted Paignton Neighbourhood Plan 

2012-2030.  

 

15. Construction Method Statement 

 

The development shall proceed in full accordance with the approved Construction Method 

Statement (ref: ‘XX’, received XX XX 2025). The ‘Ecological Considerations’ contained 

within the approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to and implemented 

throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To safeguard the Local Planning Authority's rights of control over these details to 

ensure that the construction and demolition works are carried out in an appropriate manner 

to minimise the impact on the amenity of neighbouring uses, in the interests of highway 

safety, and to prevent ecological harm, in accordance with Policies NC1, TA1, TA2 and 

DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

16. Construction Traffic Management Plan 

 

The development shall proceed in full accordance with the submitted and approved 

Construction Traffic Management Plan (ref: ‘XX’, received XX XX 2025). 

 

Page 51



 

 

Reason: To safeguard the Local Planning Authority's rights of control over these details to 

ensure that the construction and demolition works are carried out in an appropriate manner 

to minimise the impact on the amenity of neighbouring uses and in the interests of highway 

safety in accordance with Policies TA1, TA2 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 

2012-2030.  

 

17. Soft Landscaping  

 

All soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The 

works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in 

accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Any 

trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, within a period of five years from 

the date of the development being completed, die, are removed or become seriously 

damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of a 

similar size and the same species.  

 

Reason: In interests of visual and residential amenity and in accordance with Policies C4, 

DE1 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

18. Hard Landscaping 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to the first occupation of the development 

hereby approved, a scheme of hard landscaping shall be fully installed in accordance with 

details which shall previously have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The hard landscaping scheme shall include the following details: 

a) Surfacing materials, including access roadways, drives, parking, turning, patios and 

paths, 

b) Drainage details for any impermeable surfaces, and 

c) A detailed programme of implementation. 

 

Once provided, the approved boundary treatment shall be maintained and retained for the 

life of the development.  

 

Reason: In interests of visual and residential amenity and in accordance with Policies C4, 

DE1 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

19. External Amenity Spaces 

 

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until the 

outdoor amenity spaces, including balconies, detailed on the approved plan (ref: ‘167-PA-

P33 (Amenity Spaces)’, received 3rd September 2025) have been provided in full. The 

outdoor amenity spaces and balconies shall thereafter be maintained and retained for the 

use of the development's occupiers for the life of the development. 

  

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with Policy DE3 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 
Page 52



 

 

20. Removal of Permitted Development Rights Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A 

 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) 2015, Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A, no other means of enclosures 

shall be erected within the external areas of this development, unless permission under 

the provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 has first been sought and 

obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: In interests of visual and local amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and 

DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy PNP1(c) of the Adopted 

Paignton Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

21. Obscure Glazing – Plot 6 

 

Prior to the first occupation of the Plot 6 hereby approved, the first floor open living space 

and second floor en-suite windows in the eastern flank elevation of the development shall 

be fitted with obscure glazing to Pilkington level 4, or an equivalent standard. These 

windows shall be fixed shut unless opening parts are located higher than 1.7m above 

finished floor level or they are fitted with a 100mm opening restrictor. The windows shall 

thereafter be permanently retained in that condition for the lifetime of the development. 

 

Reason: In the interests of privacy of the neighbouring properties, in accordance with 

Policy DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

22. Privacy Screens – Plot 6 

 

Prior to the approved balconies being brought into use on Plot 6, 1.8m high obscure glazed 

privacy screens (to a minimum of Pilkington Level 4 or similar standard) shall be erected 

on Plot 6’s balconies eastern sides, and shall be maintained and retained as such for the 

lifetime of the development. The height of the privacy screens is measured from the 

finished floor level of the balcony. 

 

Reason: In the interests of privacy of the neighbouring properties, in accordance with 

Policy DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

23. Contamination 

 

In the event that contamination which was not previously identified is found at any time 

when carrying out the approved development, it shall be reported in writing immediately to 

the Local Planning Authority and further development works shall cease unless alternative 

arrangements have been first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. An 

investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken and where remediation is 

necessary, a revised remediation scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. The revised scheme shall thereafter be implemented as 

approved. The requirements of this condition shall also apply if other circumstances arise 

during the development, which require a reconsideration of the approved remediation 

scheme. 

 Page 53



 

 

Reason: For the protection of controlled waters from contaminated discovered during 

demolition or construction and in the interests of public health and the natural environment 

in accordance with Policy ER3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, and guidance 

contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Informative(s) 

 

Positive and Proactive  

 

In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order, 2015, in determining this 

application, Torbay Council has worked positively with the applicant to ensure that all relevant 

planning concerns have been appropriately resolved. The Council has concluded that this 

application is acceptable for planning approval. 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

 

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is that 

planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to have been 

granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that development may not begin 

unless:  

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and  

(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.   

There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 

biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity Gain 

Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 

(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024.  

 

Based on the information provided to determine the application this permission is considered 

to be one which will not require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is 

begun because one or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements is/are 

considered to apply. 

 

Surface Water Highway 

 

Under Section 163 of the Highways Act 1980 it is illegal to discharge water onto the highway.  

 

Relevant Policies 

 

Development Plan Relevant Policies 

 

C4 - Trees, Hedgerows and Natural Landscape Features 

DE1 - Design 

DE3 - Development Amenity 

ER1 - Flood Risk 

ES1 - Energy  

H1 - Applications for New Homes 

NC1 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity Page 54



 

 

SS1 - Growth Strategy for a Prosperous Torbay 

SS3 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

SS10 - Conservation and the Historic Environment  

SS11 - Sustainable Communities  

SS12 - Housing 

SS13 - Five Year Housing Land Supply 

SS14 - Low Carbon Development and Adaption to Climate Change 

TA1 - Transport and Accessibility 

TA2 - Development Access 

TA3 - Parking Requirements 

W1 - Waste Hierarchy 

 

PNP1(c) - Design Principles 

PNP1(d) - Residential Development 

PNP1(f) - Towards a Sustainable Low Carbon Energy Efficient Economy 

PNP1(g) - Designing Out Crime 

PNP1(i) - Surface Water 

  

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Application Site Address Pannier Market 

Union Square 

Market Street 

Torquay 

Proposal Demolition and associated works to adjoining 

structures to south and west elevations of Pannier 

Market including removal of internal fixtures. 

Formation of arched openings and new emergency 

escape doors to south and west elevations. 

Application Number  P/2025/0164 

Applicant Willmott Dixon Construction Ltd 

Agent Turley 

Date Application Valid 09/04/2025 

Decision Due date 04/06/2025 

Extension of Time Date  

Recommendation  Approval subject to:  

1. The planning conditions outlined below, with the 

final drafting of planning conditions delegated to the 

Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and 

Climate Emergency.  

2. Receiving a consultation response from Natural 

England to confirm no objection to the Council’s 

Appropriate Assessment. 

3. The resolution of any new material considerations 

that may come to light following Planning 

Committee to be delegated to the Divisional 

Director of Planning, Housing and Climate 

Emergency, including the addition of any 

necessary further planning conditions or 

obligations. 

Reason for Referral to 

Planning Committee 

Listed Building Consent that accompanies 

P/2025/0173 which is a major planning application.  

Planning Case Officer Emily Elliott  

 

 

 

  

Page 57

Agenda Item 6

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


 

 

Location Plan 

 

 

Site Details 

 

The Pannier Market (also known as ‘Torquay Market’) was built in 1852 and was altered in 

1865 to incorporate shops. Further alterations took place in 1909. 

 

The building is designated with a Grade II Listed status. This site is also located: 

 Within Torquay Town Centre 

 Within Torquay Town Centre Community Investment Area 

 Within 15 metres of Upton Conservation Area 

 Adjacent to The Old Sessions House (Grade II listed building) 

 Within Flood Zone 1, Critical Drainage Area, and an area susceptible to surface water 

flooding 

 

Historic England’s Listing Entry (List Entry Number: 1206800) notes: 

 

“Pannier market. 1852 to the designs of John Tapley Harvey; contractor Richard Gosling, for 

a private company. Front altered in 1865 to incorporate shops. Alterations of 1909. Local grey 

limestone rubble (now painted) on a rock-faced plinth. Classical style. PLAN: 12-bay market 

hall, divided axially by a central arcade of cast-iron columns. Entrance from Market Street 

into long side, further entrance at north from Albert Road. EXTERIOR: Symmetrical 13-bay 

front to Market Street with a central entrance, the outer 3 bays at each end slightly set back. 

Bays divided by Doric pilasters, rising from plinth and paired on either side of the main Page 58



 

 

doorway and every 3 bays. Round-headed doorway with vermiculated rustication and a 

pedimented gable; pair of fine cast-iron gates with spear-head finials and a band of roundels. 

Bays contain segmental-headed openings with rusticated architraves, keystones and lunettes 

with radial glazing bars to the heads. The right return (Albert Road) has 2 pedimented gables 

with paired Doric pilasters to left and right and 4 pilasters with moulded capitals and an 

entablature in the centre. Segmental-headed doorway to right-hand bay, similar doorway 

converted to window to left bay. Road sign, blue tiles with white lettering, fixed to wall: reads 

TORQUAY ALBERT ROAD. INTERIOR: Cast-iron columns have pierced spandrels. King-

post roof truss have princess posts with struts. Struts to posts iron, connected to timber rafters 

with shoes. (Buildings of England: Pevsner N: Devon: London: 1952-1989: P.854).” 

 

Description of Development 

 

This application for Listed Building Consent proposes the demolition and associated works 

to adjoining structures to the south and west elevations of the Pannier Market including the 

removal of internal fixtures. The proposal includes the formation of arched openings and new 

emergency escape doors to south and west elevations of the Pannier Market. 

 

Relevant Planning Policy Context  

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on local 

planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. The following development plan policies and 

material considerations are relevant to this application: 

 

Development Plan 

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan"); and 

- The Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 (“The Neighbourhood Plan”) 

 

Material Considerations 

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); 

- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG); 

- Published Standing Advice;   

-  Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990; and  

-  Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the following advice 

and representations, planning history, and other matters referred to in this report. 

 

Relevant Planning History  

 

 P/2025/0173: Partial demolition of existing shopping centre, demolition of 9 no. 

commercial units fronting on Union Street and Market Street and partial demolition of 

modern additions to Pannier Market. Redevelopment of site to provide residential 

development with associated amenity space, creation of new Class E commercial unit, 

repurposing of retained shopping centre floorspace sited below multistorey car park for 

Class E uses and associated external alterations, external works to Pannier Market, 

creation of public square and associated development infrastructure. Pending 

consideration. 

Page 59



 

 

 P/2006/0164: Internal Alterations To Form New Mezzanine Level And Shop Units. 

Approved 08/03/2006. 

 P/2003/0073: Alterations To Shop Front And Formation Of Ramp For Disabled Persons. 

Approved 24/02/2003. 

 

Summary of Representations  

 

1no. letter of representation, 4no. letters of support and 13no. letters of objection have been 

received. It should be noted that the 13no. letters of objection are from the Torbay Heritage 

Trust. 

 

Note: Full responses are available to view on the public access system 

(https://publicaccess.torbay.gov.uk/view/). 

 

Comments in support include: 

- Impact on local area 

- It provides facilities 

- It removes an eyesore 

- It’s shown in the Local Plan 

- Provides/retains jobs 

- Makes highways matters better 

- It provides houses 

- Residential amenity 

- Sets precedent  

- Makes tourist facilities better 

 

Concerns include: 

- Impact on adjacent conservation areas 

- Design/visual impact 

- Impact on heritage assets 

 

Summary of Consultation Responses 

 

Historic England (updated response received 14th July 2025): 

Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In this case we 

are not offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment on the merits of the 

application. 

 

We strongly recommend that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and 

archaeological advisers. 

 

Historic England (original response received 1st May 2025): 

Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In this case we 

are not offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment on the merits of the 

application. 

 

We strongly recommend that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and 

archaeological advisers. Page 60

https://publicaccess.torbay.gov.uk/view/


 

 

 

Historic Buildings and Places (response received 8th May 2025): 

HB&P have no objections to the principle of the alterations to the Pannier Market and the 

separation of the building from the development to the rear will enable the building to once 

again be appreciated as a single structure, as it was originally constructed. We are content 

to defer to the advice of your conservation team to secure the necessary details and 

materials.  

 

While HB&P acknowledge the benefit to the setting of Pannier Market by the demolition of 

the rear buildings and the creation of the new town square, the proposed development facing 

Union Street lacks architectural ambition and undermines that objective. Despite the 

discussion in the design statement on pages 36 to 41 about the design evolution and taking 

cues from fenestration patterns, etc, the end design looks not dissimilar to many a standard 

student housing scheme across the country. It is out of scale with the surrounding 

development – which is a transition area between the conservation areas – and has little 

relationship to the surrounding built form or local character, which affects the established 

streetscape and setting around the market. This is a clear case where Chapter 12 of the 

NPPF should be applied and the applicant asked to ensure the design reflects paragraph 

135, which states (with our underlined emphasis):  

 

135. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  

(a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 

over the lifetime of the development;  

(b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 

landscaping;  

(c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment 

and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change 

(such as increased densities);  

(d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, 

building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, 

work and visit;  

(e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 

mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local facilities and 

transport networks; and  

(f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-

being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users 51 ; and where crime and 

disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 

and resilience.  

 

The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to 

what the planning and development process should achieve. There is a real opportunity to 

improve this part of Torquay and re-establish the role of Pannier Market as a key local 

destination and a more appropriate and considered architectural solution is needed to ensure 

this development results in a genuine long-term benefit and wider regeneration of Torquay. 

 

Torbay Council’s Conservation and Urban Design Officer (updated response received 

14th August 2025): 

Page 61



 

 

This response must be read in conjunction to the response previously provided and 

interpreted as an update as additional information and revised plans have been provided by 

the applicant. 

 

The submission of further details has addressed the previous lack of clear and convincing 

justification where harmful works would be carried out and has provided a sounder evidence 

base, having also provided reasoned analysis of other buildings within this typology. 

 

Whilst indicative details have been provided regarding the proposed formation openings, this 

appears in the most part to relate solely to the West (rear) elevation. It is not currently clear 

if this is also the intended approach for the larger openings to be formed within the South 

elevation, as due to their scale these would likely require additional structural work and an 

alternative approach. The indicative detail is considered to lack the required quality and 

requires refinement, given the level of designation of the building. This could be resolved by 

the imposition of conditions. 

 

Further discussions have been held regarding the proposed painting of the building to resolve 

initial concerns, and the proposed approach is acceptable, and would present a more neutral 

and traditional appearance when compared to the existing hues of blue 

 

Conclusions: 

The previous discrepancies in the plans have been addressed and further information has 

been provided to establish the impacts of the proposal as required previously. 

 

The assumption of the worst-case scenario, in that no openings currently exist in the 

elevations to be altered remains the only appropriate starting position in light of not having 

undertaken the investigative works required to fully understand the implications of the 

proposed works. A more detailed understanding of the building and its typology has been 

provided in recognition of the “worst-case-scenario” approach which remains. 

 

The removal of the existing later extensions is likely to better reveal the building’s significance 

resulting in significant enhancements. However, it is also likely to unearth a host of design 

challenges, as the building appears not to be fully understood at this stage. This may impact 

the ability to implement future aspirational proposals which are likely to be beneficial to the 

wider scheme. The proposed openings in both the South and West elevations would 

represent a considerable loss of historic fabric dating from the building’s original construction. 

The resulting harm would be caused to its architectural, historic values and evidential values 

and its significance. The level of harm has been minor reduced by the provision of justification 

and clarification 

I consider the proposed works would result in less than substantial harm, to a minor to 

moderate degree. This level of harm must be weighed against the public benefits of the 

proposal. 

 

It remains vital to ensure that the phasing of the wider scheme is carefully considered to 

ensure that the justification put forward by the applicant for the harmful works can truly be 

realised. The justification of better integrating the building with the proposed public space has 

limited relevance at this stage and is more appropriate to be considered as part of the 

planning application made concurrently. Page 62



 

 

 

This conclusion has been reached with special regard/attention to the desirability of 

preserving and/or enhancing heritage assets or their setting in accordance with the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

 

I note the determination of this application is likely to be a finely balanced decision and without 

prejudice to the above comments, I would recommend that if you are minded to grant consent 

then the following conditions are necessary. 

 

Recommended conditions: 

- Schedule of works (inc. repairs) and timetable for removal and works of reinstatement. 

This should include investigative works, repair and re-instatement of internal features 

where relevant. 

- Demolition Method Statement  

- Expert supervision 

- Hidden historic features. 

- Stone/masonry cleaning. 

- Building recording. 

- Matching details. 

- New services 

- Removal of redundant infrastructure/services. 

- Submission of details following demolition. 

- New openings. 

- Joinery details 

- Fire escapes 

- Phasing. 

 

Torbay Council’s Conservation and Urban Design Officer (response received 9th May 

2025): 

Impacts on the Pannier Market 

External:  

SOUTH.  

- Removal of attached buildings is welcomed. Further details relating to the methods to be 

used are recommended to be secured. The inclusion of two new large round headed 

openings within the newly revealed South Gable, re-orientating the building, will 

significantly impact its historic and architectural values. There is also an evident lack of 

detail of how these openings will be formed and detailed. Whilst the removal of the existing 

attached structures and extensions would result in enhancements, the new openings in 

the South gable would result in harm to a moderate degree.  

- Elevation to be painted white above the plinth. Similarly applied to all other elevations. No 

current refence or understanding of original colour(s) if they existed at all. A change from 

blue is welcomed but painting over the rubble stone inset pieces is not ideal. Recommend 

that the stonework should have its existing painted finish removed and the necessary 

repairs to pointing carried out where necessary. It may be appropriate for the pilasters 

and other details to receive paint as accents if there is evidence. Exposed render is the 

likely historic situation. Where existing, exposed stonework should be revealed rather than 

painted.  

 Page 63



 

 

 WEST.  

- New alterations to the West elevation lack detail with regards to the formation. These are 

significant invasive alterations considering the size and location of existing openings and 

the alternative locations/ aperture sizes proposed. Again, a lack of joinery details. Whilst 

the removal of the existing attached structures and extensions would result in 

enhancements, the new openings in this elevation would result in harm to a moderate 

degree.  

- The proposed interventions would not be limited to those absolutely necessary, with a 

new access door provided in isolation. Whilst the removal of the extensions to this 

elevation are welcomed, further details are required to adequately assess if the proposed 

works in their entirety would be acceptable.  

- Recommend reconsideration of the fenestration to remove avoidable interventions. 

Joinery details to be secured upfront or by suitably worded and phased condition.  

 

 EAST.  

- Whilst the existing shopfront are not an original feature, they do provide evidence of the 

evolution of the building. The proposal indicates opportunities to enhance the special 

interest of the building. However, no details are provided to substantiate this, and these 

are understood to potentially be included at a later stage in a subsequent application for 

listed building consent. No weight can therefore be given to these elements within this 

current application until such a point such details are provided.  

 

 NORTH.  

- From reviewing the submitted documents, it is understood that an existing opening is to 

be infilled with blockwork. No further details have been provided at this stage. No 

assessment has been provided within the submitted heritage statement on this element. 

Further information and justification are required if this is to be included as this would 

clearly be harmful.  

 

 ROOF.  

- It is currently unclear if the proposal involves the replacement of the roof. The removal of 

the internal suspended ceiling would reveal the roof structure allowing it to be appreciated 

which can be seen as a measurable enhancement. The existing roof covering is not 

original nor is it of historic value. The underside of the existing corrugated covering has 

been sprayed with a foam covering which would be exposed when the suspended ceiling 

is removed.  

- Whilst removing the internal suspended ceiling and revealing the roof structure would lead 

to some enhancements, further clarification is required regarding the roof and any 

associated works. Recommend the roof covering is replaced at this stage to address this.  

 

Internal: 

- The proposed internal alterations are generally positive, removing many poor-quality 

modern elements. As above, the removal of the suspended ceiling will reveal the 

underside of the existing roof covering which, upon inspection, is covered in spray applied 

foam. There is currently significant lack of detail regarding how this is to be handled. 

Recommend the replacement of the roof covering is reviewed and considered as part of 

this initial stage to address this.  

Page 64



 

 

- It is not currently evident why the mezzanine would not be removed in its entirety if the 

ambition is to remove the modern internal additions. Further clarification and justification 

are required to understand this choice.  

- New FE stairs. Shown in the D&AS and HS but not on the proposed plans. Consistency 

across all the plans in essential and this must be addressed immediately. Their locations 

and the implications of these creating additional clear that the resulting harm has been 

reduced to a minimum.  

 

Conclusions:  

The application appears to be prematurely submitted and requires revisions and further 

information to fully understand the implications of the proposal. There are also discrepancies 

in the submitted plans and information, and these must be resolved as a matter of urgency.  

 

The application description is distinctly different to the quantity of works shown on the 

submitted drawings. Whilst it is useful to understand the “aspirational” elements of this 

building, this will be considered separately in subsequent applications for listed building 

consent. It is therefore not appropriate for these future works to be so heavily relied upon in 

the overall assessment of the impacts of this specific listed building consent application. For 

clarity, the available documents should be reduced to those which are relevant in the 

determination of the works which require listed building consent, and they must also be 

consistent with those submitted as part of the planning application. There appears to be 

discrepancies between the two, particularly regarding the shopfronts.  

 

The assumption of the worst-case scenario, in that no openings currently exist in the 

elevations to be altered is the only appropriate starting position in light of not having 

undertaken the investigative works required to fully understand the implications of the 

proposed works. Whilst it may be the only possible starting position in light of the absence of 

information in terms of an assessment, it does not negate the requirement for further 

information to be submitted. A more detailed understanding of the building and its typology is 

required if this approach is to be taken.  

 

The removal of the existing later extensions is likely to better reveal the building’s significance 

resulting in significant enhancements. However, it is also likely to unearth a host of design 

challenges, as the building appears not to be fully understood at this stage. This may impact 

the ability to implement future aspirational proposals which are likely to be beneficial to the 

wider scheme. The proposed openings in both the South and West elevations would 

represent a considerable loss of historic fabric dating from the building’s original construction. 

The resulting harm would be caused to its architectural, historic values and evidential values 

and its significance.  

 

The submitted assessment does not quantify the resulting harm or enhancements that in their 

view the proposal would deliver, it is stated simply that “the harmful impacts are balanced by 

the benefits” and that the proposal sustains the significance of the Market. An exact balance 

is unlikely.  

 

I consider the proposed works would result in less than substantial harm to a moderate 

degree. This level of harm does not appear to have been reduced to a minimum, consistent 

with achieving the objective.  Page 65



 

 

 

Currently there is lack of clear and convincing justification in the form of detailed evidence 

base and understanding of the building given the extent/scale of the proposed demolition and 

the interventions proposed. Further to this, there is a clear absence of relevant details and 

understanding of the building from a structural point of view. Given the invasive nature of the 

works involved further details are necessary. A more thorough heritage statement is required 

that focusses on the Pannier Market and the LBC works contained within this application 

rather than one that seeks to satisfy the details of the concurrent planning application. At the 

very least a desk-based study and analysis of other pannier markets located in Devon is 

required to inform this proposal. Without a more detailed evidence base the proposed 

justification is inadequate.  

 

It is vital to ensure that the phasing of the wider scheme is carefully considered to ensure that 

the justification put forward by the applicant for the harmful works can truly be realised. As 

without this, the harmful works, assuming further evidence is provided, lack any real tangible 

justification. The justification of better integrating the building with the proposed public space 

has limited relevance at this stage and is more appropriate to be considered as part of the 

planning application made concurrently.  

 

In its current form, whilst the proposal would deliver some heritage benefits, however, the 

harmful works have not been clearly and convincingly justified as required by para 213 of the 

NPPF.  

 

I recommend that the application is not determined until further information has been provided 

as above to provide the justification necessary and to resolve the concerns raised above. 

Conditions to be discussed following the receipt of additional information.  

 

This conclusion has been reached with special regard/attention to the desirability of 

preserving and/or enhancing heritage assets or their setting in accordance with the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

Planning Officer Assessment 

 

Key Issues/Material Considerations 

 

Impact on Heritage and Design 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that 'good design is a key aspect of 

sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 

development acceptable to communities'. In addition, it states that 'permission should be 

refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for 

improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions'. Policy DE1 Design 

of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed against a range of criteria relating to 

their function, visual appeal, and quality of public space. Policy SS10 states that proposals 

will be assessed, amongst other things, in terms of the impact on listed and historic buildings, 

and their settings, and in terms of the need to conserve and enhance the distinctive character 

and appearance of Torbay's conservation areas. Policy HE1 states that development 

proposals should have special regard to the desirability of preserving any listed building and Page 66



 

 

its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

Policy TH8 of the Neighbourhood Plan requires that developments be of good quality design, 

respect the local character in terms of height, scale and bulk, and reflect the identity of its 

surroundings. Policy TH10 of the Neighbourhood Plan outlines that alterations to listed 

buildings will be supported where they safeguard and enhance their historic qualities and 

elements according to their significance. In doing so, proposals which at the same time 

contribute to providing a sustainable economic future for such buildings will be particularly 

supported. 

 

Significance: 

The submitted heritage statement is considered to appropriately assess the heritage 

significance of the Pannier Market, its setting and its contribution to other designated heritage 

assets in its context. 

 

The significance of the Pannier Market is mainly comprised of its historic, evidential and 

architectural values. Overall, the building is considered to be of medium significance. 

 

The proposal has been through a pre-application enquiry and Torbay Design Review Panel, 

the proposal responds to the advice provided at each stage. The works which require 

planning permission form part of a larger regeneration proposal for the redevelopment of the 

wider Union Square Shopping Centre site (ref: P/2025/0173). 

 

The proposal has been supported by further details to address the previous lack of clear and 

convincing justification where harmful works would be carried out, the applicant has also 

provided aa sounder evidence base and reasoned analysis of other buildings within the same 

typology. The overarching aim of this proposal is the retention and sustainable re-use of the 

Pannier Market which is a key element of the wider regeneration scheme which is for the 

redevelopment of the Union Square Shopping Centre to provide residential development with 

associated amenity space, creation of a new Class E commercial unit, repurposing of retained 

shopping centre floorspace sited below multistorey car park for Class E uses and the creation 

of public square, associated development infrastructure and associated works. 

 

The supporting Heritage Impact Assessment Addendum provides a list of proposed external 

and internal works to the Pannier Market that would assist in the wider regeneration project 

that is the redevelopment of the Union Square Shopping Centre. In terms of items currently 

forming part of this application requiring listed building consent, these can be considered to 

be: 

 

The proposed external works would include: 

 Demolition of attached structures to the Pannier Market. 

 All elevations which have existing painted areas of stonework are to be re-painted in white. 

No areas of stonework that are currently unpainted will be painted or otherwise treated. 

 On the southern elevation there will be the creation of 2no. arched openings placed 

centrally in either gable and 2no. single, fire escape door openings. 

 On the west elevation the existing ground floor openings will be infilled and the creation 

of 5no. arched window openings and 1no. single fire escape door opening. 

 No proposed changes to the North and East Elevations. 

Page 67



 

 

 On the south and west elevations there will be a programme of repairs, to make good any 

areas revealed by the removal of the later adjoining buildings.  

 On the west elevation, in relation to the ground floor, large sections of historic fabric have 

previously been removed so works to this elevation will also include some re-building to 

make good those areas.  

 

The proposed internal works would include: 

 Ground floor - Removal of modern retail units (including stud partitions), ceilings, doors 

and unit frontages, as well as a modern staircase and glazed lift enclosure on the southern 

elevation. 

 First floor – Removal of partitions to modern units along the west side of the building, and 

modern partitions to the east side of the building. Removal of the modern suspended 

ceiling.  

 No works to the roof are proposed at present. It is understood that the underside of the 

roof covering, which is a modern replacement, is covered with insulating foam. 

 The existing mezzanine structure is being retained at this stage. 

 Installation of 2no. new fire escape staircases and a lift. 

 

Regarding matters requiring planning permission, these matters will be assessed as part of 

the accompanying planning application (P/2025/0173). 

 

External Works: 

 Demolition of attached structures to the Pannier Market. The building has been extended 

and extensively altered over time. This is particularly relevant for the south and the west 

elevations, which are currently obscured by later, modern structures, of no heritage 

significance, which means their current condition is unclear. To ensure a robust 

assessment of the potential impacts on the significance of this asset, the assessment 

assumes that there are no historic or modern openings within the west elevation and none 

to the north elevation above the first floor level. Such represents a ‘worst case’ scenario, 

whereby the result of the assessments following the demolition are likely to mean a 

reduction in potential impacts on the listed building’s significance. Planning conditions will 

be employed to secure an appropriate method statement. 

 All elevations which have existing painted areas of stonework are to be re-painted in white. 

No areas of stonework that are currently unpainted will be painted or otherwise treated. 

Elevations are to be painted white above the plinth. The current blue paint is not original. 

A planning condition will be employed to ensure careful removal of the existing painted 

finish and pointing and repairs where necessary. A planning condition will also be 

employed to secure the colour and extent of the paintwork. Further evidence is required 

of the likely historic finish of the building. 

 On the southern elevation there will be the creation of 2no. arched openings placed 

centrally in either gable and 2no. single fire escape door openings. The supporting 

Heritage Impact Assessment outlines that there is no evidence of historic openings in this 

elevation and therefore the proposed works would result in harm to a moderate degree of 

harm. A planning condition will be employed to secure joinery details and a phasing plan. 

 On the west elevation the existing ground floor openings will be infilled and there will be 

the creation of 5no. arched window openings and 1no. single fire escape door opening. 

Page 68



 

 

The proposed new openings would result in harm to a moderate degree of harm. A 

planning condition will be employed to secure joinery details and a phasing plan. 

 On the south and west elevations there will be a programme of repairs, to make good any 

areas revealed by the removal of the later adjoining buildings, such will be secured 

through a suitably worded planning condition. 

 On the west elevation, in relation to the ground floor, large sections of historic fabric have 

previously been removed so works to this elevation will also include some re-building to 

make good those areas. A planning condition will be employed for the making good works. 

 

Internal Works: 

 Ground floor – The removal of the modern retail units (including stud partitions), ceilings, 

doors and unit frontages, as well as a modern staircase and glazed lift enclosure on the 

southern elevation are considered to be generally positive as it will remove many poor-

quality elements. 

 First floor – Removal of partitions to modern units along the west side of the building, and 

modern partitions to the east side of the building are considered to be generally positive 

as it will remove many poor-quality elements. The proposal includes the removal of the 

modern suspended ceiling. The removal of the suspended ceiling, which was added 

during a phase of refurbishment in 2006, does not contribute to the significance of the 

listed building. The aspects of the Pannier Market that contribute to its special architectural 

and historic interest internally include its flagstone floor, its cast-iron columns with pierced 

spandrels, and its roof structure which are to be retained. At present, the market’s roof 

structure is not visible to visitors to the market due to the suspended ceiling, which has 

eroded the appreciation of its original spatial qualities and created an appearance that 

detracts from the listed building’s significance. The removal of the suspended ceiling, 

while revealing the poor quality of the treatment of the underside of the roof covering, will, 

together with the removal of other modern internal fittings, allow for a better appreciation 

of the historic spatial qualities of the building and its function as a Pannier Market. 

 No works to the roof are proposed at present. The Council’s Conservation and Urban 

Design Officer undertook a site visit and noted that the removal of the suspended ceiling 

will reveal the underside of the existing roof covering which, upon inspection, is covered 

in spray applied foam. The removal of the modern suspended ceiling will expose the 

underside of the roof to view but this work is needed to enable more detailed inspections 

of the roof structure to be undertaken to inform the detailed design of future works. 

 The existing mezzanine structure is being retained at this stage. 

 Installation of 2no. new fire escape staircases and a lift. The existing escape strategy from 

the vacant first-floor café space has a route that runs through an internal stair, which exits 

onto Market Street, via the adjoining ground-floor door. Retaining this existing strategy 

would necessitate a visually intrusive stair enclosure behind the new windows, 

undermining the formal character of this elevation. To avoid this scenario and deliver a 

better integrated and considered approach, a new vertical circulation core is proposed 

within the new unit to the south, replicating the arrangement to the north in the existing 

market hall. The proposed southern escape doors are aligned with those on the north 

elevation, maintaining a consistent approach. The core will include a stair and lift to 

provide a compliant escape from the first floor, without interfering with the visual integrity 

of the façade. This design concept ensures that the circulation and escape strategy is 

consistent through the building, from north to the south. By replicating this rhythm of 
Page 69



 

 

access and escape doors, the intervention is not only functional but reinforces the existing 

language of the building. At present, escape from the mezzanine level is via a later rear 

extension that is to be demolished under the proposals. Due to floor level differences 

between the mezzanine and the southern café space, and the requirement for protected, 

direct egress to the exterior, a dedicated escape stair is necessary. The proposed stair is 

positioned on the west elevation, serving both mezzanine and ground floor levels. This 

location responds to the level changes along the newly created pedestrian access route 

to the west, allowing a safe and compliant means of escape from both levels of the market 

hall that respects both internal circulation requirements and external levels. Although 

symmetry with the north-south arrangement is not achievable here due to building 

regulations constraints, the intervention has been carefully placed to avoid disruption to 

the Market Street frontage. The new opening is modest and appropriately scaled, 

responding directly to internal functional needs while limiting visual impact on the 

building’s primary elevations. The 2no. new fire escape staircases have been located and 

designed to reduce any physical and visual impacts on the interior of the building. These 

works are justified in terms of their requirement under Part B of the Building Regulations. 

The proposed fire door openings have been designed to have minimal impact on the 

existing building. The introduction is solely to satisfy critical building regulation 

requirements. The designs have been informed by internal circulation needs, existing 

architectural language, and external site levels. The fire doors are carefully located to 

minimise any impacts on the Torquay Market’s heritage significance and are designed to 

balance the demands of life safety with the conservation of the building’s heritage 

significance and future usability. The insertion of the fire escape door would result in a 

limited level of harm to the significance of the building, deriving from the loss of a modest 

amount of historic fabric and a slight erosion in the ability to appreciate the original form 

and use of the market. The creation of the internal fire escape staircases would also result 

in a very slight erosion in the ability to appreciate the historic form and spaciousness of 

the interior of the market. These impacts have been reduced through the careful design 

and siting of these interventions to minimise their visual and physical impacts. 

 

Harm: 

The proposed openings in both the south and west elevations of the Pannier Market would 

represent a considerable loss of historic fabric dating from the building’s original construction. 

The resulting harm would be caused to its architectural, historic values and evidential values 

and its significance. The Council’s Conservation and Urban Design Officer considers that the 

proposed works would result in less than substantial harm, to a minor to moderate degree. 

This level of harm must be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 

 

It remains vital to ensure that the phasing of the wider scheme is carefully considered to 

ensure that the justification put forward by the applicant for the harmful works can truly be 

realised. The justification of better integrating the building with the proposed public space has 

limited relevance at this stage and is more appropriate to be considered as part of the 

planning application (ref: P/2025/0173) made concurrently. 

 

For clarity, the proposal is considered to result in minor to moderate less than substantial 

harm to the Pannier Market. 

 

Paragraph 213 of the NPPF states that: Page 70



 

 

"Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or 

destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 

justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:  

a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be exceptional;  

b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, 

registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and 

gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional." 

 

Justification: 

Historic England Principles, Policies and Guidance regarding integrating conservation with 

other public interests, identifies that harm should have be reduced to the minimum whilst 

being consistent with achieving the objective. The proposed works seek to modify the internal 

and external fabric of the building, as the building has been extended and extensively altered 

over time. The existing extensions to the southern and western elevations of the building are 

modern, later additions with no heritage value. The existing extensions date from the late 

1970s and early 1980s, that are of non-descript quality and character which fail to align with 

the overall architectural quality of the listed building and its significance. The removal of the 

existing extensions will better reveal the significance of the building and will enable the 

building to once again be a free standing building as originally intended. 

 

The proposed openings in both the south and west elevations of the Pannier Market would 

represent a considerable loss of historic fabric dating from the building’s original construction. 

There is no evidence of historic openings in these elevations.  

 

In terms of the southern elevation, upper parts of this elevation are exposed, it can be seen 

that it mirrors the north elevation, confirmed by the 1971 aerial photograph, where the same 

eight pilaster design can be seen. The proposal will retain this architectural design and will 

include 2no. tall openings being set centrally and symmetrically within each gable. These 

works will require the removal of some historic fabric, however, the level of harm will in part 

be offset by better revealing this elevation and by contributing to the restoration of the original 

detached setting of the asset.  

 

The west elevation has been heavily altered to provide interconnections with the Union 

Square Shopping Centre, which has resulted in the removal of much historic fabric at ground 

floor level. The proposed 5no. arched openings to the west elevation would in part be formed 

within the areas of the elevation that is proposed to be rebuilt and as such would not result in 

the removal of historic fabric, the upper parts would be within the existing historic elevation 

and, as such, would result in targeted interventions into historic fabric. Again, there is no 

evidence at present to suggest that there were, historically, openings in this elevation. 

 

The applicant has provided an Addendum to their Heritage Impact Assessment stating that 

the proposed arched openings are intended to ensure that the Pannier Market is fully 

integrated into the new open space within the wider proposed regeneration scheme, and to 

facilitate and encourage a greater level of accessibility, which will support the sustainable 

ongoing use of the listed building which is part of its historic value and contribution to heritage 

significance. The impact of these proposed works has been reduced by the careful design 

and location of these openings, retaining the symmetry and formal character of the building 

and highlighting the newly revealed elevation that engages with the new public realm, which Page 71



 

 

is more closely aligned with its historic spatial character. The simple form of the openings and 

the detailing would ensure that the openings are legible as harmonious, contemporary 

interventions. 

 

The removal of modern fittings, including the suspended ceiling, stud partitions, ceilings, 

doors and unit frontages would not result in any harm to the significance of the heritage asset. 

These elements were added during a phase of refurbishment in 2006 and do not contribute 

to the significance of the listed building.  

 

The insertion of fire escape doors is to avoid the existing strategy causing a visually intrusive 

stair enclosure behind the new openings. The new southern escape doors are aligned with 

those on the north elevation, which maintain a consistent approach. The core will include a 

stair and lift to provide compliant fire escape from the first floor, without interfering with the 

visual integrity of the façade. This design concept ensures that the circulation and escape 

strategy is consistent through the building, from north to the south. By replicating this rhythm 

of access and escape doors, the intervention is not only functional but reinforces the existing 

language of the building. The existing fire escape from the mezzanine level it via the existing 

extension which is proposed to be demolished through the current proposal. Given the 

finished floor levels between the mezzanine and the existing southern café space, there is 

not direct egress and therefore an additional fire escape staircase is necessary. The 2no. 

new fire escape staircases have been located and designed to reduce any physical and visual 

impacts on the interior of the building. These works are justified in terms of their requirement 

under Part B of the Building Regulations. 

 

Whilst the inclusion of enhancements and improvements do not give right to harmful changes, 

it is necessary to balance the overall impacts and assess the heritage implications of the 

proposal and establish if there would be any change in the significance of the building and to 

establish the degree of any change that may occur. 

 

Paragraph 215 of the NPPF states that: 

"Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of 

a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 

proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use." 

 

In balancing the aspects of proposal, and their impact on the heritage values of the building, 

the proposal has been identified to result in a minor level of less than substantial harm 

resulting from the new openings in the south and west elevations of the listed building. The 

proposal is considered to result in a minor impact on the significance of the building. This 

impact has been reduced from moderate to minor given the positive heritage enhancements 

the proposal would deliver from the demolition of the existing ad hoc extensions to the listed 

building. In this regard, there is considered to be a negligible degree of change in the 

significance of the building. 

 

However, based on the restorative benefits of the scheme and the investment proposed into 

the wider regeneration scheme for the Union Square Shopping Centre, the building will be 

able to maintain its continued optimum viable use as a Pannier Market, along with the 

associated social and economic benefits there is deemed to be a significant public benefit to 

outweigh the identified minor to moderate level of less than substantial harm. Page 72



 

 

 

As such, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies DE1, SS10 and HE1 of the Local 

Plan, Policies TH8 and TH10 of the Neighbourhood Plan and the guidance contained within 

the NPPF. 

 

Impact on Ecology 

 

Paragraph 187 of the NPPF provides guidance in that planning decisions should contribute 

to and enhance the natural and local environment and includes guidance towards minimising 

impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity.  

 

Policy NC1 of the Local Plan states that all development should positively incorporate and 

promote biodiversity features, proportionate to their scale. Policy TE5 of the Neighbourhood 

Plan outlines that the development of new homes, or a new commercial property or business 

premises of any class, on an unallocated site that could have an impact on a protected 

species or habitat must provide, as appropriate, an assessment of impacts upon any existing 

protected species or habitats and as necessary provide mitigating arrangements in order to 

protect and enhance those species and habitats. 

 

The application has been supported by an Ecological Appraisal. The application site is 

entirely urban, with very few opportunities for habitats and protected species.  

 

The applicant has provided full survey results in relation to bats which confirmed “Five small, 

common pipistrelle day roosts were present within buildings east of the main Union Square 

Shopping Centre entrance off Union Street (rear of buildings occupied by ‘Nexus Games’ and 

‘Costa’). These are all small, seasonal roosts of low conservation status.”. The Ecologist has 

confirmed that subject to the mitigation requirements outlined, they are satisfied that Natural 

England are likely to grant a licence. 

 

The applicant has also provided further information in relation to nesting birds. Four herring 

gull nests were confirmed on the roof top of the application site. The Ecologist has noted that 

whilst the effects of the proposals on birds are not significant, dealing with herring gull and 

other bird nests on urban building demolitions can cause issues for developments if not 

properly considered, therefore a nesting bird mitigation plan planning condition is 

recommended. 

 

The Local Plan Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) and Neighbourhood Plan HRA 

screen in a Likely Significant Effect on the Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC) from the potential impact of the future growth areas on water quality. 

Policy W5 of the Local Plan outlines what is required to satisfy a conclusion of no adverse 

effect on the integrity of the Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine SAC. The South Hams Greater 

Horseshoe Bat SAC is located approximately 8km from the application site. The main urban 

areas of Torquay that includes the application site, are outside of the SAC consultation zones. 

A Likely Significant Effect as a result of the proposed development on the SAC can be 

screened out in the HRA.  

 

The Ecologist has reviewed: the applicant’s Shadow HRA: Test of Likely Significant Effects 

and Appropriate Assessment, which was submitted to address the Ecologist’s initial Page 73



 

 

comments with regards to the potential effects of the development on Lyme Bay & Torbay 

Marine SAC due to changes to Water Quality. The Ecologist was satisfied with the submitted 

Shadow HRA: Test of Likely Significant Effects and Appropriate Assessment and on behalf 

of Torbay Council as the Appropriate Authority under the Habitats Regulations has adopted 

the document as the Council’s HRA. As an Appropriate Assessment was conducted as part 

of the HRA, Natural England have been consulted on the HRA. An update will be provided to 

Members at Planning Committee regarding Natural England’s response. 

 

Devon County Council’s Principal Ecologist has been consulted on the application and raises 

no objections subject to the recommended planning conditions found at the end of this report 

which relate to bat mitigation measures and a Nesting Bird Mitigation Plan.  

 

Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions, the proposed development is considered 

to accord with Policies NC1 and W5 of the Local Plan, Policy TE5 of the Neighbourhood Plan 

and the guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 

 

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Act, 

and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act. This Act gives further 

effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 

recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development 

rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community 

interests, as expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central 

Government Guidance. 

 

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 

provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and Section 

149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different 

people when carrying out their activities. Protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 

reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and 

sexual orientation. 

 

Local Finance Considerations  

 

S106: 

Not applicable. 

 

CIL: 

The CIL liability for this development is Nil 

 

EIA/HRA 

 

EIA: 

Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on the 

environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development. The development does 

not meet the thresholds for screening and is not in a sensitive area. Page 74



 

 

 

HRA: 

The Local Plan Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) and Neighbourhood Plan HRA 

screen in a Likely Significant Effect on the Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC) from the potential impact of the future growth areas on water quality. 

Policy W5 of the Local Plan outlines what is required to satisfy a conclusion of no adverse 

effect on the integrity of the Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine SAC.  

 

Devon County Council’s Ecologist on behalf of Torbay Council as the Appropriate Authority 

under the Habitats Regulations has adopted the applicant’s Shadow HRA: Test of Likely 

Significant Effects and Appropriate Assessment document as the Council’s HRA. As an 

Appropriate Assessment was conducted as part of the HRA, Natural England have been 

consulted on the HRA. An update will be provided to Members at Planning Committee 

regarding Natural England’s response. 

 

Conclusion  

 

The proposal is considered to be acceptable, having regard to the Development Plan, and all 

other material considerations. 

 

This conclusion has been reached with special regard/attention to the desirability of 

preserving and/or enhancing heritage assets or their setting in accordance with the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

Officer Recommendation 

 

Approval: subject to;  

 

1. The conditions outlined below, with the final drafting of conditions delegated to the 

Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency. 

2. Receiving a consultation response from Natural England to confirm no objection to the 

Council’s Appropriate Assessment. 

3. The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following 

Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and 

Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning conditions 

or obligations.  

 

Planning Conditions 

 

1. Schedule of Works  

 

Prior to any works being undertaken, a detailed schedule of works (including repair works) 

and a timetable for removal and works of reinstatement, including investigative works, 

methods and materials to repair and re-instate internal features where relevant, shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the work 

shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Page 75



 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.  

 

This is a pre-commencement condition because the works comprising the development 

have the potential to harm retained architectural features and therefore these details need 

to be agreed before work commences. 

 

2. Demolition Method Statement  

 

Prior to the commencement (including demolition) of works hereby approved, details of 

the method of demolition have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The demolition of the extensions adjoining the southern and western 

elevations of the building shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

3. Expert Supervision 

 

Prior to the commencement of works the details of the appropriately qualified professional 

specialising in conservation work who will supervise the hereby approved works of 

alteration and demolition shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The works shall then be supervised for the full duration of the works by the 

agreed suitably qualified professional. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

This is a pre-commencement condition because the works comprising the development 

have the potential to harm retained architectural features and therefore these details need 

to be agreed before work commences. 

 

4. Hidden Historic Features 

 

During the works, if hidden historic features are revealed they should be retained in-situ. 

Works shall be halted in the relevant area of the building and the Local Planning Authority 

should be notified immediately. Failure to do so may result in unauthorised works being 

carried out and an offence being committed. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Page 76



 

 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

5. Stone Cleaning 

 

No work shall commence on the stone cleaning across any elevation, until a sample panel 

has been provided in situ to establish the final parameters of the stone cleaning and this 

sample panel shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 

panel shall be kept on site for reference until the development is completed. The work 

shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved sample panel. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

6. Masonry Cleaning & Painting  

 

No cleaning of masonry, other than low pressure (20-100 psi) surface cleaning using a 

nebulous water spray is authorised by this consent without the prior approval of the Local 

Planning Authority. Before cleaning work begins, any other cleaning proposals must be 

submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and then carried out 

strictly in accordance with those details.  

 

Prior to any new internal and external painting, a detailed specification of any paint to be 

used on the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority and then carried out strictly in accordance with those details. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

7. Building Recording 

 

Prior to the commencement of any works, an appropriate programme of historic building 

recording and analysis shall be secured and implemented in accordance with a written 

scheme of investigation which has previously been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy SS10 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 

2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 and 

Paragraph 211 of the National Planning Policy Framework, that an appropriate record is 

made of the historic building fabric that may be affected by the development.  

 

This is a pre-commencement condition because the works comprising the development 

have the potential to harm retained architectural features and therefore these details need 

to be agreed before work commences. Page 77



 

 

 

8. Submission of Details Following Demolition 

 

Prior to forming any new opening following the demolition of the extensions on the 

southern and western elevations of Block D as identified on the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-

TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025) 

along with the investigative works, details and evidence of any historic openings shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 

shall then proceed in full accordance with the approved details and shall be retained as 

such thereafter.  

 

Any details and evidence approved by the Local Planning Authority pertaining to Condition 

8 shall be thereafter included as an appendix to the building record as required by 

Condition 7 of this consent. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

9. Matching Details 

 

All new external and internal works and finishes and works of making good to the retained 

fabric, shall match the existing original work adjacent in respect of methods, detailed 

execution and finished appearance unless the alternative details are first submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any alternative method which is 

agreed shall be strictly adhered to. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.  

 

10. New Services 

 

Prior to the installation of any new services, the position, type and method of installation 

of all new and relocated services and related fixtures (for the avoidance of doubt this 

includes communications and information technology servicing), shall be specified and 

agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority wherever these installations are to be 

visible, or where ducts or other methods of concealment are proposed. The works shall 

then proceed in full accordance with the approved details and shall be retained as such 

thereafter. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 Page 78



 

 

11. Removal of Redundant Infrastructure/Services 

 

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, all redundant infrastructure 

associated with the former use of the building shall have been removed from the exterior 

of the building. For the avoidance of doubt this includes communications and information 

technology servicing, alarms, lighting, security cameras, soil pipes, flues, ducting, vents 

and air handling/conditioning units. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

12. Window and Door Details 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the installation of new windows 

and doors, the following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority: 

- Broken sections at a scale of 1:1 and elevations at a scale of 1:10, of all new windows 

and doors 

- Reveal sections, drawn to a scale of 1:1-1:10 

- Sill sections, drawn to a scale of 1:1-1:10  

 

The development shall then proceed in full accordance with the approved details and shall 

be retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

13. Joinery Details 

 

No piece of external joinery shall be installed or undertaken unless full details of that piece 

have been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such 

details shall be at full or half scale and shall include cross-sections, profiles, reveal, 

surrounds, materials, finish and colour. The works shall be carried out in accordance with 

the approved details and shall be retained thereafter. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

14. Fire Escapes 

 

Prior to the installation of any new fire escape door, details of how the new openings will 

be fixed to the existing fabric shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Page 79



 

 

Planning Authority. The installation of the new fire escape doors shall be undertaken in 

strict accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

15. Phasing 

 

Prior to the commencement of development, a phasing plan shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The phasing plan shall set out the 

phases of the development and how the development will be implemented in relation to 

an agreed timetable of works.  

 

The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with approved phasing plan.   

 

Reason: To ensure the development is constructed in a timely manner and satisfactorily 

completed to meet the requirements of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

This needs to be a pre-commencement condition to ensure that development is 

constructed in a timely manner from the outset of development. 

 

16. Assurance of Build 

 

No demolition shall take place until arrangements, including a contract for carrying out of 

works, have been put in place to secure the redevelopment of the site permitted under 

planning permission reference P/2025/0173 and details of these arrangements have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The arrangements 

shall include details of the timescale for carrying out the redevelopment approved under 

planning permission reference P/2025/0173 and the development approved under this 

permission.  

 

Reason: To ensure that the character and appearance of the area is not prejudiced and 

to safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve the 

character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policies DE1 and HE1 of the 

of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policies TH8 and TH10 of the Adopted 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

17. Bat Mitigation Measures 

  

All demolition and construction activities must comply with the bat mitigation measures 

detailed in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.12 of the approved Bat Survey Report (ref: ‘P20250173-

15 (Bat & Bird Survey)’, received 5th August 2025), unless otherwise agreed with Natural 

England through the bat mitigation licensing process. No licensable works affecting bats 

or their roosts may begin until a bat mitigation licence has been issued by Natural 

England. If circumstances change and a bat licence is no longer required where one was 

Page 80



 

 

previously deemed necessary, written confirmation must be obtained from the Local 

Planning Authority before any such works commence.  

 

Reason: To ensure the protection of bats and their roosts, which are legally protected 

under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  

 

18. Nesting Bird Mitigation Plan 

 

Prior to the commencement of any demolition works, a Nesting Bird Mitigation Plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 

plan shall thereafter be implemented in full thereafter. 

 

Reason: To safeguard nesting gulls and other urban species protected under the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).  

 

This is a pre-commencement condition because the works comprising the development 

have the potential to harm nesting birds and therefore these details need to be agreed 

before work commences. 

 

Informative(s) 

 

Positive and Proactive  

 

In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order, 2015, in determining this 

application, Torbay Council has worked positively with the applicant to ensure that all relevant 

planning concerns have been appropriately resolved. The Council has concluded that this 

application is acceptable for planning approval. 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

 

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 

that planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to have been 

granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that development may not begin 

unless:  

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and  

(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.   

 

There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 

biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity Gain 

Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 

(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024.  

 

Based on the information provided to determine the application this permission is considered 

to be one which will not require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development 

is begun because one or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements is/are 

considered to apply. Page 81



 

 

 

Relevant Policies 

 

Development Plan Relevant Policies 

 

DE1 - Design 

HE1 - Listed Buildings 

NC1 - Biodiversity and Biodiversity  

SS10 - Conservation and the Historic Environment  

TE5 - Protected Species Habitats and Biodiversity 

TH8 - Established Architecture 

TH10 - Protection of the Historic Built Environment 

W5 - Waste Water Disposal  

 

Page 82



 
Application Site Address Union Square Shopping Centre & Pannier 

Market 

Union Square 

Torquay 

Proposal Partial demolition of existing shopping centre, 

demolition of 9 no. commercial units fronting on 

Union Street and Market Street and partial 

demolition of modern additions to Pannier 

Market. Redevelopment of site to provide 

residential development with associated amenity 

space, creation of new Class E commercial unit, 

repurposing of retained shopping centre 

floorspace sited below multistorey car park for 

Class E uses and associated external alterations, 

external works to Pannier Market, creation of 

public square and associated development 

infrastructure and works. 

Application Number  P/2025/0173 

Applicant Willmott Dixon Construction Ltd 

Agent Turley 

Date Application Valid 29.04.2025 

Decision Due date 29.07.2025 

Extension of Time Date 26.09.2025 

Recommendation  Approval subject to:  

1. The planning conditions outlined below, with 

the final drafting of planning conditions 

delegated to the Divisional Director of 

Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency.  

2. Completion of a Section 106 agreement.  

3. Receiving a consultation response from 

Natural England to confirm no objection to the 

Council’s Appropriate Assessment. 

4. The resolution of any new material 

considerations that may come to light following 

Planning Committee to be delegated to the 

Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and 

Climate Emergency, including the addition of 

any necessary further planning conditions or 

obligations. 

Reason for Referral to 

Planning Committee 

Major Development. 

Planning Case Officer Emily Elliott  

 

 

  Page 83

Agenda Item 7

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


 

 

Location Plan 

 

Site Details 

 

The site, Union Square Shopping Centre, Union Street, Torquay, comprises of several 

elements including the Union Square Shopping Centre, which is an existing shopping centre 

situated within Torquay Town Centre. Within the Shopping Centre there are several 

commercial units fronting Union Street, this element of the Shopping Centre has a fixed 

canopy to provide passersby and customers with protection from the weather. A handful of 

existing retailers remain operating within the Shopping Centre including Greggs, Iceland, 

Peacocks, Specsavers, The Entertainer and F Hinds jewellers. Torbay Council purchased 

Union Square Shopping Centre in 2022. The Shopping Centre can be accessed by 

pedestrians on both Union Street and Market Street, with the service access being provided 

from Castle Lane next to the Union Square Multi-Storey Car Park access lane from a raised 

service deck at first floor level. 

 

The site also includes Union Square Multi-Storey Car Park, which is within Torbay Council’s 

ownership. The Multi-Storey Car Park is connected to the Union Square Shopping Centre. 

The ground floor of the Multi-Storey Car Park remains vacant after the closure of Wilko in 

2023. The Multi-Storey Car Park provides long stay pay and display parking (7:30-19:00) and 

has 397no. parking spaces, including 16no. disabled parking spaces, 9no. parent and child 

parking spaces, and 2no. motorcycle parking spaces. 

 

Page 84



 

 

The site also includes existing retail buildings fronting onto Union Street and turning the 

corner onto Market Street, currently occupied by Costa Coffee and Nationwide Building 

Society. Torbay Council have acquired several of these units and are in discussions with 

occupiers regarding the remaining units. 

 

The site extends along Market Street and includes the Torquay Pannier Market. The Pannier 

Market is a Grade II listed building, which is not currently within the ownership of Torbay 

Council. The Pannier Market has an internal mezzanine floor and individual retailing spaces 

within the building, of which some retailers have shopfronts directly onto Market Street, whilst 

others are accessed internally within the Pannier Market.  

 

The site is located within several designations: 

 Torquay Town Centre (Policy TC1 of the Local Plan) 

 Torquay Primary Shopping Area (Policy TC2 of the Local Plan) 

 Torquay Town Centre Community Investment Area (Policy SS11 of the Local Plan) 

 Torquay Strategic Delivery Area (Policy SS1 of the Local Plan) 

 Adjacent to several Conservation Areas (Upton, Abbey Road, Torquay Harbour and 

Warberries) 

 Includes Grade II Torquay Pannier Market (List Entry Number - 1206800) 

 At high risk from surface water flooding (Flood risk summary - Check your long term flood 

risk - GOV.UK) 

 The majority of the site is within Flood Zone 1, with a section of the site being within Flood 

Zone 3. The site is also within a Critical Drainage Area. 

 

Description of Development 

 

This is a full planning application for the partial demolition of the existing Union Square 

Shopping Centre, the demolition of 9 no. commercial units fronting on Union Street and 

Market Street and the partial demolition of modern additions to the Pannier Market. The 

proposal is for the redevelopment of the application site to provide residential development 

(99no. units) with associated amenity space, the creation of a new Class E commercial unit 

(approximately 100 square metres), the repurposing of the retained shopping centre 

floorspace sited below the existing Union Square Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP) for Class E 

uses and associated external alterations, external works to Pannier Market, creation of a 

public square and associated development infrastructure and works. 

 

The proposal comprises of 4no. distinct blocks of built form: 

 Block A – Five-storey mixed use building fronting Union Street, featuring a ground floor 

commercial unit and 85no. residential flats.   

 Block B – Two-storey Mews style building positioned parallel to the Pannier Market, which 

includes 14no. residential flats. 

 Block C – Existing Union Square Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP), will maintain existing 

451no. car parking spaces and provide 4no. new commercial units across the ground and 

first floors within former Union Square Shopping Centre floorspace. 

 Block D – Pannier Market, Grade II listed building, which the proposal seeks the 

restoration and reopening of the market building. 

 
Page 85

https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/risk
https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/risk


 

 

Relevant Planning Policy Context  

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on local 

planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. The following development plan policies and 

material considerations are relevant to this application: 

 

Development Plan 

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan"); and 

- The Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 (“The Neighbourhood Plan”) 

 

Material Considerations 

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); 

- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG); 

- Published Standing Advice;  

- Heritage setting, within a Conservation Area (Upton);  

- Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990:  Section 

72; and  

- Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the following advice 

and representations, planning history, and other matters referred to in this report. 

 

Relevant Planning History  

 

Extensive planning history relating to the application site, most noteworthy are the following: 

 

 P/2025/0164: Demolition and associated works to adjoining structures to south and west 

elevations of Pannier Market including removal of internal fixtures. Formation of arched 

openings and new emergency escape doors to south and west elevations. Pending 

consideration. 

 

 DE/2024/0060: Redevelopment of Union Square. Pre-application response 13/03/2025. 

 

 Design West Review Panel – Attended 04/11/2024, report provided and can be found in 

Appendix 1 of the supporting Planning Statement. 

 

 P/2006/0164: Internal Alterations To Form New Mezzanine Level And Shop Units. 

Approved 08/03/2006. 

 

 P/2003/0073: Alterations To Shop Front And Formation Of Ramp For Disabled Persons. 

Approved 24/02/2003. 

 

 P/1989/1372: Alterations And Improvements And Formation Of Glazed Roof Between 

Haldon Centre And 75 Union Street. Approved 13/09/1989. 

 

Summary of Representations  

 

6 letters of objection have been received.  

Page 86



 

 

 

Note: Full responses are available to view on the public access system 

(https://publicaccess.torbay.gov.uk/view/). 

 

Concerns include: 

 Impact on the local area. 

 Not in keeping with the local area. 

 Lack of green space. 

 Sets precedent. 

 Noise. 

 Overdevelopment. 

 Design/visual impact. 

 Active/sustainable travel infrastructure 

 Impact on town centre. 

 

Summary of Consultation Responses 

 

Note: Full responses are available to view on the public access system 

(https://publicaccess.torbay.gov.uk/view/). 

 

Torquay Neighbourhood Forum (Updated response dated 24/07/2025): 

The Forum strongly supports the principle of this development in providing much needed 

housing, and restoration of the Pannier Market. The proposal is development of a Brownfield 

site, and the Forum is pleased to see an on-site provision of 20% Affordable Housing. As this 

is a Council-led development, further increasing the level of Affordable Housing would help 

meet the current shortfall.  

 

In our Consultee Response dated 29 May 2025, the Forum expressed major concerns about 

the design. In view of this, Martin Tressider from Milligan and the Architect, Terry Morley, 

attended a Steering Group Meeting to discuss our concerns. They shared Computer 

Generated Images (CGI) of the buildings, and these showed them to be less out of keeping 

and dominant than is apparent from the Plans included on the Planning Portal. Nevertheless, 

some members of the Steering Group continue to have concerns, but the majority can accept 

the design. We suggest that the Planning Committee members should review the overall 

design for themselves, and come to individual conclusions. It would be appropriate for there 

to be a Condition to review and approve the final finishing materials. The attached Policy 

Checklist has been updated, and shows compliance with many of the Development Policies.  

 

The wider cycling infrastructure remains a concern, but we recognize that, being a Torbay 

Council development, there will be no Section 106 or CIL contributions. But the Forum 

requests that a condition be added to the effect that if the development is sold to a private 

developer then Section 106 contributions will be applied. In order to fulfil the objectives of the 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, Torbay Council needs to develop and find 

funding for a plan to bring cycling infrastructure in the immediate vicinity of Union Square up 

to safe, modern standards, connecting the site to both the Harbourside and Castle Circus.  

 

In conclusion, the Forum can now support the Application. 
Page 87



 

 

 

Torquay Neighbourhood Forum (Original response dated 29/05/2025): 

The Forum strongly supports the principle of this development in providing much needed 

housing, and restoration of the Pannier Market. The attached Policy Checklist shows 

compliance with many of the Development Policies. The proposal is development of a 

Brownfield site, and the Forum is pleased to see an on-site provision of 20% Affordable 

Housing.  

 

However the Forum has major concerns about the design. The Forum has developed a 

checklist to assess compliance of Planning Applications with the Torbay Local Development 

Framework 2005-2026 Urban Design Guide. The attached checklist shows that the proposed 

Blocks A and B are in conflict with the recommendations in the Design Guide. The building 

has an Eastern European, post-war reconstruction appearance, and we consider this is out 

of context with the buildings in Torquay Town Centre. In addition, at 5 storeys, Block A will 

be very dominant.  

 

The Transport Assessment indicates that the residential units are ‘car-free’. It is not clear 

what that means. Although the development is within easy walking distance of shops and 

other facilities, and is on bus routes, some residents may require a car for employment 

purposes. Given the multi-storey car park, Block C, is being retained, it would be logical to 

assign some spaces for use by residents. For cycling, the provision of cycle storage is 

welcomed and appropriate, but Figure 31 shows no connection from the site to the various 

cycle routes in Torquay. In order to fulfil the objectives of the Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plan, the developer must commit, for example via a Section 106 contribution, 

to bringing cycling infrastructure in the immediate vicinity up to safe, modern standards, 

connecting the site to both the Harbourside and Castle Circus.  

 

In conclusion, given our concerns, the Forum cannot support this Application as it stands. If 

our concerns could be addressed, the Forum would support this Planning Application. 

 

Torbay Council’s Principal Strategy & Project Management Officer (response dated 

30/06/2025):  

Principle of Development 

The regeneration of town centre areas is very strongly supported in the existing Local Plan. 

Policies SDT1, SDT2 and TC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan provide a broad framework 

for these areas. From a policy perspective, achieving a successful redevelopment of the area 

is strongly supported by the development plan. 

 

Policy SDT1(table 6) seeks to provide at least 824 dwellings in the town centre. 

Policy SDT1 Torquay states that: 

“Torquay is and will remain the primary commercial centre of Torbay. Harbourside and town 

centre sites will be developed for appropriate mixed uses, and the re-use of space within 

buildings for residential accommodation will be supported. The urban areas will be improved 

and renewed, with strong support for family homes. Regeneration, comprehensive 

redevelopment and large scale investment will ensure that the town centre and Torquay 

Harbour areas evolve as the principal town centre and the centrepiece of a modern, 

prosperous and sustainable Torbay, whilst conserving or enhancing the historic and natural 

environment” . Page 88



 

 

 

Policy SDT2 Torquay Town Centre and Harbour states that: 

“Torquay Town Centre will develop as the largest retail and leisure centre of the Bay and 

become the key sub-regional retail and leisure destination. This will help provide an improved, 

vibrant and more enjoyable shopping and leisure environment with better high street retail, 

eating and leisure facilities. Furthermore, regeneration of key sites will help strengthen its role 

as a commercial and social centre for residents and visitors, whilst conserving or enhancing 

the area’s historic character and environmental value. Developments within Torquay Town 

Centre and Harbour areas should comprise a mix of suitable town centre uses and help to 

increase substantially the numbers of town centre homes during the Plan period”. 

 

Policy TC1 also supports town centre regeneration. Both Union Street and Albert Road 

running through Union square are primary shopping area and frontage (with the caveat that 

the NPPF does not refer to retail frontages). Market Street is secondary frontage. 

 

The principle of housing in the town centre is supported by Policies SS3, SS12, SS13 and 

H1 of the Local Plan. 

 

Policy TS4 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan also supports the prioritisation of brownfield 

land for housing. 

 

On that basis, the principle of mixed-use housing-led regeneration is, in principle, in 

accordance with the development plan and Paragraph 11(c ) of the Presumption applies. 

However. I note that development plans contain policies which pull in different directions and 

that the proposal raises complicated issues in relation to flooding, design, heritage, offsite 

contributions etc. In this context it is worth spelling out the relevance of the Presumption in 

Favour of Sustainable Development to the proposal. 

 

The 2024 NPPF places great emphasis upon the delivery of housing, and especially 

affordable housing. Torbay Council currently has just over 1.7 years housing land supply as 

measured according to the 2024 NPPF. This is a serious shortfall and paragraph 11(d) must 

therefore be applied. At the recent Copythorne Road appeal, the inspector gave “very 

substantial weight” to the delivery of market and affordable homes. As an urban brownfield 

site, at least that level of weight must be given to the delivery of homes. Chapter 11 of the 

Framework, (especially but not limited to paragraphs 125 (c), 128, and 129) also provide a 

strong policy directive to maximise the use of brownfield housing opportunities. 

 

The proposed details for Union Square indicate about 100 apartments. This is somewhat 

fewer than in earlier discussions, and less than the circa 250 that were consulted on in the 

Local Plan Housing Site Options Consultation (2022). However, I note that the proposal is for 

5-storeys of residential buildings, and that there are viability and deliverability problems with 

taller buildings, due to additional fire safety requirements. From a policy position, I would 

support a much taller building in this location in order to boost housing numbers , but I 

understand that there are viability and deliverability constraints (and paragraph 129 b of the 

framework acknowledges that viability considerations may limit the scope of development). 

However, the design should only be reduced in size through the planning process if there are 

very NPPF Footnote 7 “strong reasons”, or “tilted balance” reasons for so doing. 

 Page 89



 

 

The proposal will deliver at least 20% affordable housing in accordance with Policy H2 of the 

Local Plan. This carries additional weight in Paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the framework. I note that 

Alex Rehaag has provided separate housing comments, as supports the proposed emphasis 

on smaller dwellings, given the profile of Torbay’s need. The 20% affordable housing should 

not be regarded as a maximum, should it be possible to increase provision through non-S106 

route or contributions from elsewhere. If this is the case, then a range of tenures should be 

provided to ensure a mixed and balanced community. My colleagues in Housing can advise 

further on this. 

 

Retail Impact 

I note that objections have been raised to the proposal on grounds of loss of retail space 

within Torquay town centre, both in quantitative terms (loss of circa 8,000 sq.m. of trading 

space) and qualitative terms in terms of the loss of a convenience store in the primary retail 

area. De Pol Associated have raised a concern about the loss of Iceland from Union Square. 

I have sought to address this issue below in relation to convenience need generally rather 

than a specific supermarket. 

 

Union Street and the Union Square area ( formerly Albert Road) are identified as primary 

shopping frontage and primary shopping area in the Adopted Local Plan. As indicated in my 

comments on the pre-application, is an element of tension with policyTC4 of the Local Plan. 

However, the Local Plan’s strategy must be regarded as out of date, in particular with regard 

to the need to maximise residential opportunities. The Local Plan was drafted to allow 

flexibility of use within main town centre uses and recognises opportunities to provide housing 

and commercial use (TC1 etc.) and the quantum of housing that is needed is larger than that 

indicated in the Local Plan. The Local Plan pre-dates the creation of the overarching Class E 

which represents a sea change in town centre planning to allow flexibility over a wide range 

of commercial uses in town centres. On this basis, the current units including Iceland could 

change to a range of non-retail uses without the need for planning permission (and indeed 

without constituting development). This makes it much harder to require retail only frontages 

even in primary areas, in recognition of the wider commercial and residential role that town 

centres must now play. 

 

Torbay has a recent (2022) Retail Study, carried out by Avison Young. Evidence Base and 

Monitoring - Torbay Council The retail study assessed Torquay Town Centre’s health. It noted 

that 26.8% of Torquay town centre floorspace was vacant, compared to the national average 

of 16.1% (table 4.3). It notes (4.31): 

“A key concern will be the continued loss of retailing market share and turnover in the town 

centre. Whilst all town centres are facing similar challenges, this is trend which has continued 

for some time in Torquay and highlights why the Council will need to consider the main role 

of the town centre going forwards (and the need to diversify its offer). – A related part of this 

issue is the continued high number / proportion of vacancies in the town centre, which well 

above the national average”. 

 

It is worth noting that the retail study does see Union Street as a focus for retail, but does 

note the need to evolve the function of the town centre. 

 

“We consider that Torquay’s town centre boundary remains reflective of the concentration of 

‘main centre land uses’ across the different character areas of the centre, ranging from the Page 90



 

 

concentration of retail / shopping uses on Union Street, heading southwards along Fleet 

Street towards the seafront / harbour. In relation to the primary shopping area, this is currently 

tightly drawn and it is notable that there are also, beyond the existing defined area, a large 

number of retail uses along Fleet Street. However, given the evolving function of the town 

centre, national trends in retail and service uses, along with the need to attract a wider mix 

of uses to underpin the health of Torquay town centre, we do not recommend any changes 

to the existing primary shopping area boundary”. 

 

However, Torquay town centre is very elongated, stretching from Castle Circus to Torwood 

Street, and there is an argument to condense the area, and focus retail activity more towards 

the heart of the town centre. 

 

The Retail Study identifies a need for 2,386 sq. m of convenience (foodstore), between zero 

and up to 2142 sq. m of comparison, and 3,129 sq. m of food and drink (restaurants etc) in 

Torquay over the next 10 years (or technically 2022-23). 

 

Qualitatively, Torquay town centre is not very well served for convenience stores (food retail) 

with small Tesco’s at Post Office Roundabout and another at castle Circus (outside of the 

town centre boundary), and Iceland in Union Square. In my view, we do have to acknowledge 

that the loss of Iceland would be a negative impact of the scheme. I have previously urged 

my colleagues in the regeneration team to seek to provide or identify suitable alternative 

provision for the uses currently in Union Square. 

 

Castle Circus/Lymington Road has previously been proposed as a suitable location for a food 

store (currently proposed as mixed use development TNPE4 and TNPH21) and the updated 

Local Plan may need to reconsider this, although it would be at the further extremity of the 

town centre. 

 

The loss of retail store within Union Square must be weighed up against other regeneration 

benefits and the impact that additional uses and employment will bring to revitalising the town 

centre. This will also have a significant economic value and will hopefully create a virtuous 

circle to unlock future regeneration in the town centre. In my view the regeneration benefits, 

and additional town centre spending will outweigh the impact of the loss of Iceland. 

 

S106 Obligations 

I note that the application is potentially CIL liable from any market dwellings. It will be 

important that the liability is agreed prior to commencement of works. As a CIL liable 

development, the council would not currently seek wider offsite “sustainable development” 

contributions (4.1.2 of the SPD). However, the proposal will introduce significant additional 

town centre living and it will be essential to create an improved town centre living environment 

and improve access by walking and cycling to other town centre facilities (especially as noted 

above, the town is not well served for convenience retail). These should focus on improving 

the living environment and sustainable transport opportunities in the town centre. Highways 

have provided a detailed assessment of these and in my view, they should be seen as a site 

deliverability matter. 

 

The scope for wider “offsite” sustainability and green Infrastructure contributions is likely to 

be limited. Although the provision of green areas within the development should be pursued Page 91



 

 

to help provide outdoor amenity/ recreation areas for residents , and can also provide a 

sustainable drainage benefit. 

 

Other Issues 

Union Street does face flooding issues (the Union Street frontage of the application is within 

Flood Zone 3 but the majority of the site is Flood Zone 1), and I note that the Environment 

Agency has raised concerns. The applicant has submitted a sequential and exceptions test. 

In sequential terms, it may be possible to locate the specific development on other sites with 

lower flood risk. However it will not be possible for Torbay to meet its development needs, 

and especially housing needs, without developing sites such as Union Square or those with 

a similar or higher level of “footnote 7” constraints. The proposal will achieve significant 

sustainability benefits to the community. However, it will of course be necessary to show that 

development will be safe for its lifetime, taking into account the introduction of residential 

uses, and taking account of matters such as climate change. The application should show 

how it is seeking to reduce flood risk elsewhere e.g. by seeking to provide as much permeable 

surface as possible. 

 

The application also raises significant design, heritage and living-quality considerations. 

Policies SS10, DE1-DE4 of the Local Plan are relevant, and although “out of date” these 

issues are still capable of carrying significant weight. In relation to natural daylight, Paragraph 

130 of the Framework does advise flexibility so long as schemes provide “acceptable living 

standards”. The street scene, heritage and other matters are detailed Development 

Management issues, 

 

I hope that the above is of assistance. From a policy perspective, the proposal is strongly 

supported in principle. However, I note that there are many detailed matters that must be 

considered. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you would like to discuss any of these in 

more detail, or if I have missed anything. 

 

Torbay Council’s Senior Environmental Health Officer (response dated 13/05/2024): 

Noise 

Please could the following conditions be included in any consent? (If the developer would 

prefer to be able to discharge the first of these in stages, the condition could be re-worded to 

allow for that). 

 Prior to commencement of any construction (excluding demolition and site clearance) of 

the development hereby approved an Acoustic Insulation Implementation and Verification 

Plan shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This plan 

shall include details of the insulation to be installed and describe how the installation shall 

be tested so as to demonstrate the achievement of suitable internal noise levels. Prior to 

the occupation of the development hereby approved an Acoustic Installation Verification 

Report shall be submitted. This report shall document the successful completion of the 

acoustic insulation work and post installation testing. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of those living in the new development. 

 

 Cumulative noise from all building services plant and equipment shall not exceed a rating 

noise level of 41dB (07:00 to 23:00) and 37dB (23:00 to 07:00) (measured in accordance 

with BS4142) at 1m from the façade of any noise sensitive receptor.  

Reason: To protect the amenity of those living nearby. Page 92



 

 

 

 The class E uses hereby permitted, including within the pannier market, shall not operate 

outside the hours of 07:00 to 23:00. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of those living nearby. 

 

Contaminated Land 

The report submitted with the application recommends that further, intrusive investigation is 

carried out. In order to manage this, the following condition is proposed. 

 

Please could this be included on any consent? 

 No development shall take place on site until a full investigation of the site has taken place 

to determine the extent of, and risk posed by, any contamination of the land and the 

results, together with any remedial works necessary, have been agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The building(s) shall not be occupied until the approved 

remedial works have been implemented and a remediation statement submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority detailing what contamination has been found and how it has 

been dealt with together with confirmation that no unacceptable risks remain. 

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 

ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 

unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 

The submitted report also considers geo-technical matters, such as quarry slope stability and 

foundation design. It may be prudent to discuss these matters with the Building Regulations 

team to identify whether they place constraints on the development as proposed. 

 

Air Quality 

Because the development is not expected to result in a net increase of traffic compared to 

the existing baseline, then no air quality impact assessment is required for the operational 

development. (Although see proposed conditions below relating to commercial kitchen 

extraction and construction phase impacts). 

 

However any opportunities for the development to benefit air quality and sustainable transport 

more widely would be welcomed, for example making secure cycle parking and shower 

facilities available to those living or working nearby who do not currently have access to these. 

 

Nuisance Light Spill 

It is not expected that the ‘street lighting’ elements of the lighting scheme are likely to result 

in nuisance light spill, however any security lighting, service yard lighting etc may do. This 

includes the impact of lights from the car park which may affect the new residential units 

nearby. 

 

Please could any consent include the following condition, requiring this to be assessed? (if 

the developer would prefer to be able to discharge this condition in phases, it would be 

possible to word the condition to permit this). Please note that this assessment is to consider 

nuisance light spill, NOT the impact of the proposed lighting scheme on visual amenity. 

 

Page 93



 

 

 Prior to the commencement of the development an assessment of the impact of all 

external lighting associated with the development shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment should address the impact of 

nuisance light spill (including hours of use of the lights) on the nearest receptors. 

Thereafter the lighting shall be installed and maintained in accordance with the 

specifications within the assessment. 

Reason: to prevent nuisance light spill. 

 

ASB and Community Safety 

The development must aid and not hinder the ability for CCTV to monitor the area and should 

be designed to reduce anti-social behaviour. The advice from the police about Designing Out 

Crime is supported. Further advice from the Council’s CCTV operators should also be 

sought, if it has not already been so. 

 

CEMP 

Please could the following condition be included on any consent? 

 No development (including ground works) or vegetation clearance works shall take place 

until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall describe the 

actions that will be taken to protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living 

and/or working nearby. It shall include as a minimum provisions for: 

- Construction working hours and deliveries from 8:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 8:00 

to 13:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

- A noise and vibration management plan, including details of quantitative monitoring of 

noise and/or vibration to be conducted. 

- All plant and equipment based at the site to use white noise reversing alarms or a 

banksman unless agreed otherwise in writing in the CEMP. 

- No driven piling without prior written consent from the LPA. 

- A detailed proactive and reactive dust management plan, including details of 

quantitative monitoring of dust emissions. 

- No emissions of dust beyond the site boundary so as to cause harm to amenity of the 

locality. 

- No burning on site during construction or site preparation works. 

- All non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) based at the site shall be of at least stage IIIB 

emission standard (or higher if stage IIB has not been defined for the type of 

machinery) unless agreed otherwise in writing in the CEMP. 

- The site access point(s) of all vehicles to the site during the construction phase. 

- The areas for loading and unloading plant and materials. 

- The location of the site compound and details of how power will be provided to the 

compound (use of a generator overnight will not normally be considered acceptable). 

- The location of storage areas for plant and materials. This should include the location 

of stockpiles of topsoil and sub soil. 

- The erection and maintenance of securing hoarding, if appropriate. (Hoarding is to be 

kept free of fly posting and graffiti). 

- Arrangements for communication and liaison with local residents, including regular 

letter drops and a dedicated contact number for complaints. 

 

Page 94



 

 

The approved Statement shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period of the 

development. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or working 

nearby. 

 

Commercial Kitchen Extraction Systems 

Please could the following condition be included on any consent? The developer should be 

aware that fitting suitable smoke/grease/odour control systems into the historic pannier 

market may require particular thought, early in the design process. 

 Before the commencement of use of any commercial kitchen within the development, a 

scheme for the installation of equipment to control the emission of fumes and smell from 

that kitchen shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

The approved scheme shall be implemented in full and maintained in operation thereafter. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or working 

nearby. 

 

Food Safety 

Please could an informative be added to any consent as follows? 

 Although not matters contained within the scope of this application, the applicant should 

be advised to contact the Food Safety team (Food safety - Torbay Council) in order to 

ensure that the following items will comply with all relevant legislation, British Standards 

and guidance: 

- Food safety issues - design and layout of the kitchens including fixtures, fittings, 

storage and ventilation. 

- Refuse storage provision. 

- Adequate provision of WCs. 

 

Active Travel England (response dated 02/05/2025): 

Active Travel England has determined that standing advice should be issued and would 

encourage the local planning authority to consider this as part of its assessment of the 

application. Our standing advice can be found here: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-england-sustainable-

development-advice-notes  

 

Torbay Council’s Climate Strategy & Project Officer (response dated 30/05/2025): 

 I welcome the applicant’s submission of an energy statement that proposes a low carbon, 

climate resilient approach and in the completion of the LPA’s Sustainability Checklist 

within the appendices of the energy statement.  

 I note the proposal to install a solar PV array to offset the energy consumption of Block A, 

which I welcome. However, I note that there wasn’t a proposal for solar PV to be installed 

on the block B roof? I only note this due to the opportunity to further offset the energy 

consumption for Block B and support the efficiency of the communal heating system that 

has been proposed.  

 The Governments Future Homes Standard (FHS) is set to be introduced in 2025, which 

will require mandatory compliance. The FHS aims to significantly reduce carbon 

emissions in new homes, requiring a 75-80% reduction in carbon emissions compared to 

those new homes built under current regulations (Building Regulations Part L). The aim 

is to improve energy efficiency and reduce the environmental impact of housing by Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-england-sustainable-development-advice-notes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-england-sustainable-development-advice-notes


 

 

ensuring new homes use low carbon technology such as very high-quality building fabric 

(structural materials, insulation etc.), triple glazing standards and low-carbon heating 

through heat pumps.  

 I welcome the consideration of the embodied carbon of the residential sections under the 

principles of the UK Net Zero Carbon Buildings Standard (UKNZCBS). Note that these 

standards are voluntary and not required under current planning policies however, 

schemes which follow these standards will be given greater weight in terms of decision 

making and meeting the requirements of policy ES1.  

 

I suggest the following condition (or similarly worded);  

The applicant must provide a detailed energy and sustainability statements at the reserved 

matter stage(s). The statement will need to outline in detail the proposals that have been 

delivered to meet Policy SS14 and ES1 of the Local Plan. Drawing out specifically how the 

site;  

1. Conserves energy by reducing energy demand through siting and design. This includes 

the use of building orientation, layout and landscaping to optimise solar gain, ventilation 

and cooling;  

2. Uses energy efficiently within the fabric of the buildings;  

3. Uses on-site or near-site renewable technologies to achieve further reductions in carbon 

emissions.  

 

As a key part of delivering environmental sustainability in a holistic manner, this statement 

should also include the consideration of construction methods and materials, design, water 

consumption, waste management, travel planning and carbon offsetting.  

 

Reason: To meet policies SS14 and ES1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

Devon & Somerset Fire and Rescue’s Fire Safety Inspector (response dated 

19/05/2025): 

As the proposal will be subject to Building Regulations and the Regulatory Reform (Fire 

Safety) Order 2005, a statutory consultation will be undertaken between the Building Control 

Body and the Fire Authority.  

 

Under this process, the proposal must comply with the functional requirements of Approved 

Document B of the Building Regulations, to include access requirements for Fire Service 

Vehicles (B5). These include Vehicle Access, including minimum road widths, turning 

facilities for fire service vehicles and maximum reversing distances of 20 meters.  

 

In addition, the provision of appropriate water supplies for firefighting (Street Hydrants) 

including appropriate flow rates will need to be achieved. Information on this should be 

sourced from the National Guidance document on the provision of water for firefighting (3rd 

Edition; Jan 2007). 

 

NHS Devon Integrated Care Board (ICB) & Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation 

Trust (response dated 15/07/2025): 

Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust and NHS Devon ICB welcomes the 

opportunity to comment on the planning application for the proposed redevelopment of Union 

Square in Torquay. We are pleased to offer our support for the scheme, which we believe will Page 96



 

 

deliver significant benefits to the health and wellbeing of our local communities and play a 

key role in the regeneration of the town centre.  

 

We strongly support the proposal to include a GP surgery within the development as access 

to high-quality, local primary care is essential for improving health outcomes and supporting 

our ambition to provide more care closer to home. Locating a GP practice in such a central, 

accessible location will not only enhance convenience for patients but also help to reduce 

pressure on other parts of the health and care system.  

 

We see real potential for the Union Square development to support the wider transformation 

of local health and care services by providing modern, flexible accommodation that could 

accommodate integrated primary and community-based health and wellbeing services. This 

aligns with our strategic goals and those of the Integrated Care System and government to 

bring care into the heart of our communities.  

 

As plans evolve we would welcome the opportunity to continue working with the Council and 

development partners to explore how any future needs of the NHS could be accommodated 

within the development and how the design can best support inclusive access, healthy 

environments and long-term social value.  

 

The inclusion of a GP surgery in Union Square represents a meaningful and forward-thinking 

investment in local health infrastructure and we are pleased to endorse it as part of this 

important regeneration initiative. 

 

Historic England (response dated 12/05/2025): 

Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In this case we 

are not offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment on the merits of the 

application.  

 

We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological 

advisers. 

 

Historic Buildings and Places (response dated 08/05/2025): 

HB&P have no objections to the principle of the alterations to the Pannier Market and the 

separation of the building from the development to the rear will enable the building to once 

again be appreciated as a single structure, as it was originally constructed. We are content 

to defer to the advice of your conservation team to secure the necessary details and 

materials.  

 

While HB&P acknowledge the benefit to the setting of Pannier Market by the demolition of 

the rear buildings and the creation of the new town square, the proposed development facing 

Union Street lacks architectural ambition and undermines that objective. Despite the 

discussion in the design statement on pages 36 to 41 about the design evolution and taking 

cues from fenestration patterns, etc, the end design looks not dissimilar to many a standard 

student housing scheme across the country. It is out of scale with the surrounding 

development – which is a transition area between the conservation areas – and has little 

relationship to the surrounding built form or local character, which affects the established 

streetscape and setting around the market. This is a clear case where Chapter 12 of the Page 97



 

 

NPPF should be applied and the applicant asked to ensure the design reflects paragraph 

135, which states (with our underlined emphasis):  

 

135. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  

(a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 

over the lifetime of the development;  

(b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 

landscaping;  

(c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment 

and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change 

(such as increased densities);  

(d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, 

building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, 

work and visit;  

(e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 

mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local facilities and 

transport networks; and  

(f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-

being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users 51 ; and where crime and 

disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 

and resilience.  

 

The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to 

what the planning and development process should achieve. There is a real opportunity to 

improve this part of Torquay and re-establish the role of Pannier Market as a key local 

destination and a more appropriate and considered architectural solution is needed to ensure 

this development results in a genuine long-term benefit and wider regeneration of Torquay. 

 

Devon & Cornwall Police Designing Out Crime Officer (response dated 23/05/2025): 

The proposed development sits in the Neighbourhood Policing Beat area of Torquay Town 

Centre which in terms of demand for policing is in the top 5 beat areas of Devon and Cornwall 

and is currently the highest in the whole of South Devon Local Policing Area. With incidents 

such as assaults & violence, shoplifting, theft, criminal damage and anti-social behaviour 

among the highest. 

 

Conditions 

If planning permission is granted for this development, I would respectfully ask that the 

following conditions are in place for the development: 

 

That the design of the development shall meet the standards of Secured By Design and seeks 

the award. This is in the interest in designing out crime & crime prevention, in accordance 

with Policy DE1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

My rationale for this request is that the development sits within a policing neighbourhood beat 

area which sees some of the highest demand in Torbay, the immediate area suffers with anti-

social behaviour, it is therefore in the interest of preventing crime and disorder and the fear 

of crime to the potential tenants of both the commercial and residential aspects of the 

development. Page 98



 

 

 

Areas of Concerns 

Below is a summary of areas of concerns which I have highlighted there is further detail within 

the following pages. 

 The appeared unrestricted access to the rear of block B, especially the ground floor 

windows and doors from the proposed mews, street shrub and ornamental planting. 

 Lack of details of vehicle mitigation measures within the pathways and public accessible 

areas. 

 Seating located near to the multi-storey car park area within areas which lack natural 

surveillance. 

 The potential lack of improvement measures to the car parking levels of the MSCP. 

 

The information within section 10 of the Design Access Statement titled Community Safety is 

welcomed and I support the measures included within them. 

 

For ease of the reading, I will split this report into the blocks as stated within the submitted 

documents. 

 

Block A 

As the security element of the building regulations, namely Approved Document Q (ADQ), 

sits outside the decision making process for the planning authority the following is to inform 

the applicant:- 

ADQ creates security requirements in relation to all new dwellings. All doors that provide 

entry into a building, including garage doors where there is a connecting door to the dwelling, 

and all ground floor, basement and other easily accessible windows, including roof lights, 

must be shown to have been manufactured to a design that has been tested to an acceptable 

security standard i.e. PAS 24. 

 

As such it is recommended that all external doors and easily accessible windows are sourced 

from a Secured by Design (SBD) member-company List of Member Companies 

(Alphabetical). The requirements of SBD are that doors Accredited Product Search for Doors 

and windows Accredited Product Search for Windows are not only tested to meet PAS 24 

(2022) standard by the product manufacturer, but independent third-party certification from a 

UKAS accredited independent third party certification authority is also in place, thus 

exceeding the requirements of ADQ and reducing much time and effort in establishing 

provenance of non SBD approved products. 

 

Secured By Design is a free from charge police owned crime prevention initiative which aims 

to improve the security of buildings and their immediate surroundings in order to provide safer 

places and more secure places. 

 

It is welcomed that there will be a secure lobby area with CCTV coverage and access control. 

It is recommended that the access control system includes a visitor door entry system which 

will enable management oversight of the building. The technology by which access control 

system operates is outlined within UL 293 however it is recommended it also has the 

following:  

 Access to the building via the use of a security encrypted electronic key (e.g. fob, card, 

mobile device, key etc.) Page 99



 

 

 Vandal resistant external door entry panel with a linked camera 

 Ability to release the primary entrance doorset from the dwelling or bedroom. 

 Live audio/visual communication between the occupant and the visitor 

 Ability to recover from a power failure instantaneously 

 Unrestricted egress from the building in the event of an emergency or power failure 

 Capture (record) images in colour of people using the door entry panel and store images 

for as long as is necessary. The system should have the capacity to store images for at 

least 30 days. If the visitor door entry system is not capable of capturing images, then it 

shall be linked to a VSS or a dedicated surveillance camera shall be installed for this 

purpose. 

 All visitor and resident activity on the visitor door entry system shall be recorded and 

stored for as long as is necessary. The system should have the capacity to store images 

for at least 30 days. This information shall be made available to police within 3 days upon 

request 

 Control equipment to be located in a secure area within the premises covered by the VSS. 

 It is also recommended that the system has colour monitors which assist the occupier of 

the dwellings in identifying the visitor and will also assist in accurately describing them 

and their clothing in the incidents of any anti-social behaviour or those misusing the 

system. 

 

Please note I will not support a system which has a tradesperson or time release mechanisms 

due to the anti-social behaviour and unlawful access associated with these. 

 

The block must have a form of compartmentation to prevent anti-social behaviour, criminality, 

where this is not implemented it could have an impact on the sense of safety for residents 

due to the unrestricted access to all areas. Residents should have only access to their own 

floors and associated services such as waste and bicycle storage as an example. 

 

It’s recommended that the bicycle storage access doors form part of the access control to 

prevent theft of bicycles, the internal side of the doors should also have some form of 

emergency exit equipment such as a crash bar or thumb turn lock to prevent someone being 

inadvertently locked in. The bicycle stands and/or rack system should be certified to one of 

the minimum standard stated with SBD Residential Guide 32.6. 

 

Likewise, the external doors to the communal refuse bin should have some form of 

emergency exit equipment installed to the internal side of the external door. There should 

also be a self-closing and locking mechanism installed to the door, to prevent it being left 

open and insecure. The internal door leading from the refuse bin should form part of the 

access control so to prevent access into the residential unit from here. 

 

It’s welcomed the mail delivery is located near within the lobby but in a separate room, it’s 

recommended these doors are linked into the access control system. It should also be 

covered by CCTV. The mail and delivery boxes should be robust in construction, should 

incorporate an antifishing design and be fire resistant, there should be high security cylinders 

equipped that are not subject to a master key access. Individual letter boxes shall have a 

maximum aperture size of 260mm x 40mm. 

 
Page 100



 

 

Access to the roof must only be for authorised persons only, so the external doors from the 

lift lobby area should be locked or included in the access control system with separate access 

for maintenance staff. Likewise, any other access hatches should be lockable and certified 

to a security standard such as LPS 1175 Issue 8 or LPS 2081 as an example. 

 

If smart meters are not being utilised, then they should be installed in a location which does 

not introduce risk to the residential areas. 

 

To discourage charging of mobile phones and any accompanying anti-social gatherings in 

communal areas, all 13-amp outlets or dedicated USB charging points intended for use by 

cleaners and building maintenance staff shall be capable of being key locked in the off 

position to prevent misuse. 

 

It is welcomed and supported the 1.8m proposed railings around the communal private 

garden for the resident block. It’s recommended the gates have a self-closing and locking 

mechanism to ensure these gates are secured and prevent unauthorised access, it would 

also be beneficial if these gates were also linked into the access control system. 

 

The two bicycle and refuse stores within the communal garden area could reduce surveillance 

from the apartments and mews buildings due to their location in the middle of garden area. 

These must also be lockable and self closing to prevent inappropriate use. The internal doors 

must have some form of emergency egress equipment to allow for persons to exit should 

they be inadvertently locked in. 

 

Consideration should be given to planting a buffer zone to the ground floor flats which face 

into the communal gardens, so to prevent access right up to the windows and doors. This 

can be achieved by either defensible planting or railings installed to provide a 1m buffer zone, 

without this it increases the risk of anti-social behaviour or crime, and the fear of crime to the 

residents. 

 

Block B 

All ground floor windows should have window restrictors installed so to prevent reach in 

burglaries where an offender reaches in an open window and steals anything within reach. 

 

I have a concern for the rear of the block B dwellings as with the proposed mews street shrub 

and ornamental planting this could mean that people use this area in appropriately and also 

have free access up to the rear of the residential flats to block B. This is something I could 

not support as it could increase the risk of crime, anti-social behaviour and increase the fear 

of crime to the residents of these flats. I would recommend that there is a clear buffer zone 

between the rear of the units, this should be with either hedging or railings which could be at 

the height of 1.2m to clearly demarcate between private and public space. Or alternatively 

the dwellings could be re-designed to have the ground floor flats having their entrance facing 

onto the mews and this becomes a front garden for the mews with clear demarcation between 

public and private space. 

 

Block C 

It is appreciated that the tenants of the proposed units are at this stage not known. 

 Page 101



 

 

Where new doors are being installed it is recommended that these are tested and certificated 

products meeting a national security standard such as PAS: 24:2022. 

 

It is recommended that where any new ground floor and easily accessible glazing is being 

installed, it should incorporate one pane of laminated glass or glass tested to BS EN 356:2000 

(Glass in building. Security glazing. Testing and classification resistance against manual 

attack) to category P1A or above, unless it is protected by a roller shutter that meets national 

security standard, such as LPS 1175 Issue 8A1 or LPS 2081 as an example. 

 

It is recommended that a CCTV system is installed to the communal areas of Block C which 

public have access such as the stairwells and lifts etc. This is to prevent anti-social and 

criminal behaviour from occurring in these areas. 

 

It is noted that currently there is no improvements suggested for the car parking levels of the 

MSCP. However, it would be recommended lighting is assessed and where necessary 

brought up to the standards of BS: 5489:1 2020. The use of pale colour paint on walls or floor 

can assist in reflecting the light which could reduce the requirement for additional lighting 

fixtures. It would also be recommended that the parking bays and road markings are painted 

to be clear. I would recommend that suicide mitigation measures are considered for the car 

park levels, as there are some which have considerable high drops and prevent this becoming 

an issue. 

 

I would also recommend that the car park is brought up to the standards of the British Parking 

Association Park Mark Award and seeks the award, which will show that crime remains low 

and measures are in place to ensure the safety and security of people and vehicles. 

 

Block D 

It is welcomed that the proposed plans will provide natural surveillance onto the proposed 

new public open space and access routes. Having the new proposed doorways on the ground 

floor café will also bring an added level of legitimate activity within the area improving natural 

surveillance and potentially deterring criminal or anti-social behaviour, into the wider 

proposed scheme. 

 

Where new doors are being installed it is recommended that these are tested and certificated 

products meeting a national security standard such as PAS: 24:2022. 

 

It is recommended that where any new ground floor and easily accessible glazing is being 

installed, it should incorporate one pane of laminated glass or glass tested to BS EN 356:2000 

(Glass in building. Security glazing. Testing and classification resistance against manual 

attack) to category P1A or above, unless it is protected by a roller shutter that meets national 

security standard. However, its appreciated that some glazing will not be replaced due to the 

heritage listing, so therefore where glazing is not being replaced it would be recommended 

that where there is a sufficient internal reveal that secondary glazing certified to PAS24:2022 

as a minimum, is installed where possible. 

 

It would also be recommended that where possible wiring for CCTV and alarm system is 

installed so that future tenants of the proposed café and other parts of the market buildings 

have the option if they wish to install an intruder alarm, which will aid in deterring and Page 102



 

 

preventing unauthorised access. For police response, the system must comply with the 

requirements of the National Police Chiefs Council (NPCC) Security Systems Policy, which 

can be found at www.securedbydesign.com under the ‘Group Initiatives’ tab. Doing it at this 

stage could prevent any inappropriate wiring and fixture being on show which could impact 

on the visual aspect and heritage of the building. 

 

Public Open Space 

It is noted the footpaths are designed to be straight and wide which is welcomed as this will 

aid surveillance and prevent from people encroaching into others personal space. I would 

also ask that consideration for adopted areas are covered by Torbay Council CCTV. 

 

Lighting within the public open space area and footpaths should comply with BS 5489-1:2020. 

Landscaping and CCTV must be considered alongside the lighting regime to ensure they do 

not conflict each other. 

 

The seating being proposed should be robust and vandal resistant, its recommended that the 

main seating area close to the junction of Market Street and Union Street is covered by CCTV 

in the interest of deterring and preventing anti-social behaviour. I do have a concern with the 

two seats closest to the multi-storey car park, due to the lack of natural surveillance these 

could attract antisocial behaviour and effect the residents within block B. I would ask that 

these are either repositioned or removed. 

 

Consideration should also be given to the design of the seating so to prevent people from 

lying or sleeping on them. 

 

Where outside seating has been considered for the commercial units, these must be 

removable and be able to be stored within the commercial units to prevent them being used 

inappropriately to cause anti-social or criminal behaviour. 

 

It is appreciated that there will be servicing areas within the adopted areas of the public open 

space and walkways, however there should also be some form of vehicle mitigation bollards 

installed to prevent vehicles coming into contact with pedestrians. Having liaised with our 

Counter Terrorism Security Advisors they have advised the following: 

 Albert Road, - There should be means of stopping a hostile vehicle driving up this road 

beyond the proposed delivery access, with a line of bollards or similar behind the Pannier 

Market. 

 Outside the Commercial Unit Block A – Impact rated bollards alongside the area to the 

limit access by a vehicle veering off Union Street, this should be extended towards the 

park space below. 

 Public Open Space – In its current form it could permit hostile vehicle entry, use of 

landscaping (berms or substantial boulders) at the boarder to link up with trees and 

provide a defensible perimeter or use impact seating around the central core. The 

walkways should be impeded for vehicle access with bollards. Any protection should 

extend across to the pannier market structure. Impact rated bollards (to PAS170 standard) 

with space no more than 1.2m apart. 

 

Page 103



 

 

It would also be beneficial to consider anti-graffiti surface, or treatments are applied to 

surfaces, to prevent incidents of graffiti, which is seen in numerous places near the proposed 

development. 

 

Its also recommended that bicycle racks are appropriately secured with a ground anchor to 

a 300mm foundation base. 

 

I have consulted with the Neighbourhood Team, so they are sighted on the application and 

plans and their views have been factoring within this responses. 

 

SWISCo’s Senior Tree Officer (updated response dated 01/08/2025): 

I have reviewed the soft landscape details and would request a minor species revision from 

the applicant. 

 

Please would the tree planting be amended to three pairs of trees on the street frontage as 

per the annotated plan below. 

 

SWISCo’s Senior Tree Officer (original response dated 16/12/2024): 

No objections on arboricultural grounds subject to minor tree species revisions to trees in 

both private and public realm locations and provision of detailed soil rooting volumes. 

 

The application does not require any arboricultural enabling works due to the urban nature of 

the application area and complete absence of trees.  

 

The project proposes to deliver both high-quality private gardens and public realm provision 

which incorporates structural tree planting. The landscape objectives set out in the application 

are broadly acceptable and I am in agreement with these principles and their incorporation 

into the landscape scheme.  

 

The location of the planting is broadly acceptable and responds well to the proposed use of 

the various site elements.  

 

The public realm planting will provide framing to the pannier market and help with provision 

of urban greening in general. This is a valuable component of the scheme which will help to 

soften and fragment the built environment.  

 

My only concern with the public realm planting is the lack of species diversity, placing a 

reliance on Lime (Tilia) within the larger open space located on the corner of Union Street & 

Market Street. I understand that from a design perspective that uniformity of appearance with 

trees may be desirable, but is not essential in my view.  

 

Throughout Torbay we are experiencing issues with a plant pathogen (Phytophthora) which 

has colonised and killed young – mature lime trees in various situations e.g. streets, parks. 

A reliance on a single species lacks resilience to any potential existing or emerging plant 

pathogens and affords a level of risk to the long-term delivery of the structural tree planting. 

My suggestion would be to vary the trees to incorporate Lime (as proposed - T.cordata 

‘Greenspire’) but also to introduce Norway Maple (Acer platanoides (Emerald Queen or 

Olmstead) and Maidenhair (Ginkgo biloba), the latter of which thrives locally.  Page 104



 

 

 

The central tree is proposed as Scots Pine, which is a UK native conifer which does not 

perform well locally, and has a correspondingly shorter lifespan and future contribution. Tree 

species which would be suitable for the central planting location could include Dawn 

Redwood (Metasequoia glyptostroboides), Chinese Elm (Zelkova serrata) or Cork Oak 

(Quercus suber). Each of these trees grows well locally and they would offer various attributes 

well suited to the location. A single tree in the central location is appropriate.  

 

Birch is the dominant single species selected for the link walkway through to the west of the 

Pannier Market. Downy Birch has been specified for part of this route, but in my experience 

this tree favours damp or poor soils. This could be replaced with a cultivar of the UK native 

Silver Birch (Betula pendula ‘Tristis’). Birch is suited to this area, casting a dappled shade 

with small leaves which should not be problematic for street cleansing operations.  

 

Within the private garden areas, the use of local species of fruit trees to provide limited fruit 

production is a suitable use for the communal areas. The use of Rowan (Sorbus aucuparia) 

should be reconsidered as this tree is performing poor locally and replacement with the UK 

native Crab Apple (Malus sylvestris) is advisable. An ornamental Crab apple which performs 

well locally is Malus trilobata which merits consideration. 

 

The available soil rooting volumes will be key to the success of the public realm planted areas. 

No details on soil volumes has been provided, which should be evidence to clearly 

demonstrate the chosen tree species have adequate soil volume to ensure the trees achieve 

their species potential and maturity. Sufficient soil volume should be evidenced for the 

species selection, with references to published sources of information e.g. Greenblue Urban, 

TDAG etc.  

 

Where required, soil volume may be increased through the use of structural soils or crate 

systems. A detailed specification for any tree soil system must be provided and be suitable 

for the predicted loadings which might be experienced e.g. street sweepers, vehicles used 

for open space usage / events. If the open space is to form part of the highway and be 

adopted, sufficient engineering detail must be provided to support the eventual highway 

adoption process.  

 

Tree pit soil volume may also play a role in SUDs provision for surface water attenuation. Any 

technical design should clearly demonstrate that the tree pits will have adequate access to 

water without any risks of static water retention or permanent saturation.  

 

A technical specification for tree planting clearly stating soil depths (topsoil) and subsoils 

(including bulk densities) must be provided to show that any potential growing medium is 

available for tree root growth. The landscaping detail provided showing the method of tree 

support and underground guying is broadly acceptable.  

If approved, commuted sums for the maintenance and establishment of the trees in the public 

realm locations should be secured through a Section 106 agreement. Sums and duration of 

the agreement should be subject to further negotiation but are expected to cover a minimum 

25 – 30 year period. 

 

Recommendations Page 105



 

 

Further information is required to include:  

 Tree species amendments  

 Soil volume calculations (public realm)  

 Soil pit volumes / technical design of tree pits (crating systems or structural soils) -  where 

required  

 

SWISCo’s Green Infrastructure Manager (response dated 27/05/2025): 

This response is solely related to the development proposal of Union Square, Torquay for the 

delivery of 100 residential properties/units and does so without prejudice on CIL liability.  

 

Reference and advice relating to biodiversity net gain (BNG) and sports and play provision 

and the wider landscape setting or related LVIA, will be provided by the relevant department 

and sit outside of this response.  

 

Consultation with colleagues around the provision of benches, non-residential waste bins, 

non-highway path maintenance and street scene maintenance within the open space 

requirement will form part of any discussion.  

 

Benefits of Green Infrastructure  

Taken from the natural environment green infrastructure (GI) government guidance note the 

importance of GI is stated as; ‘Green infrastructure is a natural capital asset that provides 

multiple benefits, at a range of scales. For communities, these benefits can include enhanced 

wellbeing, outdoor recreation and access, enhanced biodiversity and landscapes, food and 

energy production, urban cooling, and the management of flood risk. These benefits are also 

known as ecosystem services.’  

 

In addition, GI can, and does, include ‘blue infrastructure’ e.g., streams, ponds, rivers and 

other water bodies.  

 

Torbay Local Plan Policies 

The policies under-pinning the need for open space and recreation in the adopted Torbay 

Local Plan 2012-2030. Policy SS7 Infrastructure, phasing and delivery if development and 

the related key Policies: Policy SC2 Sport, Leisure and Recreation Policy SC2 alongside SS9 

Green Infrastructure, Policy SS11 Sustainable communities and Policy DE1 Design  

 Policy SC2 Sport, leisure and recreation states that development should provide access 

to sport, leisure and recreation facilities according to the additional demand it generates 

and the capacity, condition and location of existing facilities.  

 The Affordable Housing and Planning Contributions SPD: Planning Contributions SPD 

(December 2022) – Section 4.6 sets out the approach for Open space and Recreation 

need and the consequent requirements for on-site and wider contributions.  

 

Assessment 

Reference to Section 4.6 Open Space, Sports and Recreation of the Planning Contributions 

SPD 2022 (https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/19102/planning-contributions-spd_2022.pdf) 

table 4.9 and 4.10 identify the framework for s106 requests. In particular, the cost of open 

space per dwelling as per table 4.9. 

 

Page 106



 

 

The proposed development is to provide 102 residential units. It is understood that 20% are 

affordable housing but have been included within the calculation as there is likely to be 

increased pressure on existing resources irrespective of housing allocation. 

 

Costs to be agreed formalised during planning process  

 

Please note the amount shown incorporates all elements of shown in the SPD and further 

detailed discussion may be required to disaggregate the contributions between the relevant 

sub – categories of open space and recreation etc.  

 

This should be proportionately reduced to take account of any on-site provision in negotiation 

with and the Green Infrastructure Team. 

 

Future Management of Open Space 

Without prejudice SWISCo would be seeking to take on the management of the open space 

provision for a period of 25 years. 

 

A review of the proposed management of open space identified a requirement for grass 

cutting/non-residential bin emptying/playground inspection/bench repair/non-highway path 

repairs. The annual cost of the works can be provided and will be plus RPI for 25 years. 

 

Torbay Council’s Conservation and Urban Design Officer (updated response dated 

03/09/2025): 

The comments below should be read in conjunction with those provided in response to the 

accompanying application for listed building consent (P/2025/0164). 

 

Select amendments have been made in response to the comments previously provided, as 

set out in the supporting cover letter. However, it is noted that not all of the points highlighted 

previously have been addressed. Where updated comments are not provided below, the 

initial response to the proposal should be taken as the view on these elements which have 

not been amended by the recently revised plans. For clarity, these are also summarised 

towards the end of this response. 

 

The amendments to the elevations and principally the materials, now with variations of grey 

and white brick, in the place of the previous facing materials, are a marked improvement on 

the previous design, with more relevance and a supporting strategy to break the massing 

with changes in materials and texture. The darker colour retained at the rear remains 

concerning, being universally applied, with limited visual interest given the expanse of this 

material. 

 Page 107



 

 

The amendments to lower the railings to 1.1m are another marked improvement on the 

previous design and presents a better interaction with the street. However, concerns with the 

inactivity of the Union Street frontage and the approach with a single point of entry and under-

build element remain. The site constraints, particularly with regards to surface water flooding, 

are acknowledged and present a significant challenge in providing alternative solutions. 

 

The proposed approach to conceal the under-build element with a trellis and climbing plants 

is an improvement on the original design. However, concerns remain with the inactivity this 

results in addition to the long-term maintenance challenges it introduces.  

 

Within the amended elevation drawings, a further notable amendment would include a new 

continuous angled roof to mews properties (Block B). No information or explanatory 

supporting information has been provided to establish why this change has occurred from the 

previous staggered massing. The alteration appears odd in the elevation drawings and 

without interpretation. 

 

Beyond these changes there appear to be no further amendments to the proposal. The 

remaining points raised in the previous respond still stand and can be summarised as the 

following: 

- The approach to handling the proposed height could be improved to better respond to the 

qualities of the townscape.  

- The red line includes the pavement and provides a great opportunity to interact with and 

influence the public realm. 

- It is not currently clear the extent that the proposals work with the wider masterplan or 

LCWIP - Torquay Town Trail.  

- It is not clear how the public realm improvements encourage active travel. Dedicated 

servicing layby provided, no cycle lane or integration with the existing cycle network. 

- It is not clear if there any additional street infrastructure requirements (lighting meter 

boxes, telecoms etc), wayfinding or measures necessary that would relate to the 

prevention of crime/terror related incidents. Absence of a strategy would likely impact the 

intended design quality of the spaces created. This is key to prevent pavement clutter and 

impacts on design quality and negative user interactions. 

 

Impacts on the setting of heritage assets 

The alterations proposed have not altered the proposal’s impact on the setting of the heritage 

assets identified. 

 

With regard to the Pannier Market, its setting has been much altered over time with former 

regeneration projects including the construction of the car park and Union Square shopping 

centre. The proposed loss of the adjacent buildings within the townscape, contemporary with 

the construction of the Pannier Market would result in harm to its significance, to a lesser 

degree in some cases due to lack of quality. The buildings proposed to be demolished provide 

a refence points in the evolution of this area of the town. 

 

Impacts on the Pannier Market 

Further information has been provided to support the concurrent application for listed building 

consent. The details of which are also relevant to this application. 

 Page 108



 

 

The submission of further details has addressed the previous lack of clear and convincing 

justification where harmful works would be carried out to the Pannier Market, and has 

provided a sounder evidence base, having also provided reasoned analysis of other buildings 

within this typology. 

 

Whilst indicative details have been provided regarding the proposed formation openings, this 

appears in the most part to relate solely to the West (rear) elevation. It is not currently clear 

if this is also the intended approach for the larger openings to be formed within the South 

elevation. Due to their scale these would likely require additional structural work and an 

alternative approach. The indicative detail is considered to lack the required quality and 

requires refinement, given the level of designation of the building. This could be resolved by 

the imposition of conditions. 

 

Further discussions have been held regarding the proposed painting of the building to resolve 

initial concerns, and the proposed approach is acceptable, and would present a more neutral 

and traditional appearance when compared to the existing hues of blue. 

 

Conclusions: 

The regeneration ambitions of the proposal are clear, although there will be a significant loss 

of townscape to facilitate this.  

 

The amendments to the proposal have improved the visual appearance of the Union Street 

block. As described above, several of the concerns and opportunities raised previously 

remain. 

 

Whilst the proposal would deliver some heritage benefits, I consider the proposed works 

would result in less than substantial harm to a moderate degree and this must be balanced 

against the public benefits that the proposal would deliver. 

 

It is vital to ensure that the phasing of the wider scheme is carefully considered to ensure that 

the justification put forward by the applicant for the harmful works can truly be realised. 

 

This conclusion has been reached with special regard/attention to the desirability of 

preserving and/or enhancing heritage assets or their setting in accordance with the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

 

I note the determination of this application is likely to be a finely balanced decision and without 

prejudice to the above comments, I would recommend that if you are minded to grant consent 

then the following conditions are necessary. 

 

Recommended conditions: 

- Schedule of works (inc repairs) and timetable for removal and works of reinstatement. 

This should include investigative works, repair and re-instatement of internal features 

where relevant. (Market) 

- Demolition Method Statement 

- Expert supervision (Market) 

- Hidden historic features. (Market) 

- Stone/masonry cleaning. (Market) Page 109



 

 

- Building recording. (Market) 

- Matching details. (Market) 

- Removal of redundant infrastructure/services. (Market) 

- Submission of details following demolition. (Market) 

- New openings. (Market) 

- Joinery details (Market) 

- Phasing. 

- Wayfinding and signage strategy 

- Materials 

- Boundary treatments inc. railings. 

- Public seating 

- Lighting design and strategy 

- Associated infrastructure 

- Hard and soft landscaping detailing inc. planting schedule. 

 

Should you have any questions regarding the above please do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

Torbay Council’s Conservation and Urban Design Officer (original response dated 

17/06/2025): 

The comments below should be read in conjunction with those provided in response to the 

accompanying application for listed building consent (P/2025/0164).  

 

The proposed/suggested use of part of the existing car park by the NHS will initially tether an 

element of the site into the wider context, although the certainty of their occupation at this 

stage is not abundantly clear at this stage. The role of Pannier Market and its intended 

relationship with the adjoining space in the scheme is still unclear. It is imperative that greater 

focus is given to this element as a piece of heritage-led regeneration to ensure the scheme 

is truly successful. The absence of a secure end use of the market is recognised as being a 

challenge, however it is concerning, particularly given the extent of works proposed to make 

this possible and to better integrate it into this area. An appropriate use, particularly for the 

southern end of the market building is particularly key to ensure that the new openings are 

not purely for aesthetic purposes and the space created around the market supports its 

function.  

 

The street spaces created would be relatively well overlooked by adjacent residential 

development, although the proximity and intervisibility between the mews properties may 

simultaneously create tensions associated with residential amenity.  

 

Whilst the cycle network has been mapped, it is not currently clear how the proposal would 

integrate with the existing cycle network running adjacent to the site and if those travelling by 

bicycles would be invited into and through the created public spaces. The inclusion of the 

pavement within the red line boundary provides a clear opportunity to enhance and 

strengthen the pedestrian and cycle infrastructure in this area, in line with the aims of the 

LCWIP. Cycle parking for proposed NHS use is provided for visitors, dedicated provision for 

staff appears absent.  

 

Page 110



 

 

Private cycle infrastructure within the scheme is well considered but the single point of access 

to the apartments, presents a single point of failure with regards to crime and also results in 

large distances from a number of apartments, reducing the likelihood of use.  

 

The changes in level have not been designed in a way that does not compromise the qualities 

of the street. The progressive disparity between the street level and the finished floor level 

facing Union Street is inconsistent with the local built form and urban grain. The vast 

difference between the street level and internal ground floor level will also sterilise the ground 

floor of the development, preventing any further adaptations or an evolution of the building in 

the future. The block structure and unilateral expanse of external finish is not reflective of the 

general pattern of bay/building widths within the area. The precedent studies referenced all 

have active ground floors and smaller scale, a core principle which this proposal has 

disregarded. Juliet balconies at ground floor level are a questionable inclusion. The single, or 

limited points of access, in this instance located towards on end of the block creates overly 

long internal corridors that lack a sense of place or destination. This is clearly contrary to the 

quoted desire to reinforce Union Street as a lively high-street.  

 

The commercial corner plot is successful in addressing the public space in addition to being 

relatable to prevailing building heights locally with a 4-storey frontage, rising to 5 storeys 

behind. This should be the model for dealing with the additional and uncharacteristic height 

within the wider proposal. The general lack of response to local context results in the 

appearance being relatively generic, without a distinctive locally derived character.  

 

The overall form of the main residential block lacks recognition of the local character of the 

townscape which has a much finer grain. The proposed spandrel panels draw the eye 

upwards, accenting the perceived and potentially excessive verticality of the elevations. The 

use of green/glazed bricks is alien to the area, and suggested links to the devon flag are too 

generalistic, and do not compliment the local context. Blue brindle brick is out of character 

and context, making the already shaded elevations appear darker still. Reconstituted stone 

lacks the required quality.  

 

There appears to be an absence of human scale detail on the Union Street elevation and in 

general at ground floor level. The proposed interaction with the public realm on Union Street 

is poor, with the provision of high railings/fence adjacent to the footway, creating a largely 

inactive frontage following the creation of an uncharacteristic set back behind the established 

building line. The red line includes the pavement and provides a great opportunity to interact 

with and influence the public realm.  

 

It is not currently clear the extent that the proposals work with the wider masterplan or LCWIP 

- Torquay Town Trail. It also is not clear how the public realm improvements encourage active 

travel as no additional cycling infrastructure besides Sheffield stands are incorporated in the 

proposals. Dedicated servicing layby provided, no cycle lane or integration with the existing 

cycle network.  

 

It is not clear if there any additional street infrastructure requirements, wayfinding or 

measures necessary that would relate to the prevention of crime/terror related incidents. This 

should be carefully woven into the wider scheme and not be retrofitted, which would likely 

impact the intended design quality of the spaces created. It is also not clear where the Page 111



 

 

associated infrastructure to support the development would be located(meter boxes telecoms 

etc). This is also key to prevent pavement clutter and impacts on design quality and negative 

user interactions.  

 

The suggested build quality/standard is also currently ambiguous and currently lacks detail. 

A “good standard” is identified, which is disappointing.  

 

Impacts on the setting of heritage assets  

Largely I agree with the conclusions of the submitted heritage statement, that the proposal is 

unlikely to impact the setting of the adjacent identified Conservation Areas (Upton, Abbey 

Road, Warberries) or their special interest.  

 

Similarly, I concur that the proposal would result in a neutral impact to the setting of The Old 

Sessions House Grade II Listed building  

 

With regard to the Pannier Market, its setting has been much altered over time with former 

regeneration projects including the construction of the car park and Union Square shopping 

centre. The proposed loss of the adjacent buildings within the townscape, contemporary with 

the construction of the Pannier Market would result in harm to its significance, to a lesser 

degree in some cases due to lack of quality. The buildings proposed to be demolished provide 

a refence points in the evolution of this area of the town.  

 

Impacts on the Pannier Market  

External.  

 SOUTH. Removal of attached buildings is welcomed. Further details relating to the 

methods to be used are recommended to be secured. The inclusion of two new large 

round headed openings within the newly revealed South Gable, re-orientating the 

building, will significantly impact its historic and architectural values. There is also an 

evident lack of detail of how these openings will be formed and detailed. Whilst the 

removal of the existing attached structures and extensions would result in enhancements, 

the new openings in the South gable would result in harm to a moderate degree.  

 Elevation to be painted white above the plinth. Similarly applied to all other elevations. No 

current refence or understanding of original colour(s) if they existed at all. A change from 

blue is welcomed but painting over the rubble stone inset pieces is not ideal. Recommend 

that the stonework should have its existing painted finish removed and the necessary 

repairs to pointing carried out where necessary. It may be appropriate for the pilasters 

and other details to receive paint as accents if there is evidence. Exposed render is the 

likely historic situation. Where existing, exposed stonework should be revealed rather than 

painted.  

 

 WEST. New alterations to the West elevation lack detail with regards to the formation. 

These are significant invasive alterations considering the size and location of existing 

openings and the alternative locations/ aperture sizes proposed. Again, a lack of joinery 

details. Whilst the removal of the existing attached structures and extensions would result 

in enhancements, the new openings in this elevation would result in harm to a moderate 

degree.  

 The proposed interventions would not be limited to those absolutely necessary, with a 

new access door provided in isolation. Whilst the removal of the extensions to this Page 112



 

 

elevation are welcomed, further details are required to adequately assess if the proposed 

works in their entirety would be acceptable.  

 Recommend reconsideration of the fenestration to remove avoidable interventions. 

Joinery details to be secured upfront or by suitably worded and phased condition.  

 

 EAST. Whilst the existing shopfront are not an original feature, they do provide evidence 

of the evolution of the building. The proposal indicates opportunities to enhance the 

special interest of the building. However, no details are provided to substantiate this, and 

these are understood to potentially be included at a later stage in a subsequent application 

for listed building consent. No weight can therefore be given to these elements within this 

current application until such a point such details are provided.  

 

 NORTH. From reviewing the submitted documents, it is understood that an existing 

opening is to be infilled with blockwork. No further details have been provided at this stage. 

No assessment has been provided within the submitted heritage statement on this 

element. Further information and justification are required if this is to be included as this 

would clearly be harmful.  

 

 ROOF. It is currently unclear if the proposal involves the replacement of the roof. The 

removal of the internal suspended ceiling would reveal the roof structure allowing it to be 

appreciated which can be seen as a measurable enhancement. The existing roof covering 

is not original nor is it of historic value. The underside of the existing corrugated covering 

has been sprayed with a foam covering which would be exposed when the suspended 

ceiling is removed.  

 Whilst removing the internal suspended ceiling and revealing the roof structure would lead 

to some enhancements, further clarification is required regarding the roof and any 

associated works. Recommend the roof covering is replaced at this stage to address this.  

 

Conclusions:  

The application appears to require revisions and further information to fully understand the 

implications of the proposal.  

 

The regeneration ambitions of the proposal are clear, although there will be a significant loss 

of townscape to facilitate this.  

 

There are concerns with the design of the main Union Street block and how it interacts with 

Union Street both in its architectural design, its response to context and in its negative 

relationship at street level. Further clarification is also required on a number of detailed 

elements that relate to the functionality of the proposal.  

 

Whilst the proposal would deliver some heritage benefits, the submitted impact assessment 

does not quantify the resulting harm or enhancements that in their view the proposal would 

deliver, it is stated simply that “the harmful impacts are balanced by the benefits” and that the 

proposal sustains the significance of the Market. An exact balance is unlikely. I consider the 

proposed works would result in less than substantial harm to a moderate degree and this 

must be balanced against the public benefits that the proposal would deliver.  

 

Page 113



 

 

It is vital to ensure that the phasing of the wider scheme is carefully considered to ensure that 

the justification put forward by the applicant for the harmful works can truly be realised.  

 

I recommend that the application is not determined until further information has been provided 

as above to provide the information necessary and to resolve the concerns raised above. 

Conditions to be discussed following the receipt of additional information.  

 

This conclusion has been reached with special regard/attention to the desirability of 

preserving and/or enhancing heritage assets or their setting in accordance with the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

 

Environment Agency (updated response dated 31/07/2025): 

We have reviewed the information submitted for which we received two consultation 

requests- dated 4th July and 14th July. In light of the information submitted, we are able to 

remove our objection to the proposal, subject to the inclusion of conditions on any permission 

granted which secure the implementation of flood risk mitigation. Suggested wording for 

these conditions are provided below:  

 

Condition – Levels  

The topographical levels should be built in accordance with drawing TQUS-CDY-XX-XX-D-

C-0020 P01. No alterations to site levels shall take place that would adversely affect the 

conveyance of floodwater or reduce floodplain storage without prior written approval of the 

Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Environment Agency.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants. 

 

Condition – Finished Floor levels  

All residential units within Block A shall have finished floor levels set no lower than 16.21m 

AOD, providing a minimum of 600mm freeboard above the lowest adjacent ground level.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants.  

 

Condition – Flood Resistance and Resilience  

The development shall incorporate flood resistance and resilience measures as outlined in 

the FRA TQUS-CDY-ZZ-XX-T-C-0003. These measures shall be installed prior to occupation 

and retained thereafter.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants.  

 

Following a review of the supplementary Technical Note on Flooding (50452w0021), we are 

now satisfied that the flood risk matters previously raised have been adequately addressed 

and therefore our objection is withdrawn. We recommend the above conditions be attached 

to any planning permission granted. 

 

Environment Agency (original response dated 20/05/2025): 

In the absence of an acceptable Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) we object to this application. 

 

Reason Page 114



 

 

The submitted FRA does not comply with the requirements for site-specific flood risk 

assessments, as set out in paragraphs 20 to 21 of the Flood Risk and Coastal Change 

planning practice guidance and its site-specific flood risk assessment checklist. The FRA 

does not therefore adequately assess the flood risks posed by the development. In particular, 

the FRA fails to: 

 Consider how people will be kept safe from the identified flood hazards, particularly in 

relation to flood depths and modes of flooding associated with rivers, the sea, surface 

water and sewer surcharge. Consider how a range of flooding events, including extreme 

events, will affect both residential and commercial property. 

 Consider the requirement for flood emergency planning, including flood warning and 

evacuation, for a range of flood events up to and including the extreme event. 

 Take the impacts of climate change into account: 

- There is no assessment of the impact of climate change using appropriate climate 

change allowances. In particular, flood levels including allowances for climate change 

have not been used to define the necessary finished floor levels in both commercial 

and residential property 

 Mitigation measures included in the design are inadequate because they will not make 

the development resilient to future flood levels over its lifetime. Specifically, the 

development proposes insufficient: 

- For raised finished floor levels in residential development we require a minimum 

freeboard of 600mm above the design flood level with climate change. In commercial 

units we would expect to see some freeboard or robust mitigation measures. 

- No clear evidence is provided to demonstrate safe access and egress, with routes 

remaining usable during a flood event. Information for the duration of potential flood 

and full breadth of site-specific data has not been used to inform access and egress 

section. 

- Resistance and resilience measures based on potential flood depths from all flood 

sources. 

 Additionally, the FRA needs to incorporate CDA requirements and information from the 

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA), which provides local context on flood hazard 

and potential impacts. This will support a more robust understanding of the site 

vulnerability. 

 

Overcoming our objection 

This redevelopment is an opportunity to address flood risk issues and deliver sustainable 

development in Torquay. To overcome our objection, the applicant should submit a revised 

FRA which addresses the points highlighted above. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, we need to see cross-sectional drawings demonstrating how 

proposed finished floor levels, for both residential and commercial units, relate to street/road 

levels and predicted flood depths. If this cannot be achieved, we are likely to maintain our 

objection. 

 

Torbay Council’s Drainage Engineer (responses dated 28/07/2025 and 29/05/2025): 

I can confirm that I have no objections on drainage or flooding grounds to planning permission 

being granted, provided that, infiltration testing is undertaken in accordance with BRE365 at 

the proposed location and invert level of the soakaways prior to development to confirm 

whether infiltration techniques such as soakaways are suitable. Page 115



 

 

 

South West Water (response dated 28/05/2025): 

Asset Protection 

Please find enclosed a plan showing the approximate location of public 225mm and 300mm 

combined sewers in the site. No development will be permitted within 3 metres of the sewer 

and ground cover should not be substantially altered. 

 

Should the development encroach on the 3-metre easement, the sewer will need to be 

diverted at the expense of the applicant. 

 

Further information regarding the options to divert a public sewer can be found on our website 

via the link below:  

https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/sewerservices-

connections/diversion-of-public-sewers 

 

There is also a 100mm water main in the site. No development will be permitted within 3 

metres of the water main. The water main must also be located within a public open space 

and ground cover should not be substantially altered. 

 

Should the development encroach on the 3-metre easement, the water main will need to be 

diverted at the expense of the applicant. 

 

Further information regarding the options to divert a public water main can be found on 

our website via the link below: 

www.southwestwater.co.uk/developer-services/water-services-andconnections/diversion-of-

water-mains/ 

 

Surface Water Services 

The applicant should demonstrate to your LPA that its prospective surface run-off will 

discharge as high up the hierarchy of drainage options as is reasonably practicable (with 

evidence that the Run-off Destination Hierarchy has been addressed, and reasoning as to 

why any preferred disposal route is not reasonably practicable): 

1. Water re-use (smart water butts, rainwater harvesting, grey flushing toilets) 

2. Discharge into the ground (infiltration); or where not reasonably practicable, 

3. Discharge to a surface waterbody; or where not reasonably practicable, 

4. Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or where 

not reasonably practicable, 

5. Discharge to a combined sewer. (Subject to Sewerage Undertaker carrying out capacity 

evaluation) 

 

The applicant indicates infiltration testing has not been possible as existing buildings are still 

on site. They propose to undertake such testing when demolition is complete. Should testing 

show infiltration is viable, they propose to use soakaways and attenuation crates before 

discharging to the SWW combined sewer. 

 

Should infiltration prove unviable, the applicant proposes to attenuate via crate before a 

controlled discharge to the SWW combined Sewer. 

 Page 116

https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/sewerservices-connections/diversion-of-public-sewers
https://www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/sewerservices-connections/diversion-of-public-sewers


 

 

For both these approaches, agreement will be required from SWW to make connections to 

our network. 

 

It is noted for those parts of the site not to be demolished drainage provision will remain as 

existing. 

 

South West Water response relates to surface water discharge to our network, where the 

discharge is from buildings and yards belonging to buildings. Where the applicant has 

highlighted that the surface water does not connect to South West Water network, we are not 

commenting on this as it is not our responsibility. 

 

South West Water has no duty to accept land drainage runoff, flows from natural 

watercourses or groundwater to the public sewer system, and this is not permitted to 

discharge to the South West Water network. The applicant should make alternative 

arrangements to deal with this separately during the development and once the construction 

work is complete. 

 

South West Water are not responsible for Highway Drainage and our comments do not relate 

to accepting any of these flows. The applicant should discuss and agree with the Highway 

Authority, where the highway water connects to. 

 

If the applicant wishes to connect this development to the South West Water network, they 

should engage with us separately to see if we can accommodate this. No highway drainage 

will be permitted to be discharged to SWW foul or combined public sewer network either 

directly or indirectly. 

 

If the applicant is looking to have their sewers adopted (surface and foul), they should design 

and construct the sewers to the current version of the Design and Construction Guidance. 

The process for doing this can be found on South West Water’s website. 

 

Clean Potable Water 

South West Water is able to provide clean potable water services from the existing public 

water main for the above proposal. The practical point of connection will be determined by 

the diameter of the connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the company’s 

existing network. 

 

Foul Sewerage Services 

South West Water is able to provide foul sewerage services from the existing public foul or 

combined sewer in the vicinity of the site. The practical point of connection will be determined 

by the diameter of the connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the 

company’s existing network. 

 

The applicant can apply to South West Water for clarification of the point of connection for 

either clean potable water services and/or foul sewerage services. For more information and 

to download the application form, please visit our website: 

www.southwestwater.co.uk/building-and-development/services/pre-developmentservices 

 

Page 117



 

 

SWISCo’s Waste (Strategy & Performance) Team Manager (response dated 

14/07/2025): 

I have no objection to this development. Sufficient information has been submitted within the 

planning application for waste and recycling arrangements. Kat advises me that the applicant 

has followed Building Regulations H6.  

 

The plan also notes that they will liaise with local waste collection providers to make sure 

collections are convenient and no disruption is made to the residents. I can also see access 

points provided within the plan for waste collection providers to stop and make access. 

 

Wales & West (response dated 07/05/2025): 

Our records show those pipes owned by Wales & West Utilities (WWU) in its role as a 

Licensed Gas Transporter (GT). Service pipes, valves, syphons, stub connections, etc. may 

not be shown but their presence should be anticipated. No warranties are therefore given in 

respect of it. They also provide indications of gas pipes owned by other GTs, or otherwise 

privately owned, which may be present in this area. This information is not information of 

WWU and WWU is unable to verify this information or to confirm whether it is accurate or 

complete. 

 

WSP on behalf of the Highway Authority (updated response dated 28/05/2025): 

Site Description 

The site is the existing Union Square shopping centre, located off Union Street in the north 

west of Torquay town centre. Union Street is one-way in a southbound direction between 

Castle Circus and Market Street. On-street parking for blue badge holders is located on the 

majority of the eastern edge of Union Street, accompanied by loading bays and taxi waiting 

bays. An approximate 50m bus layby is also located on the east of Union Street which 

comprises two sheltered bus stops. An advisory cycle lane is located adjacent on the on-

street bays. The footway on both sides of Union Street is wide, with a minimum width of 

approximately 2.5m. 

On the site’s other boundaries are Market Street to the east, Castle Lane and an existing 

multistorey car park (MSCP) to the north and Castle Road to the west. Market Street is a two 

way arrangement enabling access to commercial and residential units. The street also 

provides access to Albert Road loading bay (for the shopping centre) and Union Square 

MSCP. 

 

Site History 

In addition to the pre-app comments given by the Highway Authority in March 2025, a design 

review panel meeting was also held in November 2024. 

 

Policy 

The Highway Authority previously commented that the TA must include a Vision Led 

approach as per NPPF. The TA has not specifically detailed a vision for the site, however it 

has referenced the vision for Torquay as set out in the Torbay Local Plan and Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan. Due to the site’s location and sustainable accessibility, the applicant 

states that the proposed development is considered to be in accordance with relevant local 

and national planning, development and sustainable transport policies and envisions the 

concept of a 20-minute neighbourhood. 

 Page 118



 

 

Traffic Impact  

Trip Generation - Flats privately owned 

The Highway Authority previously commented that the trip rates appeared low which could 

have been attributed to a limited number of survey dates. It was recommended that full TRICS 

outputs be provided within the TA. Previously, vehicle trip rates were provided.  

 

The TA has provided total person trip rates demonstrating a total of 48 movements in the AM 

peak and 74 movements in the PM peak, stating that these trips would be accommodated on 

foot, cycle or public transport. It is noted however that the appended TRICS outputs show the 

same rates which the Highway Authority previously considered to be low, demonstrating that 

there would be 9 vehicle trips in the AM peak and 8 in the PM peak. The TRICS outputs show 

that the surveys include sites in Carlisle, Manchester and Nottingham which are dissimilar to 

Torquay. Nevertheless, the trip generation appears reasonable for a car free development. 

 

Trip Generation - Commercial retail 

The draft TA previously suggested that there would be a total of 12 trips in the AM peak and 

27 trips in the PM peak for 10,473sqm for commercial space. The resubmitted TA states that 

no net change in traffic will result from the proposals due to only an increase of 100sqm being 

proposed compared to the existing shopping centre use. No comparative trip generation 

exercise has been conducted. In principle, the approach is suitable. However, a net trip 

generation assessment would improve the robustness of the approach.  

 

Highway Safety  

The TA has provided collision detail for January 2019-December 2023 for an area comprising 

the highway surrounding the site. 19 collisions occurred in total, of which four were serious 

and involved two pedestrians. However, the collisions occurred at different locations and 

cannot be attributed to any specific highway safety concern. 

 

Design Considerations 

Highway Adoption  

As mentioned in the previous pre-app response, the Highway Authority will look to continue 

to maintain the existing public highway once the development is completed, as shown below. 

However, the Highway Authority does not intend to adopt the internal access routes within 

the site. 

 

It was previously requested that the applicant submits a drawing with the existing public 

highway boundary shown on the proposed development layout. This does not appear to have 

been provided.  

 

The non-highway elements of the site shown as green on DWG TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-

90100 indicate areas for adoption, however the Highway Authority does not intend to adopt 

anything provided beyond the existing adopted highway and/or the internal routes. 

 

Pedestrian and Cycle Access 

The TA states that there will be a number of potential pedestrian access points to the site in 

order to strengthen pedestrian permeability within the wider local area, in keeping with the 

aspirations to develop a ’20-minute neighbourhood’. Site plans show that pedestrian and 

cycle access can be achieved from Market Street and Union Street.  Page 119



 

 

 

Cycle Parking  

The TA states that cycle parking will be provided at a rate of 1 space per flat and 2 spaces 

per mews house, which is line with the requirements within Appendix F of the Torbay Local 

Plan. Cycle parking for the mews houses is proposed within two separate secure lockups, 

whilst cycle parking for the flats is proposed within the building. However the location of the 

cycle store within the flats is not clear. This should be clarified by the applicant. The 

arrangement for the mews houses is suitable.  

 

For the commercial use, it is stated that the units will provide Sheffield stands in a highly 

visible, well lit location, suitable for short term parking. However, the location of these stands 

is not specified. The applicant should confirm the number of cycle spaces for the commercial 

uses and the intended location. The applicant should also consider provision for non-standard 

cycles. Sheffield stands with a tapping bar are recommended. 

 

Public Transport Access  

The site is considered to be well located for access to public transport with bus stops on 

Union Street and Market Street located less than 100m from the site. Torquay train station is 

also reasonably located an approximate 22 minute walk to the south west.  

 

The applicant should consider whether any bus stop improvements are required, particularly 

the requirement for Kassel kerbing at locations on Market Street.  

 

Vehicular Access and Car Parking  

It is understood that the development is to be car free and that any additional demand on 

parking generated by the proposed development will be accommodated in the existing public 

car parks. In the recent meetings, the Highways Authority raised a concern that car parking 

is a contentious issue and requested that the applicant speak with the Torbay Council Parking 

Services team to understand whether future residents could be offered resident permits in 

the multi-storey car park, alongside extending the car park opening times.  

 

The applicant has not considered car parking, stating that this will be sorted through private 

arrangements should residents wish to park in the MSCP, where parking permits are 

available. No consideration has been made to the operational timings of the car park and how 

this may impact residents access abilities. Further discussions between the applicant and 

Torbay Parking Services are required to understand how any parking for the proposed site 

would be managed within the MSCP due to opening times which are not 24 hours. It is 

understood that the development aims to be car free and there are minimal vehicle trips 

forecast, however there will be some demand for parking for both residents and visitors.  

 

Refuse / Servicing / Emergency Access  

Ground Floor Service Charge & Adoption Areas drawing TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-90100 

shows servicing for residential uses and café will be on Union Street, whilst servicing for the 

Pannier Market will be on Market Street. The Pannier Market and the NHS block will also be 

serviced using Albert Road as per the existing arrangement. This arrangement is shown 

below. 

 

Page 120



 

 

The TA states that underutilised taxi bays on Union Street will be relocated to enable a 

repurposing of use for servicing vehicles, however it is not clear where these taxis bays are 

proposed to be relocated. This should be clarified. The applicant should consider whether the 

existing TROs on Market Street are suitable to enable loading, and should also be aware that 

any changes to existing TROs are to be funded by the developer.  

 

It is also unclear how the bin stores for the mews houses are to be accessed by the waste 

collection team. Figure 2.4 in the TA shows the mews houses bins are located centrally within 

the site, beyond recommended drag distances, and on land which will not be adopted by 

Torbay Council.  

 

Due to the internal layout not being adopted, a Condition could be recommended to ensure 

all access routes are kept clear and suitably retained for emergency access.  

 

The previous response to the draft TA mentioned that the Torquay Town Trail within the 

LCWIP could see Union Street closed to motor traffic. Therefore, any access arrangement 

strategy should consider the potential unavailability of this location and propose an alternative 

solution. The TA states that the proposals will not present any obstacles to the LCWIP plans 

but has not provided an alternative arrangement for loading on Union Street. The Highway 

Authority are satisfied with this proposal in this interim period. 

 

Travel Plan  

It was previously commented that the Outline Travel Plan should endeavour for a greater 

increase in walking and cycling trips than the 8.9% shown after 5 years, and that car trip 

mode share should be reflective of the final car parking arrangements. The TA demonstrates 

that the existing portion of the working and residing population within Torbay 008 MSOA who 

walk and cycle is 29.3%, thus demonstrating that the 8.9% increase in walking and cycling 

trips through Travel Plan measures would meet the requirements of Policy TA2 in the Local 

Plan. It is also noted that the share of travel by sustainable modes would be even greater 

when considering public transport. The Travel Plan ambitions are therefore considered 

suitable.  

 

The applicant states that a Full Travel Plan specific to the end occupiers will be prepared 

once known and can be delivered through planning condition. The Full Travel Plan and 

Monitoring and Evaluation will be required, and secured in a S106.  

 

Flooding  

The Planning Statement notes that the majority of the site is located within Flood Zone 1 

according to the government’s flood risk map for planning. However, the frontage of the site 

onto Union Street is located in Flood Zone 3 (high risk of flooding) and parts of the site falls 

within a Flood Risk area designated in the adopted Local Plan.  

 

Planning Obligation  

The Local Highway Authority will seek the necessary 278 works or S106 planning 

contributions that are essential to make the scheme acceptable in planning terms. Please 

also refer to the adopted Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary 

Planning Document, Section 4.3 for the framework of seeking additional Sustainable 

Transport contributions for major schemes (PCAH SPD Page 121



 

 

(https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/local-plan/spd/) and Table 4.3. 

As a major proposal, a £5,000 contribution is required for this application.  

 

Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP)  

A CTMP would be required through a suitably worded planning condition at the necessary 

stage.  

 

Conclusion  

Several comments have been made in relation to the proposals which should be addressed 

before a positive recommendation can be made. These comments largely relate to the cycle 

parking, servicing/refuse collection arrangements, and adoption proposals. The applicant 

should also note that the Highway Authority does not intend to adopt beyond the existing 

HMPE land. 

 

Devon County Council’s Principal Ecologist (updated response dated 20/08/2025): 

No objection (with conditions).  

 

I have reviewed: Shadow HRA: Test of Likely Significant Effects and Appropriate Assessment 

(FPCR, August 2025), which was submitted to address my previous comments with regards 

to the potential effects of the development on Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine SAC due to 

changes to Water Quality – specifically to address the requirements of Torbay Local Plan 

Policy W5 ‘Wastewater Disposal’. I am satisfied with the submitted HRA and suggest Torbay 

Council as the Appropriate Authority under the Habitats Regulations, adopt the document as 

their HRA. As an Appropriate Assessment was conducted as part of the HRA, Natural 

England must be consulted prior to determination.  

 

Bat Roosts: The full survey results were provided, and “Five small, common pipistrelle day 

roosts were present within buildings east of the main Union Square Shopping Centre 

entrance off Union Street (rear of buildings occupied by ‘Nexus Games’ and ‘Costa’). These 

are all small, seasonal roosts of low conservation status.” Acceptable outline of the mitigation 

requirements was provided in the report, and I am satisfied that Natural England are likely to 

grant a licence. Suggested condition below.  

 

Nesting Bird details: following my request for further information, four herring gull nests were 

confirmed on the roof top. There is agreement with my previous response in the report that 

while the effects of the proposals on birds are not significant, dealing with herring gull and 

other bird nests on urban building demolitions can cause issues for developments if not 

properly considered. Nesting Bird Mitigation Plan condition suggested to deal with this.  

 

Enhancements: In my previous response, I did not raise enhancements. They are proposed 

in the Ecological Appraisal, but there is limited detail. I have suggested a pre-commencement 

planning condition below.  

 

Suggested Conditions:  

1. All demolition and construction activities must comply with the bat mitigation measures 

detailed in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.12 of the Bat Survey Report prepared by FPCR (dated 

August 2025), unless otherwise agreed with Natural England through the bat mitigation 

licensing process. No licensable works affecting bats or their roosts may begin until a bat Page 122



 

 

mitigation licence has been issued by Natural England. If circumstances change and a 

bat licence is no longer required where one was previously deemed necessary, written 

confirmation must be obtained from the Local Planning Authority before any such works 

commence.  

 

Reason: To ensure the protection of bats and their roosts, which are legally protected 

under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  

 

2. Prior to the commencement of any demolition works, a Nesting Bird Mitigation Plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 

plan shall thereafter be implemented in full.  

 

Reason: To safeguard nesting gulls and other urban species protected under the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).  

 

3. Prior to the commencement of development, an Ecological Enhancement Plan shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 

include details of the number, type, and location of faunal enhancement features, 

specifically swift boxes, house sparrow terraces, bat boxes, and insect bricks, all of which 

shall be integrated into the fabric of the building (e.g. built-in or flush-mounted units). The 

approved measures shall be installed prior to the occupation of the development and 

retained thereafter.  

 

Reason: To enhance ecological value and support protected and priority species through 

the provision of targeted faunal features, in accordance with the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF), Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 

2006, and local biodiversity objectives. 

 

Devon County Council’s Principal Ecologist (original response dated 30/05/2025): 

An Ecological Appraisal (FPCR, 2025) was submitted with the application, as well as a 

Biodiversity Net Gain metric. The application site is entirely urban, with very few opportunities 

for habitats and protected species. This is reflected in the findings from the desk study and 

survey work, with nesting birds and bats identified as the only onsite considerations.  

 

Bats: The bat roost inspection identified presence of low and medium potential bat features, 

but the report notes that roosts of high conservation status are unlikely to be present. The 

report also highlighted records of lesser horseshoe near the complex. Further survey to 

classify the potential features is being undertaken. The standing advice from Natural England 

to LPAs is not to decide on planning applications until you have received all the necessary 

surveys (excluding exceptional cases and certain situations). The report states the surveys 

are being undertaken “during the determination period”, suggesting the information should 

be available soon.  

 

Additional information request: Please can the bat nocturnal survey results be provided.  

 

Nesting Birds: Based on the site visits to date, active herring gull nests were recorded. Herring 

gull are a Priority Species and a red listed bird of conservation concern as they have declined Page 123



 

 

significantly, particularly from their natural nesting habitats. Urban herring gulls, however, are 

abundant and not a conservation concern locally. Ferrel pigeon were also identified as likely 

nesting, as well as potential for some other common urban species such as pied wagtail.  

 

All birds are a legally protected while nesting, which can present problems for urban 

demolition projects such as this and result in delays.  

 

The standard approach of demolition outside the nesting season, or following a nesting bird 

check, was proposed as mitigation during demolition. In my view, securing a more robust 

plan is required since if demolition does take place in the nesting season, it will be more 

complex than a standard nesting bird check. To give the constraint some more context, 

please can the number of gull nests be confirmed?  

 

Additional information request: number of nesting herring gulls.  

 

Condition - A pre-commencement Demolition Nesting Bird Management Plan to be submitted 

and approved by the LPA. Could caveat that it is only required if demolition takes place during 

the nesting bird season (March to September inclusive).  

 

Protected Sites  

European sites and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Consideration  

An HRA is required for the proposals.  

 

Lyme Bay and Torbay Marine SAC was shown within the mapping, but not mentioned 

elsewhere in the report; however, I consider it here. The Torquay Local Plan HRA and 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan HRA screen in a Likely Significant Effect on the SAC from the 

potential impact of the future growth areas on water quality. Waste Policy W3 outlines what 

is required to satisfy a conclusion of no adverse effect on the integrity of the marine SAC. 

Confirmation of this will be required for Torbay Council to conduct their HRA as Competent 

Authority.  

 

South Hams Bat SAC (approx. 8km from site) was identified in the report. The main urban 

areas of Torquay that includes the site, are outside the SAC consultation zones. A Likely 

Significant Effect as a result of the proposals on the SAC can be screened out in the HRA.  

 

Biodiversity Net Gain  

As explained in the ecology report, the application is exempt from the statutory Biodiversity 

Gain Objective because the De Minimus threshold has not been met. An informative that 

states the application is exempt from the BNG objective should be included in the decision 

notice.  

 

At the council’s request, a BNG assessment was still provided and a high percentage net 

gain score of 875% has been predicted. This is a positive of the project and welcomed; 

however, please note that BNG is only really useful for determining if a development delivers 

at least a 10% increase in biodiversity value relative to the pre-development biodiversity value 

of the onsite habitat. The large figure is therefore not a reflection or overall biodiversity value, 

and a 1.1 unit increase.  

 Page 124



 

 

Urban Greening Factor is a more appropriate metric for these situations, and the views of 

landscape officers/urban designers more important than an ecology perspective. 

 

Planning Officer Assessment 

 

Key Issues/Material Considerations 

 

1. Principle of Development 

2. Design and Visual Impact  

3. Impact on Heritage Assets 

4. Residential Amenity 

5. Highways, Movement and Parking  

6. Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees 

7. Flood Risk and Drainage 

8. Designing Out Crime 

9. Low Carbon Development and Energy 

10. Affordable Housing 

 

1. Principle of Development 

 

The proposal is for the partial demolition of the existing Union Square Shopping Centre, the 

demolition of 9 no. commercial units fronting on Union Street and Market Street and the partial 

demolition of modern additions to the Pannier Market. The proposal is for the redevelopment 

of the application site to provide residential development (99no. units) with associated 

amenity space, the creation of a new Class E commercial unit, the repurposing of the retained 

shopping centre floorspace sited below the existing Union Square Multi-Storey Car Park 

(MSCP) for Class E uses and associated external alterations, external works to Pannier 

Market, creation of a public square and associated development infrastructure and works. 

 

The Neighbourhood Forum strongly supports the principle of this development in providing 

much needed housing, and restoration of the Pannier Market.  

 

Housing 

 

The proposal involves the formation of 99no. apartments which includes a mixture of 1-bed 

and 2-bed apartments. The site is a critical regeneration opportunity in the heart of Torquay 

Town Centre. Policies SDT1 and SDT2 of the Local Plan support the regeneration of key 

town centre locations to strengthen Torquay’s role as a commercial and social centre for 

residents and visitors. Since the original submission, the number of residential units has been 

revised from 102no. to 99no. following concerns relating to daylight and sunlight levels to 

habitable rooms. The supporting Design and Access Statement provides the evolution of the 

scheme including an overview of the feasibility work undertaken to find the maximum potential 

for the site. 

 

Paragraph 61 of the NPPF outlines that to support the Government’s objective of significantly 

boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can 

come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements 

are addressed and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay. Page 125



 

 

 

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF promotes the effective use of land in meeting the need for homes 

and other uses. Paragraph 125 of the NPPF presents clear support for the principle of using 

land effectively to meet the need for homes and guides that decisions should give substantial 

weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes. It also 

promotes support for the development of under-utilised land and buildings, especially where 

proposal would help to meet identified needs for housing.  

 

Policy H1 of the Local Plan states that proposals for new homes within the Strategic Delivery 

Areas will be supported subject to consistency with other policies of the Plan and subject to 

nine criteria, notably including the need to provide a range of homes to meet the objectively 

assessed needs and maintain a rolling 5-year supply of deliverable sites. 

 

Policy SS11 of the Local Plan states that development will be assessed against its 

contribution to improving the sustainability of existing and new communities within Torbay. 

Development proposals will be assessed according to whether they create a well-connected, 

accessible and safe community, protect and enhance the local natural and built environment, 

and deliver development of an appropriate type, scale, quality, mix and density in relation to 

its location. As the application site is within the Torquay Town Centre Community Investment 

Area, Policy SS11 states that development proposals should provide a good standard of 

residential accommodation and there should be resistance to changing the use of homes to 

houses of multiple occupation, therefore a planning condition is recommended to removal 

permitted development rights from C3 to C4. 

 

Policy TS4 of the Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals for brownfield sites 

will be supported, providing there are no significant adverse impacts, having regard to other 

policies in the Plan. Policy TS1 of the Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals 

should accord with policies contained in the Neighbourhood Plan, where relevant, unless 

material planning considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

The Government published the most recent Housing Delivery Test in December 2024. 

Torbay’s result is 66%. The Council have recently reported that their housing land supply 

figure has decreased to 1.72 years through a recent planning appeal (ref: 

APP/X1165/W/24/3354507). The Housing Delivery Test requires that the presumption in 

favour of sustainable development and a 20% buffer be applied as per Paragraph 11 of the 

NPPF.  

 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states: 

 

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

 

For decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 

delay; or  

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date [Footnote 8], granting permission 

unless:  

Page 126



 

 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance [Footnote 7] provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having 

particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making 

effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, 

individually or in combination [Footnote 9]. 

 

Footnote 7: The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in 

development plans) relating to: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 194) and/or 

designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green 

Space, a National Landscape, a National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as 

Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets 

of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 75); and areas at risk of flooding or coastal 

change. 

 

Footnote 8: This includes, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations 

where: the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 

housing sites (with the appropriate buffer as set out in paragraph 78); or where the Housing 

Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75% 

of) the housing requirement over the previous three years. See also paragraph 232.  

 

Footnote 9: The policies referred to are those in paragraphs 66 and 84 of chapter 5; 91 of 

chapter 7; 110 and 115 of chapter 9; 129 of chapter 11; and 135 and 139 of chapter 12. 

 

Whilst government guidance pulls in somewhat different directions, there is a clearly stated 

government objective of boosting the supply of housing. Policies SS3 and SS13 of the Local 

Plan also set out a presumption in favour of sustainable development separately to the NPPF. 

Accordingly, the presumption in favour of sustainable development is applied to applications 

involving the provision of housing.    

 

Under the presumption, permission should only be refused where either: 

i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect designated heritage assets 

provides a strong reason for refusal (i.e. the “tilted balance” at Paragraph (d)i) or 

ii. The impacts of approving a proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies of the Framework taken as a whole, 

having particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable 

locations, making effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing 

affordable homes, individually or in combination (i.e. the “tilted balance” at Paragraph 

11(d)ii).  

 

Development plan polices are taken into account when assessing whether the harm caused 

would “significantly and demonstrably” outweigh the benefit.   

 

According to Footnote 8 and Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF the policies within the 

Development Plan which are most important for determining the proposal are out-of-date. 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development indicates that planning permission 

should be granted unless one of two circumstances apply. It is considered that neither limb Page 127



 

 

within Paragraph 11(d) applies and therefore the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development applies and the tilted balance is engaged.  

 

Policies SS3 and SS13 of the Local Plan also set out a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development separately to the NPPF. 

 

Torbay has a pressing need to identify more housing land. There is a very severe shortage 

of developable greenfield sites, and even allocated sites face viability and topography 

challenges. Torbay has not achieved the target numbers in the Local Plan, due in part to 

brownfield regeneration sites not coming forward. The original proposals for the 

redevelopment of Union Square saw approximately 250no. residential units, however the 

current proposal seeks approximately 990no. residential units. Town centre sites have 

complex constraints and there is a strong case for public-private sector intervention to seek 

to overcome these obstacles. It is noted that there are viability issues relating to the site, as 

well as deliverability matters that have limited the height of the proposed development. The 

evolution of the scheme, including the quantum of development, has been clearly outlined 

and justified within the supporting documents. 

 

Town centres are often the most sustainable location for development, as they are close to a 

range of services, amenities and facilities, therefore minimising the need to travel by private 

motor vehicle. It is also important to note that increasing residential accommodation in town 

centres will also help regenerate those areas and support retail and other commercial uses. 

 

Town Centre 

 

The regeneration of town centre areas is very strongly supported in the Local Plan, and the 

Council’s Principal Policy and Project Planner has stated that this principle will almost 

certainly be carried over into the emerging Local Plan. Objectors have raised concerns 

regarding the impact of the proposal on the town centre. 

 

Paragraph 90 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should support the role 

that town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a positive approach to their 

growth, management and adaptation. Paragraph 90 of the NPPF goes on to state that policies 

should recognise that residential development often plays an important role in ensuring the 

vitality of centres and encourage residential development on appropriate sites. 

 

Paragraph 94 of the NPPF requires for retail and leisure development outside town centres, 

which are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, an impact assessment if the 

development is over 2,500 square metres or a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold. 

The NPPF confirms that the assessment should include:  

a. the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private 

investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; and  

b. the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local consumer 

choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail catchment (as applicable to the 

scale and nature of the scheme). 

 

Policies SDT1 and SDT2 of the Local Plan provide a broad framework for Torquay Town 

Centre. From a policy perspective, achieving a successful redevelopment of the area is Page 128



 

 

strongly supported by the Development Plan. Policy SDT1 seeks to provide at least 824no. 

dwellings in the town centre.  

 

Policy SDT1 of the Local Plan states that Torquay is and will remain the primary commercial 

centre of Torbay. Harbourside and town centre sites will be developed for appropriate mixed 

uses, and the re-use of space within buildings for residential accommodation will be 

supported. The urban areas will be improved and renewed, with strong support for family 

homes. Regeneration, comprehensive redevelopment and large-scale investment will ensure 

that the town centre and Torquay Harbour areas evolve as the principal town centre and the 

centrepiece of a modern, prosperous and sustainable Torbay, whilst conserving or enhancing 

the historic and natural environment.  

 

Policy SDT2 of the Local Plan states that Torquay Town Centre will develop as the largest 

retail and leisure centre of the Bay and become the key sub-regional retail and leisure 

destination. This will help provide an improved, vibrant and more enjoyable shopping and 

leisure environment with better high street retail, eating and leisure facilities. Furthermore, 

regeneration of key sites will help strengthen its role as a commercial and social centre for 

residents and visitors, whilst conserving or enhancing the area’s historic character and 

environmental value. Developments within Torquay Town Centre and Harbour areas should 

comprise a mix of suitable town centre uses and help to increase substantially the numbers 

of town centre homes during the Plan period. 

 

Policy TC1 of the Local Plan also supports town centre regeneration. Both Union Street and 

Albert Road running through Union square are primary shopping areas and frontages. Market 

Street is secondary frontage. Policy TC2 of the Local Plan identifies the application site as 

being located within a primary shopping area and at the top of the shopping centre hierarchy. 

Policy TC4 of the Local Plan seeks such frontages to be “predominantly” Use Class A1. 

However, the Government made major changes to the Use Classes Order and from 

September 2020 the site would fall into Use Class E “Commercial, business and service” use. 

It is noted that initial proposals sought to retain retail uses to the ground floor, however it is 

physically evident that this section of Torquay Town Centre has many vacant retail units that 

have remained such for several years. The ground and first floors of the Union Square MSCP 

have been vacant since Wilkos left the premises, the lawful use of those floorspaces is Class 

E, such will be retained through the proposals for Block C.  

 

The Neighbourhood Plan aspiration for the town centre, includes a desire to increase 

residential accommodation. Policy TS2 of the Neighbourhood Plan outlines that major 

development proposals within the town centre will be supported where they contribute to 

meeting the objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan for these areas and they conform to the 

area wide Master Plans adopted by the Council where those Master Plans are in compliance 

with the policies of the Plan. 

 

The Council adopted the Torquay Town Centre Masterplan in June 2015. This does not 

specifically highlight the Union Square area but is nevertheless supportive of town centre 

regeneration. The Council have a draft Torbay Regeneration Vision document which is 

anticipated to be formally adopted by the Council in 2025. The vision identifies a series of key 

principles for Torquay’s Regeneration Vision, including: 

 Reduce the size, enhance and strengthen the Retail Core; Page 129



 

 

 Encourage mixed use, residential neighbourhoods to the north 

 Encourage more street activation; A market, street food, entertainment and events. 

 Change the perception of Torquay from ‘seaside destination’ to ‘Vibrant Coastal Town’ 

 

The Torbay Regeneration Vision document recommends reducing the retail core and 

encouraging retailers to relocate from Union Street to Fleet Walk to provide critical mass of 

retailers to ensure vitality in the long term. The current high levels of vacancy along Union 

Street can, over time, be converted into mixed use residential neighbourhoods, with Union 

Square Shopping Centre including the frontages on the corner of Union Street and Market 

Street, being identified as potential site for mixed-use neighbourhood. 

 

Although not a formal development plan document, the Torquay Regeneration Vision helps 

deliver several key Torbay Community and Corporate Plan 2023-43 objectives, including the 

Pride in Place priority to “Draw investment into our towns and breathe life into our town 

centres, partnering with the private sector to deliver major projects”. It will also assist with the 

delivery of affordable housing and jobs which will also meet Community and Corporate Plan 

objectives”. As a document that helps deliver these Corporate objectives it is a further 

material consideration in favour of the development.  Although the emerging Local Plan is at 

an early stage of preparation, advice from the Planning Policy team is that the emerging Local 

Plan will need to lean heavily into the Corporate and Community Plan objectives, and in 

particular will support key urban regeneration projects as a major source of housing and 

boosting the Bay’s economy.    

 

The application is supported by a Town Centre Assessment. Torquay Town Centre remains 

the principal centre in Torbay, however as recognised in the Torbay Retail Study its turnover 

has declined in recent years. Torquay is facing challenges from vacant retail floorspace, 

created by retailer failure or retailers downsizing or rationalising their property portfolio. The 

GOAD category report for Torquay town centre, based on centre survey undertaken in June 

2024, identifies 108 vacant units, equivalent to 24.0%. This compares to the national average 

of 14.2% (June 2024). Increased vacancy rates impact upon the attractiveness of a centre 

both in terms of public perception and investor / retailer confidence, and in the case of 

Torquay includes some significant vacant units including the former Debenhams department 

store, former Wilko unit, and the former New Look unit.  

 

With regards to Union Square Shopping Centre, there are 19no. units within the Union Square 

Shopping Centre, of which 10no. units (53%) are currently vacant, equating to 4,332 square 

metres gross floorspace. Such is caveated, as the Council own the Union Square Shopping 

Centre and given the aspiration to redevelop the site, so some units have remained vacant 

as the Council currently seeking short duration lets which are not attractive to all occupiers. 

Also, some existing tenants have opted to remain in the space instead of relocating. The 

Council have offered significantly reduced rents to entice existing tenants to vacate. 

 

The supporting Town Centre Assessment outlines the retail floorspace relating to the Union 

Square Shopping Centre: 

 

 Existing net commercial (retail and service) floorspace within Union Square Shopping 

Centre – 6,772 square metres 

- 2,628 square metres is active Page 130



 

 

- 4,114 square metres is vacant  

 Existing net commercial (retail, service and leisure) floorspace within units to be 

demolished on Market Street and Union Street – 1,477 square metres 

- 1,230 square metres is active 

- 247 square metres is vacant  

 

The proposal seeks to demolish 3,958 square metres of existing commercial floorspace 

within Union Square Shopping Centre and 1,477 square metres within units on Market Street 

and Union Street. The proposal involves the creation of a new commercial unit within Block 

A, the repurposing of the former Wilkos store on the ground and first floors of the Union 

Square MSCP (4,401 square metres) and the retention of the existing commercial floorspace 

within the Pannier Market (1,370 square metres at ground floor and 897 square metres at 

mezzanine). 

 

The supporting Town Centre Assessment  has estimated that the proposed demolished 

floorspace would equate to a loss of 5.7% of the total floorspace within Torquay Town Centre. 

The Assessment assessed the retail impact of the proposed development based on three 

scenarios, outlines that whilst the proposal will have a negative impact upon the retail turnover 

of the town centre, this is considered to be limited at -1.1%. The Torbay Retail Study confirms 

that Torquay Town Centre has been declining for a number of years and it is likely that the 

level of active commercial floorspace and turnover of the centre will continue to decline, which 

will have a negative impact on the vitality and viability of Torquay Town Centre. The 

supporting Town Centre Assessment considers that the proposal will lead to a transformation 

change to the northern end of the town centre which will assist in stemming the decline of the 

town centre. 

 

It has been demonstrated that whilst the proposed development may result in a minor 

negative impact on Torquay Town Centre retail turnover in quantitative terms, however there 

is no evidence to indicate that the development would have a ‘significant adverse impact’ 

upon the vitality and viability of Torquay Town Centre. 

 

The proposed development will result in many benefits, including the introduction of 

residential development to the top of Torquay Town Centre, which will generate additional 

retail and leisure expenditure within the town centre. The proposal will deliver a new NHS 

facility in a sustainable and accessible location. The proposal will provide significant 

investment to Torquay Town Centre, which will assist in boosting the confidence of other 

businesses and investors, visitors and shoppers within the town centre. The proposal will 

retain the existing use of the Pannier Market and will deliver enhancements to the listed 

building. The proposal will be a catalyst at helping the town centre evolve and adapt to 

consolidate the retail uses towards the southern end of Union Street and Fleet Walk whilst 

provided much needed housing. Other seaside tourist towns are experiencing regeneration 

projects, the proposal will help Torbay compete with other tourist destinations.  

 

2. Design and Visual Impact  

 

It is important to note that achieving good design is a central thread within national guidance 

and Part 12 of the NPPF “Achieving well-designed places” offers key guidance on this. 

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable Page 131



 

 

buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 

achieve. Paragraph 131 goes on to state that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 

development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development 

acceptable to communities. In addition, paragraph 139 states that “development that is not 

well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and 

government guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and 

supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes.”.  

 

Similar design expectations are engrained within the Development Plan through Policies 

SS11, DE1 and DE4 of the Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the Neighbourhood Plan. Policy DE1 

of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed against their ability to meet design 

considerations such as whether they adopt high quality architectural detail with a distinctive 

and sensitive palette of materials and whether they positively enhance the built environment. 

Policy DE4 of the Local Plan outlines that the height of new buildings should be appropriate 

to the location, historic character and the setting of the development. Policy DE4 of the Local 

Plan asserts that new development should be constructed to the prevailing height within the 

character area in which it is located, unless there are sound urban design or socio-economic 

benefits to justify deviation from this approach. Policy TH8 of the Neighbourhood Plan requires 

that developments be of good quality design, respect the local character in terms of height, 

scale and bulk, and reflect the identity of its surroundings. 

 

In terms of the proposed development, there are 4no. blocks of built development, these 

include: 

 Block A – Five-storey mixed use building fronting Union Street, featuring a ground floor 

commercial unit and 85no. residential flats.   

 Block B – Two-storey Mews style building positioned parallel to the Pannier Market, which 

includes 14no. residential flats. 

 Block C – Existing Union Square Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP), will maintain existing 

451no. car parking spaces and provide 4no. new commercial units across the ground and 

first floors within former Union Square Shopping Centre floorspace. 

 Block D – Pannier Market, Grade II listed building, which the proposal seeks the restoration 

and reopening of the market building. 

 

Objectors have raised concerns to the proposed development regarding the impact have on 

the local area, it not been in keeping with the local area, it setting an unwanted precedent, it 

resulting in an overdevelopment of the site and it having a negative visual impact/design. 

 

Block A is a five-storey mixed-use building fronting Union Street, which slightly varies in height 

to lend itself to the topography of Union Street. Block A is arranged in an L-shaped 

configuration to respond to the adjacent quarry face to the rear. Block A will contain a 

commercial unit to part of its ground floor as well as providing 85no. residential flats. As Block 

A gets closer to the Pannier Market (Block D) it steps down to four storeys. Whilst Block A will 

be larger than the existing Shopping Centre, the proposed height of Block A is considered to 

be acceptable when considering other existing built form in the nearby vicinity, namely Union 

House which is six storeys with rooftop parking. The Conservation and Urban Design Officer 

has raised that the proposed height could have been improved to better respond to the 

qualities of the townscape. 

 Page 132



 

 

Block A also includes a small section of landscaping / external amenity space to the ground 

floor frontage to provide an element of defensible space. It is considered that the proposed 

ground floor openings of Block A do not respond to the topography of Union Street, as the 

building progresses down Union Street towards the proposed ground floor commercial space 

contained within Block A, the openings on the ground floor of the adjacent residential units 

would be approximately 2.2 metres above street level. The matter was raised during the pre-

application enquiry and the applicant has justified their approach by stating that if the principal 

elevation followed the topography, it would require individual front doors which would conflict 

with the single entrance strategy that supports security, management and accessibility. 

 

The proposed materials for Block A have been revised during the lifetime of the application. 

The amendments to the elevations and principally the materials, now include variations of 

grey and white brick, in the place of the previous plain and bland facing materials, which are 

a marked improvement on the previous design. Such is considered acceptable given it being 

more relevant and assists at supporting to break the massing with changes in materials and 

texture. The proposal includes a darker colour retained at the rear, however such is being 

universally applied, with limited visual interest given the expanse of this material. Planning 

conditions are recommended to secure details of such to ensure a suitable material and height 

boundary treatment is provided and appropriate landscaping in this pocket of green space. 

 

The revision also sought to amend the principal boundary treatment for Block A, lowering the 

proposed railings from 1.8 metres to 1.1 metres, which is considered an improvement on the 

previous design and presents a better interaction with the street. However, concerns do 

remain with regards the inactivity of the Union Street frontage and the approach with a single 

point of entry and under-build element remain. The applicant has provided justification for 

such, including the site constraints, particularly with regards to surface water flooding, which 

are acknowledged and present a significant challenge in providing alternative solutions. The 

proposed approach to conceal the under-build element with a trellis and climbing plants is an 

improvement on the original design. However, concerns remain with the inactivity this results 

in addition to the long-term maintenance challenges it introduces in terms of maintaining 

suitable landscape whilst contending with litter and surface water.  

 

Block B is a two-storey Mews style building that includes 14no. residential flats would be 

positioned parallel to the Pannier Market (Block D). This element of the proposed 

development has evolved significantly during the lifetime of the proposals. The proposed 

building would provide a staggered echelon position, running parallel with the Pannier Market 

to provide a naturally surveyed walkway. Block B mimics the style and character of Block A 

and is therefore considered to be acceptable, whilst providing a careful transition in height 

between the new and historic elements of the application site. Block B would include a 

continuous angled roof which has been revised from the original scheme. The Conservation 

and Urban Design Officer has commented that this revision has been made without any 

information or explanation. 

 

Block C is the existing Union Square MSCP, the proposal seeks to make alterations to the 

ground and first floor of the building where Wilko previously operated. The lower levels of 

Block C are consumed by the existing Union Square Shopping Centre when viewing the Multi-

Storey Car Park from Union Street. The proposal involves the demolition of the existing 

Shopping Centre to enable the Union Square MSCP to be a stand-alone building. During pre-Page 133



 

 

application discussions, the applicant was recommended to make improvements and 

enhancements to the higher levels of the Union Square MSCP, however this has not been 

pursued. It is unfortunate as such would have provided many benefits, including a more 

visually attractive piece of built form, reduce the anti-social behaviour activities and encourage 

visitors to park there. The proposed and suggested use of the ground and first floors of the 

building will be for the NHS.  

 

Block D is the existing Pannier Market which dates back to 1852 and the frontage was altered 

shortly after in 1865 to incorporate shops. The building is a Grade II listed building which is 

currently used for commercial uses. The proposal includes the demolition and associated 

works to adjoining structures to the south and west elevations of the Pannier Market including 

the removal of internal fixtures. All elevations which have existing painted areas of stonework 

are to be re-painted in white. No areas of stonework that are currently unpainted will be 

painted or otherwise treated. The proposal includes the creation of 2no. arched openings 

placed centrally in either gable and 2no. single, fire escape door openings on the southern 

elevation. The proposal also includes the existing ground floor openings will be infilled and 

the creation of 5no. arched window openings and 1no. single fire escape door opening on the 

western elevation. The proposal does not include any changes to the north and east 

elevations. A listed building consent application (ref: P/2025/0164) has been made 

concurrently. 

 

The Neighbourhood Forum expressed major concerns about the original design of the 

proposed development, however in their updated response they have confirmed that the 

majority now accept the design. The supporting Design and Access Statement outlines that 

the proposal’s site strategy priorities active frontages, pedestrian connectivity and urban 

cohesion, ensuring that new interventions are seamlessly integrated with the existing town 

centre grain while delivering a legible and well-defined urban framework. The proposal is for 

the demolition of the existing Union Square Shopping Centre to reconfigure the land use to 

assist in the long-term sustainability of the remaining retail offer in Torquay Town Centre. In 

terms of the proposed street spaces such would be relatively well overlooked by adjacent 

residential development.  

 

The proposed development is considered to respond sensitively to the existing urban form 

while delivering an appropriate scale and density for a town-centre site. The applicant 

previously undertook feasibility work to identify the potential capacity of the site which was up 

to 250no. units, however such would have required much larger buildings. It is considered 

that the proposal respectfully reflects the existing built form and that the scale and massing is 

considered to be acceptable. Therefore, the proposal for 99no. units provides a suitable 

balance between housing delivery and placemaking. 

 

The existing site does not include any soft landscaping. The proposal includes a landscape 

strategy that responds to the local character and reflects both the coastal setting of Torquay 

along with its natural rock formations. Within the proposed development, the use of boulders 

within planting schemes provide visual focal points and elements for seating, play and 

interaction. The proposal has also been carefully designed to provide framed views towards 

the quarry rock faces (between Blocks A and C) to reinforce the sense of place. The proposal 

also incorporates a public square and market space that will provide a landscaped central 

square that will pose as a flexible space for market events and outdoor café seating, provide Page 134



 

 

a visual landscape and focal point, as well as introducing soft landscaping to the built 

environment. A planning condition is recommended to secure appropriate street furniture, 

including elements such as seating, wayfinding, signage and bins. 

 

3. Impact on Heritage Assets  

 

Policy SS10 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed, amongst other things, in 

terms of the impact on listed and historic buildings, and their settings, and in terms of the need 

to conserve and enhance the distinctive character and appearance of Torbay's conservation 

areas. Policy HE1 states that development proposals should have special regard to the 

desirability of preserving any listed building and its setting, or any features of special 

architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Policy TH10 of the Neighbourhood Plan 

outlines that alterations to listed buildings will be supported where they safeguard and enhance 

their historic qualities and elements according to their significance. In doing so, proposals which 

at the same time contribute to providing a sustainable economic future for such buildings will be 

particularly supported. 

 

It is also incumbent on the Authority, in exercising its duties, under the provisions of The 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (Section 66(1)), to have special 

regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 

architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and (Section 72(1)), to pay special 

attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 

conservation area. 

 

This statutory requirement needs to be considered alongside the NPPF which recognises that 

heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest 

significance.  

 

Paragraph 210 of the NPPF goes onto to state that in determining applications, local planning 

authorities should take account of:  

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 

them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 

communities including their economic vitality; and  

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 

distinctiveness.  

 

Paragraph 212 of the NPPF considers that “when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 

to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 

be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss 

or less than substantial harm to its significance”.  

 

Paragraph 213 of the NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 

heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 

require clear and convincing justification.  

 

Page 135



 

 

Paragraph 215 of the NPPF outlines that where a development proposal will lead to less than 

substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 

viable use.  

 

The application site is not within but is in close proximity to several Conservation Areas 

(Upton, Abbey Road, Torquay Harbour and Warberries). The application site also includes 

the Grade II listed Pannier Market and is in close proximity to The Old Sessions House which 

is also a Grade II listed building.  

 

The application has been supported by a Built Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment. The Council’s Conservation and Urban Design Officer has been consulted on 

the application and agrees with the conclusions of the supporting Heritage Statement, that 

the proposed development is unlikely to impact the setting of the adjacent Conservation 

Areas (Upton, Abbey Road, Warberries). The Officer concurs that that the proposed 

development would have a neutral impact on The Old Sessions House Grade II listed 

building. Historic England have not wished to comment upon the application. 

 

In terms of the proposed regeneration works, the Officer has stated that with regard to the 

Pannier Market, its setting has been much altered over time with former regeneration projects 

including the construction of the Union Square MSCP and Union Square Shopping Centre. 

The proposed loss of the adjacent buildings within the townscape, contemporary with the 

construction of the Pannier Market would result in harm to its significance, to a lesser degree 

in some cases due to lack of quality. The buildings proposed to be demolished provide a 

refence points in the evolution of this area of the town. 

 

Proposed Works to and Impact on Pannier Market  

The significance of the Pannier Market is mainly comprised of its historic, evidential and 

architectural values. Overall, the building is considered to be of medium significance. 

 

The proposed external works to the Pannier Market as part of this application and the 

concurrent listed building consent application (ref: P/2025/0164) would include: 

 Demolition of attached structures to the Pannier Market. 

 All elevations which have existing painted areas of stonework are to be re-painted in white. 

No areas of stonework that are currently unpainted will be painted or otherwise treated. 

 On the southern elevation there will be the creation of 2no. arched openings placed 

centrally in either gable and 2no. single, fire escape door openings. 

 On the west elevation the existing ground floor openings will be infilled and the creation 

of 5no. arched window openings and 1no. single fire escape door opening. 

 No proposed changes to the north and east elevations. 

 On the south and west elevations there will be a programme of repairs, to make good any 

areas revealed by the removal of the later adjoining buildings.  

 On the west elevation, in relation to the ground floor, large sections of historic fabric have 

previously been removed so works to this elevation will also include some re-building to 

make good those areas.  

 

Page 136



 

 

The accompanying listed building consent provides the justification for both the proposed 

internal and external works. The proposed openings in both the south and west elevations of 

the Pannier Market would represent a considerable loss of historic fabric dating from the 

building’s original construction. The resulting harm would be caused to its architectural, 

historic values and evidential values and its significance. The Council’s Conservation and 

Urban Design Officer considers that the proposed works would result in less than substantial 

harm, to a minor to moderate degree. This level of harm must be weighed against the public 

benefits of the proposal. 

 

It remains vital to ensure that the phasing of the wider scheme is carefully considered to 

ensure that the justification put forward by the applicant for the harmful works can truly be 

realised. The justification of better integrating the building with the proposed public space has 

relevance to this application rather than the listed building consent.  

 

Historic England Principles, Policies and Guidance regarding integrating conservation with 

other public interests, identifies that harm should have be reduced to the minimum whilst 

being consistent with achieving the objective. The proposed works seek to modify the internal 

and external fabric of the building, as the building has been extended and extensively altered 

over time. The existing extensions to the southern and western elevations of the building are 

modern, later additions with no heritage value. The existing extensions date from the late 

1970s and early 1980s, that are of non-descript quality and character which fail to align with 

the overall architectural quality of the listed building and its significance. The removal of the 

existing extensions will better reveal the significance of the building and will enable the 

building to once again be a free standing building as originally intended. 

 

The proposed openings in both the south and west elevations of the Pannier Market would 

represent a considerable loss of historic fabric dating from the building’s original construction. 

There is no evidence of historic openings in these elevations.  

 

In terms of the southern elevation, upper parts of this elevation are exposed, it can be seen 

that it mirrors the north elevation, confirmed by the 1971 aerial photograph, where the same 

eight pilaster design can be seen. The proposal will retain this architectural design and will 

include 2no. tall openings being set centrally and symmetrically within each gable. These 

works will require the removal of some historic fabric, however, the level of harm will in part 

be offset by better revealing this elevation and by contributing to the restoration of the original 

detached setting of the asset.  

 

The west elevation has been heavily altered to provide interconnections with the Union 

Square Shopping Centre, which has resulted in the removal of much historic fabric at ground 

floor level. The proposed 5no. arched openings to the west elevation would in part be formed 

within the areas of the elevation that is proposed to be rebuilt and as such would not result in 

the removal of historic fabric, the upper parts would be within the existing historic elevation 

and, as such, would result in targeted interventions into historic fabric. Again, there is no 

evidence at present to suggest that there were, historically, openings in this elevation. 

 

The applicant has provided an Addendum to their Heritage Impact Assessment stating that 

the proposed arched openings are intended to ensure that the Pannier Market is fully 

integrated into the new open space within the wider proposed regeneration scheme, and to Page 137



 

 

facilitate and encourage a greater level of accessibility, which will support the sustainable 

ongoing use of the listed building which is part of its historic value and contribution to heritage 

significance. The impact of these proposed works has been reduced by the careful design 

and location of these openings, retaining the symmetry and formal character of the building 

and highlighting the newly revealed elevation that engages with the new public realm, which 

is more closely aligned with its historic spatial character. The simple form of the openings and 

the detailing would ensure that the openings are legible as harmonious, contemporary 

interventions. 

 

The insertion of fire escape doors is to avoid the existing strategy causing a visually intrusive 

stair enclosure behind the new openings. The new southern escape doors are aligned with 

those on the north elevation, which maintain a consistent approach. The core will include a 

stair and lift to provide compliant fire escape from the first floor, without interfering with the 

visual integrity of the façade. This design concept ensures that the circulation and escape 

strategy is consistent through the building, from north to the south. By replicating this rhythm 

of access and escape doors, the intervention is not only functional but reinforces the existing 

language of the building. The existing fire escape from the mezzanine level it via the existing 

extension which is proposed to be demolished through the current proposal. Given the 

finished floor levels between the mezzanine and the existing southern café space, there is 

not direct egress and therefore an additional fire escape staircase is necessary. The 2no. 

new fire escape staircases have been located and designed to reduce any physical and visual 

impacts on the interior of the building. These works are justified in terms of their requirement 

under Part B of the Building Regulations. 

 

Whilst the inclusion of enhancements and improvements do not give right to harmful changes, 

it is necessary to balance the overall impacts and assess the heritage implications of the 

proposal and establish if there would be any change in the significance of the building and to 

establish the degree of any change that may occur. 

 

In balancing the aspects of proposal, and their impact on the heritage values of the building, 

the proposal has been identified to result in a minor level of less than substantial harm 

resulting from the new openings in the south and west elevations of the listed building. The 

proposal is considered to result in a minor impact on the significance of the building. This 

impact has been reduced from moderate to minor given the positive heritage enhancements 

the proposal would deliver from the demolition of the existing ad hoc extensions to the listed 

building. In this regard, there is considered to be a negligible degree of change in the 

significance of the building. 

 

However, based on the restorative benefits of the scheme and the investment proposed into 

the wider regeneration scheme for the Union Square Shopping Centre, the building will be 

able to maintain its continued optimum viable use as a Pannier Market, along with the 

associated social and economic benefits there is deemed to be a significant public benefit to 

outweigh the identified minor to moderate level of less than substantial harm. 

 

4. Residential Amenity 

 

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF guides that decisions should ensure that developments create 

places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with Page 138



 

 

a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and where crime and disorder, and 

the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 

The Local Plan contains policy guidance aligned with the aspirations of the NPPF, principally 

through Policies SS11, H1 and DE3, towards ensuring that residential development produces 

high-quality living environments that present a good level of amenity for future users and 

neighbouring occupiers. Policy DE3 also identifies size standards for self-contained units, 

which reflect the nationally described space standards. 

 

In terms of location the application site is within Torquay Town Centre and is therefore 

considered to be in a sustainable location for the future use and well suited to a residential 

occupancy, presenting good opportunities for future occupants in terms of access to services, 

facilities and sustainable transport options. 

 

Quality of living accommodation for future occupiers  

 

Policy DE3 sets out the minimum floor space standards for new residential units, which align 

with the nationally described space standards. The proposed residential units comply with 

the minimum floor space requirements.  

 

The proposal seeks to provide 99no. apartments through a mixture of 1-bedroom and 2-

bedrooms. All apartments are considered to provide an acceptable scale of living 

accommodation with floor areas exceeding the prescribed standards. In addition to the size 

of the space, the quality of the space should be considered, in terms of how it is positively 

influenced by natural light levels and outlooks. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF outlines that when 

considering application for housing, Local Planning Authorities should take a flexible 

approach in applying policies or guidance relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would 

otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site, so long as the resulting scheme would provide 

acceptable living standards. The applicant has provided a Daylight and Sunlight Assessment, 

the contents of which 95% of all rooms (225 out of 238 rooms) tested achieve their daylight 

provision targets. This is an overall high level of compliance with the BRE recommendations. 

Whilst there are isolated instances where the Daylight Provision targets are not met, the 

results are not abnormal in the context of an urban location. In terms of exposure to sunlight, 

74 of the 99 units have a living room which faces 90 degrees of due south and which receives 

a total of at least 1.5 hours sunlight on 21 March. The BRE guide acknowledges that in some 

cases, it may not be possible for every dwelling to achieve ideal levels of sunlight.  

 

In terms of noise, the proposed development will introduce residential accommodation to the 

ground floor and above levels, which at present this part of the town centre does not include 

any ground floor residential uses. The applicant has provided a Noise Impact Assessment, 

which concludes that the basic façade elements will provide sufficient protection against 

external noise ingress for all habitable rooms, aside from the single bedrooms overlooking 

Union Street which will require a slight improvement in glazing sound insulation. It can be 

demonstrated that sufficient mitigation can be provided for the ground floor units in Block A 

and no additional mitigation is required for the ground floor units in Block B to ensure 

appropriate noise levels for residents.  

 

The Council’s Senior Environmental Health Officer has been consulted on the application and 

has provided a list of planning conditions they recommend should be included to protect the Page 139



 

 

residential amenity of both future and existing occupiers. These planning conditions include: 

an Acoustic Insulation Implementation and Verification Plan; cumulative noise not exceeding 

certain decibels; restriction on opening hours for the commercial elements of the proposal; 

details of commercial kitchen extraction systems; external lighting; a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan and a full contamination investigation.  

 

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan also seeks secure the provision of usable outdoor amenity space 

where apartments should deliver 10 square metres per unit either individually or communally. 

The Neighbourhood Plan is in alignment with this guidance as advised within Policy THW4, 

either as balconies or communal space. The scheme provides a communal greenspace that 

accumulatively exceeds the policy-guided minimum of 990 square metres, which provides an 

acceptable level of outdoor space for future occupants of the apartments. The ground floor 

flats of Block B will also have their own individual external amenity spaces.  

 

In terms of Block B, there is likely to be tensions between the proximity and visibility between 

the ground floor occupiers of Block B and the walkway. Therefore, planning conditions are 

recommended to secure suitable boundary treatments / means of enclosure. 

 

Adjacent neighbouring amenity 

 

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan states that development should not unduly impact upon the 

amenity of neighbouring and surrounding occupiers. Objectors have raised concerns 

regarding noise. 

 

The construction phase will naturally have some temporary impacts however such impacts 

are not unusual and can be limited through positively managing the process through a 

Construction/Demolition Management Plan, this is recommended as a planning condition.   

 

In terms of the finished development, the commercial use will align with nearby commercial 

uses and the Pannier Market will remain the same use class. A planning condition is 

recommended to secure the use classes of the new Class E commercial unit and the 

repurposing of the retained shopping centre floorspace sited below the existing Union Square 

MSCP for Class E uses. The Council’s Senior Environmental Health Officer has been 

consulted and recommends a planning condition is employed to secure opening hours for the 

commercial elements. 

 

The proposed mixed use aligns with the nearby commercial and residential uses. The 

proposed use would not result in undue noise or general disturbance. The move from 

commercial use to a residential use is likely to be positive. There are not many existing 

residential units adjacent to the application site, with many upper floors of commercial units 

remaining for use for the associated commercial businesses.  

 

Given its siting, scale, and design, it is considered that the proposal would not result in any 

detrimental harm to the amenities of the occupants of neighbouring buildings in terms of their 

privacy, outlook, or access to natural light.  

 

Having regard to the amenities provided within the proposal for future occupants and the 

future relationship of the development with adjacent properties and occupiers, the majority of Page 140



 

 

the scheme broadly aligns with the aims and objectives of Policies SS11 and DE3 of the 

Local Plan, Policy THW4 of the Neighbourhood Plan and the guidance contained within the 

NPPF.  

 

5. Highways, Movement and Parking 

 

Paragraph 115 of the NPPF guides that in assessing specific applications for development it 

should be ensured that a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the 

vision for the site, the type of development and its location; b) safe and suitable access to the 

site can be achieved for all users; c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport 

elements and the content of associated standards reflects current national guidance, 

including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code; and d) any 

significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and 

congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree 

through a vision-led approach. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF confirms that development should 

only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 

on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, following 

mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future scenarios. 

 

Policy TA1 of the Local Plan sets out promoting improvements to road safety. Policy TA2 of 

the Local Plan states all development proposals should make appropriate provision for works 

and/or contributions to ensure an adequate level of accessibility and safety, and to satisfy the 

transport needs of the development. Policy TA3 of the Local Plan details that the development 

proposals are expected to meet the guideline requirements as set out in Appendix F of the 

Local Plan. Policy DE3 of the Local Plan specifies that new development proposals should 

have satisfactory provision for off-road motor vehicle parking, bicycles and storage of 

containers for waste and recycling. Policy TH9 of the Neighbourhood Plan outlines that all 

housing developments must meet the guideline parking requirements contained in the Local 

Plan, unless it can be shown that there is not likely to be an increase in on-street parking 

arising from the development or, the development is within the town centre and an easy walk 

of a public car park which will be available to residents for the foreseeable future. 

Furthermore, Policy TH9 of the Neighbourhood Plan confirms that new major developments 

must contribute to better pedestrian/cycle links where possible and encourage modal shift 

towards active travel. Policy THW5 of the Neighbourhood Plan outlines that to encourage the 

use of sustainable forms of transport, new development proposals will be supported where 

they are located on or near to public transport routes wherever possible and appropriate. 

 

Objectors have raised concerns regarding active/sustainable travel infrastructure. The 

application site is located off Union Street in the north west of Torquay Town Centre. Union 

Street is one-way in a southbound direction between Castle Circus and Market Street. On-

street parking for blue badge holders is located on the majority of the eastern edge of Union 

Street, accompanied by loading bays and taxi waiting bays. An approximate 50 metre bus 

layby is also located on the east of Union Street which comprises 2no. sheltered bus stops. 

An advisory cycle lane is located adjacent on the on-street bays. The footway on both sides 

of Union Street is wide, with a minimum width of approximately 2.5 metres.  

 

On the site’s other boundaries are Market Street to the east, Castle Lane and the existing 

Union Square MSCP to the north and Castle Road to the west. Market Street is a two-way Page 141



 

 

arrangement enabling access to commercial and residential units. The street also provides 

access to Albert Road loading bay (for the existing Union Square Shopping Centre) and 

Union Square MSCP. The application has been supported by a Transport Assessment and 

WSP on behalf of the Highway Authority have reviewed the supporting information. 

 

Trip Generation 

In terms of the proposed residential development, the supporting Transport Assessment has 

provided total person trip rates demonstrating a total of 48 movements in the AM peak and 

74 movements in the PM peak, stating that these trips would be accommodated on foot, cycle 

or public transport. The Highway Authority considers that the trip generation appears 

reasonable for a car free development. With regards to the proposed commercial element, 

the Transport Assessment has stated that there would be a total of 12 trips in the AM peak 

and 27 trips in the PM peak for 10,473sqm for commercial space. No comparative trip 

generation exercise for the commercial aspect has been conducted. In principle, the Highway 

Authority have considered the approach suitable. However, a net trip generation assessment 

would improve the robustness of the approach.  

 

Highway Safety 

The Transport Assessment has provided collision detail for January 2019-December 2023 

for an area comprising the highway surrounding the site. The data has confirmed that 19no. 

collisions occurred in total, of which 4no. were serious and involved two pedestrians. 

However, the collisions occurred at different locations and cannot be attributed to any specific 

highway safety concern. 

 

Highway Adoption  

The Highway Authority has confirmed that they will look to continue to maintain the existing 

public highway once the development is completed, however, the Highway Authority have 

stated that they do not intend to adopt the internal access routes within the site. 

 

Pedestrian and Cycle Access  

The Transport Assessment states that there will be a number of potential pedestrian access 

points to the site in order to strengthen pedestrian permeability within the wider local area, in 

keeping with the aspirations to develop a ’20-minute neighbourhood’. The proposed plans 

confirm that pedestrian and cycle access can be achieved from Market Street and Union 

Street.  

 

The Neighbourhood Forum have raised a concern regarding the wider cycling infrastructure, 

stating that the Council needs to develop and find funding for a plan to bring cycling 

infrastructure in the immediate vicinity of Union Square up to safe, modern standards, 

connecting the site to both the Harbourside and Castle Circus. The Conservation and Urban 

Design Officer has commented that the generous red line of the site location plan enables 

the applicant to enhance and influence the public realm. The Officer has stated that it remains 

unclear how the proposed public realm encourages active travel, a dedicated servicing layby 

is proposed but no segregated cycle lane or integration with the existing cycle network.  

 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) are a strategic approach to 

identifying cycling and walking improvements required at a local level. Within the document, 

the identification of key desire lines and the audit process, proposed 5no. major cycle routes Page 142



 

 

which were collectively branded “Bay Trails”, within such the Torquay Town Trail is relevant 

to the proposed development. The Torquay Town Trail is an off-carriageway/low traffic route 

linking Torquay Harbour, the town centre, the Torquay Grammar Schools, and the proposed 

new development at Edginswell. The LCWIP outlines that the route will utilise the existing 

pedestrian and cycle zone sections of central Torquay on Fleet Street and Union Street and 

incorporate wider public realm improvements on the northern part of Union Street. The 

LCWIP states that the Union Street Redevelopment as outlined in the Torquay Town Centre 

Masterplan, including the redevelopment of buildings could enable the removal of motor 

traffic from Union Street, providing more space for people, including enable two-way cycling. 

 

The Neighbourhood Forum have suggest that a planning condition or obligation is employed 

to ensure that the site assists at fulfilling the objectives of the Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plan. Given the site location plan, it is not reasonable to employ a planning 

condition or obligation, as the site location plan does not include the adopted highway 

carriageway within the red line, however the proposed public open space on the corner of the 

application site enables a cohesive space for interaction for both pedestrians and cyclists that 

contributes towards the aims and objectives of the LCWIP.  

 

Public Transport Access 

The site is considered to be well located for access to public transport with bus stops on 

Union Street and Market Street located less than 100 metres from the site. Torquay train 

station is also reasonably located, an approximate 22 minute walk to the south west.  

 

The Highway Authority have stated that the applicant should consider whether any bus stop 

improvements are required, particularly the requirement for Kassel kerbing at locations on 

Market Street. 

 

Vehicular Access and Car Parking 

It is understood that the development is to be car free and that any additional demand on 

parking generated by the proposed development will be accommodated in the existing public 

car parks.  

 

The applicant has not considered car parking, stating that this will be sorted through private 

arrangements should residents wish to park in the Union Square MSCP, where parking 

permits are available, however the opening hours are currently restricted. No consideration 

has been made to the operational timings of the car park and how this may impact residents 

access abilities. It is understood that the development aims to be car free and there are 

minimal vehicle trips forecast, however there will be some demand for parking for both 

residents and visitors. The applicant was repeatedly requested to discuss the matter with the 

Parking Services Department of the Council, no feedback has been provided on the matter. 

 

Cycle Parking  

The Transport Assessment confirms that cycle parking will be provided at a rate of 1no. space 

per flat, which is line with the requirements within Appendix F of the Local Plan. Cycle parking 

for Block B is proposed within 2no. separate covered and secure lockups, whilst cycle parking 

for Block A is proposed within the building. For the commercial use, it is stated that the units 

will provide Sheffield stands in a highly visible, well lit location, suitable for short term parking. 

However, the location of these stands is not specified. Planning conditions are recommended Page 143



 

 

to secure suitable cycle storage arrangements for both the residential and commercial 

aspects of the proposed development. 

 

Refuse / Servicing / Emergency Access  

Servicing for the proposed residential uses and commercial unit within Blocks A and B will be 

from Union Street, whilst servicing for the  repurposed commercial units within Block C and 

the Pannier Market (Block D) will be from Market Street, using Albert Road as per the existing 

arrangement.  

 

The Transport Assessment states that the existing underutilised taxi bays on Union Street 

will be relocated to enable a repurposing of use for servicing vehicles, however no detail or 

information has been provided to state where these taxis bays are proposed to be relocated.  

 

SWISCo were consulted on the application with regards to waste. The proposed bin storage 

for Block B would exceed the drag distances from the adopted highway network. Planning 

conditions are recommended to secure appropriate bin storage and waste collection 

arrangements through a Waste Management Plan.  

 

Due to the internal layout not being adopted, a planning condition is recommended to ensure 

all access routes are kept clear and suitably retained for emergency access through a Road 

Management and Maintenance Plan.  

 

Travel Plan  

A planning condition is recommended to secure a Travel Plan specific to the end occupiers 

once known. 

 

Planning Obligation  

The Local Highway Authority have stated that they will seek the necessary S278 works or 

S106 planning contributions that are essential to make the scheme acceptable in planning 

terms. The adopted Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning 

Document at Section 4.3 seeks additional Sustainable Transport contributions for major 

schemes, where a £5,000 contribution is required for this proposal. The ‘Local Financial 

Considerations’ section of this report will cover such matters.  

 

Overall 

The Highway Authority have not raised an objection to the proposed development. Planning 

conditions are recommended at the end of this report to cover all relevant highway related 

matters. The Highway Authority have also outlined that the Highway Authority does not intend 

to adopt beyond the existing HMPE land. Subject to the planning conditions included at the 

end of this report, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies TA1, TA2, TA3 and W1 

of the Local Plan, Policies TH9 and THW5 of the Neighbourhood Plan and the guidance 

contained within the NPPF. 

 

6. Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees 

 

Paragraph 187 of the NPPF provides guidance in that planning decisions should contribute 

to and enhance the natural and local environment and includes guidance towards minimising 

impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity.  Page 144



 

 

 

Policy NC1 of the Local Plan states that all development should positively incorporate and 

promote biodiversity features, proportionate to their scale. Policy TE5 of the Neighbourhood 

Plan outlines that the development of new homes, or a new commercial property or business 

premises of any class, on an unallocated site that could have an impact on a protected 

species or habitat must provide, as appropriate, an assessment of impacts upon any existing 

protected species or habitats and as necessary provide mitigating arrangements in order to 

protect and enhance those species and habitats. 

 

The application has been supported by an Ecological Appraisal and a Biodiversity Net Gain 

Metric. The application site is entirely urban, with very few opportunities for habitats and 

protected species.  

 

The applicant has provided full survey results in relation to bats which confirmed “Five small, 

common pipistrelle day roosts were present within buildings east of the main Union Square 

Shopping Centre entrance off Union Street (rear of buildings occupied by ‘Nexus Games’ and 

‘Costa’). These are all small, seasonal roosts of low conservation status.”. The Ecologist has 

confirmed that subject to the mitigation requirements outlined, they are satisfied that Natural 

England are likely to grant a licence. 

 

The applicant has also provided further information in relation to nesting birds. Four herring 

gull nests were confirmed on the roof top of the application site. The Ecologist has noted that 

whilst the effects of the proposals on birds are not significant, dealing with herring gull and 

other bird nests on urban building demolitions can cause issues for developments if not 

properly considered, therefore a nesting bird mitigation plan planning condition is 

recommended. 

 

In terms of ecological enhancements, the Ecologist has recommended a planning condition 

is employed to secure such. 

 

The Local Plan Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) and Neighbourhood Plan HRA 

screen in a Likely Significant Effect on the Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC) from the potential impact of the future growth areas on water quality. 

Policy W5 of the Local Plan outlines what is required to satisfy a conclusion of no adverse 

effect on the integrity of the Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine SAC. The South Hams Greater 

Horseshoe Bat SAC is located approximately 8km from the application site. The main urban 

areas of Torquay that includes the application site, are outside of the SAC consultation zones. 

A Likely Significant Effect as a result of the proposed development on the SAC can be 

screened out in the HRA.  

 

The Ecologist has reviewed: the applicant’s Shadow HRA: Test of Likely Significant Effects 

and Appropriate Assessment, which was submitted to address the Ecologist’s initial 

comments with regards to the potential effects of the development on Lyme Bay & Torbay 

Marine SAC due to changes to Water Quality. The Ecologist was satisfied with the submitted 

Shadow HRA: Test of Likely Significant Effects and Appropriate Assessment and on behalf 

of Torbay Council as the Appropriate Authority under the Habitats Regulations has adopted 

the document as the Council’s HRA. As an Appropriate Assessment was conducted as part 

Page 145



 

 

of the HRA, Natural England have been consulted on the HRA. An update will be provided to 

Members at Planning Committee regarding Natural England’s response. 

 

Devon County Council’s Principal Ecologist has been consulted on the application and raises 

no objections subject to the recommended planning conditions found at the end of this report 

which relate to bat mitigation measures, a Nesting Bird Mitigation Plan and an Ecological 

Enhancement Plan.  

 

In England Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) has been mandatory from 12 February 2024 under 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by the Environment Act 2021). This 

means that, subject to certain exemptions, development must deliver a 10% gain in 

biodiversity. The Ecologist has confirmed that the proposed development is exempt from the 

mandatory requirement due to it being within the de minimus threshold. An informative stated 

such should be included on the decision notice. The NPPF confirms that planning policies 

and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural environment by providing net 

gains for biodiversity. The applicant has provided a BNG assessment and a high percentage 

net gain score of 875% has been predicted. The Ecologist has stated that such is a positive 

and is welcomed; however such is only useful for determining if a development delivers at 

least a 10% increase in biodiversity value relative to the pre-development biodiversity value 

of the onsite habitat. The large figure is therefore not a reflection or overall biodiversity value, 

and a 1.1 unit increase. Urban Greening Factor is a more appropriate metric for these 

situations, and the views of the Council’s Landscape Officers are more important than an 

ecology perspective. A planning condition is recommended to ensure that the proposed 

development secures a net gain. 

 

Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions, the proposed development is considered 

to accord with Policies NC1 and W5 of the Local Plan, Policy W5 of the Neighbourhood Plan 

and the guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 

Policy C4 of the Local Plan states that development proposals should seek to retain and 

protect existing hedgerows, trees and natural landscape features wherever possible, 

particularly where they serve an important biodiversity role. 

 

Objectors have raised concerns regarding the lack of green space. SWISCo’s Senior Tree 

Officer has been consulted on the application. The Officer has confirmed that the application 

does not require any arboricultural enabling works due to the urban nature of the application 

area and the complete absence of trees. The proposed development proposes to deliver both 

high-quality private gardens and public realm provision which incorporates structural tree 

planting. The landscape objectives set out in the supporting information are broadly 

acceptable and the Officer is in agreement with these principles and their incorporation into 

the landscape scheme. The Officer considers that the location of the planting is broadly 

acceptable and responds well to the proposed use of the various site elements.  

 

The public realm planting will provide framing to the Pannier Market and help with provision 

of urban greening in general. This is a valuable component of the scheme which will help to 

soften and fragment the built environment. The Officer has a concern with the public realm 

planting is the lack of species diversity, placing a reliance on Lime within the larger open 

space located on the corner of Union Street and Market Street. The Officer has highlighted Page 146



 

 

that throughout Torbay there is a plant pathogen which has colonised and killed young- 

mature lime trees in various situations. Therefore, a reliance on a single species lacks 

resilience to any potential existing or emerging plant pathogens and affords a level of risk to 

the long-term delivery of the structural tree planting.  

 

Within the private external amenity spaces, the use of local species of fruit trees to provide 

limited fruit production is a suitable use for the communal areas. The Officer provided 

alternative species of trees where local performance is poor. A planning condition is 

recommended to secure suitable levels and species of soft landscaping. 

 

Subject to the aforementioned planning condition, the proposal is considered to comply with 

Policy C4 of the Local Plan, and advice contained within the NPPF. 

 

6.  Flood Risk and Drainage 

 

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF provides guidance towards avoiding inappropriate development 

in areas of flood risk by directing development away from areas at higher risk. Paragraph 181 

of the NPPF states that when determining applications seeks local planning authorities to 

ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere.  

 

Policy ER1 of the Local Plan states that proposals should maintain or enhance the prevailing 

water flow regime on-site, including an allowance for climate change, and ensure the risk of 

flooding is not increased elsewhere. Policy ER2 of the Local Plan includes reference that 

development proposals should seek to minimise the generation of increased run-off, having 

regard to the drainage hierarchy, whereby surface water will discharge following the hierarchy 

of i) an adequate infiltration system (for example swales, soakaways, infiltration basins, filter 

drains, rain gardens), or where that is not reasonably practicable; ii) a main river or water 

course, or where that is not reasonably practicable; iii) a surface water sewer or highway 

drain, or in the last resort where none of the above are reasonably practicable; iv) to a 

combined (foul and surface water) sewer, where discharge is controlled to be at greenfield 

discharge rates. 

 

The Union Street side of the site is located on the edge of Flood Zone 3, with the remainder 

of the site being located within Flood Zone 1 and the Critical Drainage Area as designated by 

the Environment Agency. Part of the application site is at risk from surface water flooding. 

The application has been supported by a flood risk assessment and a drainage strategy. The 

submission has been reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Engineer and the Environment 

Agency.  

 

The Environment Agency initially objected to the proposed development, due to the originally 

submitted Flood Risk Assessment failing to comply with the requirements for site-specific 

flood risk assessments and therefore fails to adequately assess the flood risks posed by the 

development. The Environment Agency were reconsulted on the revised Flood Risk 

Assessment and have subsequently removed their objection, subject to planning conditions 

being employed to secure built topographical levels, finished floor levels and the flood 

resistance and resilience measures outlined in the revised Flood Risk Assessment. 

 

Page 147



 

 

The Council’s Drainage Engineer has been consulted on the application and has raised no 

objection subject to infiltration testing being undertaken in accordance with BRE365 at the 

proposed location and invert level of the soakaways prior to the commencement of 

development to confirm whether infiltration techniques such as soakaways are suitable. A 

planning condition is therefore recommended to secure surface water drainage.  

 

Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions, the proposal is considered to comply with 

Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Local Plan and the guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 

7.  Low Carbon Development and Climate Change  

 

Paragraph 161 of the NPPF guides that the planning system should support the transition to 

net zero by 2050 and take full account of all climate impacts including overheating, water 

scarcity, storm and floor risks and coastal change. It should help: to shape places in ways 

that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and 

improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of 

existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 

infrastructure. 

 

Policy SS14 of the Local Plan supports national guidance and seeks major development to 

minimise carbon emissions and the use of natural resources, which includes the 

consideration of construction methods and materials. Policy ES1 of the Local Plan states that 

the Local Plan will seek to ensure that carbon emissions associated with energy use from 

new and existing buildings (space heating, cooling, lighting and other energy consumption) 

are limited. All major development proposals should make it clear how low-carbon design has 

been achieved, and how the following sequential energy hierarchy has been applied in doing 

so. Proposals should identify ways in which the development will maximise opportunities to 

achieve the following: 

1. Conserve energy by reducing energy demand through siting and design. This includes 

the use of building orientation, layout and landscaping to optimise solar gain, ventilation 

and cooling; 

2. Use energy efficiently within the fabric of the building; 

3. Incorporate the use of decentralised heat, cooling and power systems; and 

4. Use on-site or near-site renewable technologies to achieve further reductions in carbon 

emissions. 

  

The application is supported by a Sustainability and Energy Statement which includes the 

Council’s Sustainability Checklist. The proposed development  includes the installation of a 

solar PV array to offset the energy consumption of Block A, which the Council’s Climate 

Strategy & Project Officer welcomes. The Officer has noted that a solar PV array has not 

been included for Block B, which would have provided the opportunity to further offset the 

energy consumption for Block B and support the efficiency of the communal heating system 

that has been proposed. 

 

The Government’s Future Homes Standard (FHS) is set to be introduced in 2025, which will 

require mandatory compliance. The FHS aims to significantly reduce carbon emissions in 

new homes, requiring a 75-80% reduction in carbon emissions compared to those new 

homes built under current regulations (Building Regulations Part L). The aim is to improve Page 148



 

 

energy efficiency and reduce the environmental impact of housing by ensuring new homes 

use low carbon technology such as very high-quality building fabric (structural materials, 

insulation etc.), triple glazing standards and low-carbon heating through heat pumps.  

 

The applicant has considered the embodied carbon of the residential sections under the 

principles of the UK Net Zero Carbon Buildings Standard. However, such standards are 

voluntary and not required under current planning policies, the Officer has confirmed that 

schemes which follow these standards will be given greater weight in terms of decision 

making and meeting the requirements of Policy ES1 of the Local Plan. The Officer has 

recommended a planning condition to secure a detailed Energy and Sustainability Statement 

which meets the requirements of Policy SS14 and ES1 of the Local Plan. Subject to the 

aforementioned planning condition, the proposal is considered to accord with Policies ES1 

and SS14 of the Local Plan, and the guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 

8. Designing Out Crime 

 

Paragraph 96 of the NPPF outlines that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 

inclusive and safe places which are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the 

fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion. Paragraph 135 of 

the NPPF also emphasises such. 

 

Policy SS11 of the Local Plan seeks that development proposals should help to reduce and 

prevent crime and the fear of crime whilst designing out opportunities for crime, antisocial 

behaviour, disorder and community conflict. Policy TH2 of the Neighbourhood Plan sets out 

that new development should provide a safe environment and consider opportunities to 

prevent crime or the fear of crime from undermining quality of life or community cohesion. 

 

The application has been supported by a section within the submitted Design and Access 

Statement in relation to ‘Community Safety’. Devon and Cornwall’s Police Designing Out 

Crime Officer has been consulted on the application. The application site sits in the 

Neighbourhood Policing Beat area of Torquay Town Centre which in terms of demand for 

policing is in the top 5 beat areas of Devon and Cornwall and is currently the highest in the 

whole of South Devon Local Policing Area. With incidents such as assaults and violence, 

shoplifting, theft, criminal damage and anti-social behaviour among the highest. 

 

The Officer has thoroughly reviewed the proposal and has noted areas of concern including 

unrestricted access to the rear of Block B; lack of vehicle mitigation measures to pathways 

and publicly accessible areas; seating near the Union Square MSCP that lacks natural 

surveillance; and the lack of improvement measures within the car parking levels of the Union 

Square MSCP.  

 

The Officer has recommended that a planning condition is employed to ensure that the 

proposed development meets the standards of Secured By Design and seeks the award. The 

justification for such is that the development sits within a policing neighbourhood beat area 

which sees some of the highest demand in Torbay, the immediate area suffers with anti-

social behaviour, it is therefore in the interest of preventing crime and disorder and the fear 

of crime to the potential tenants of both the commercial and residential aspects of the 

proposed development. Subject to the aforementioned planning condition, the proposal is Page 149



 

 

considered to accord with Policy SS11 of the Local Plan and Policy TH2 of the 

Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

Sustainability 

 

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. The NPPF definition of sustainability has three aspects which are economic, 

social and environmental. The application has been supported by a Sustainability Checklist. 

Each of which shall be discussed in turn: 

 

The Economic Role  

 

The proposed demolished commercial floorspace would equate to a loss of 5.7% of the total 

floorspace within Torquay Town Centre. The Torbay Retail Study confirms that Torquay Town 

Centre has been declining for a number of years and it is likely that the level of active 

commercial floorspace and turnover of the centre will continue to decline, which will have a 

negative impact on the vitality and viability of Torquay Town Centre. It has been demonstrated 

that whilst the proposed development may result in a minor negative impact on Torquay Town 

Centre retail turnover in quantitative terms, however there is no evidence to indicate that the 

development would have a ‘significant adverse impact’ upon the vitality and viability of 

Torquay Town Centre. 

 

Housing development is recognised as an important driver of economic growth and there 

would be economic benefits to the construction industry from the proposed development.   

 

Once the residential units are occupied there would be an increase in the level of disposable 

income from the occupants some which would be likely to be spent in the local area and an 

increase in the demand for local goods and services. 

 

In respect of the economic element of sustainable development, the balance is considered 

to be in favour of the development. 

 

The Social Role  

 

The principle social benefit of the proposed development would be the provision of additional 

housing including affordable housing. Given the NPPF priority to significantly boost the supply 

of housing the additional dwellings to be provided must carry significant weight in this 

balance, with the benefit heightened by the inclusion of 20% of the units being Affordable 

units. 

 

Public greenspace is to be provided, which is considered a social benefit of the scheme to 

the future occupiers and wider public. 

 

The provision of housing would provide an appropriate use and offer units within a sustainable 

location. The retention of the Pannier Market and the repurposing of the ground and first 

floors of the Union Square MSCP for commercial uses will provide the community and future 

occupiers of Blocks A and B a commercial offering. 

 Page 150



 

 

On balance, the social impacts of the development weigh in favour of the development. 

 

The Environmental Role  

 

With respect to the environmental role of sustainable development, for reasons set out in this 

report there is considered to be less than substantial harm to the identified heritage asset of 

the Pannier Market. This harm is considered to be at the minor end of the scale and it 

outweighed by public benefits. The proposal is unlikely to impact the setting of the adjacent 

identified Conservation Areas (Upton, Abbey Road, Warberries) or their special interest. The 

proposal would result in a neutral impact to the setting of The Old Sessions House Grade II 

Listed building  

 

Other elements that are considered to be especially relevant to the proposed development 

are impacts on trees, biodiversity and drainage. A landscaping scheme has been submitted 

which will provide a positive enhancement to the site and the proposal also provides low 

carbon and energy efficiency measures. These matters have been considered in detail above 

and weigh in favour of the proposal.  

 

The proposed development is located in a sustainable location within close proximity to local 

amenities and public transportation links. This weighs in favour of the proposal.  

 

It is concluded that the environmental impacts of the development, due to the adverse impact 

on the heritage asset weigh against the development, however the positive elements of the 

proposal in terms of a sustainable location, low carbon and energy efficiency measures, 

landscaping and drainage weigh in favour. 

 

Sustainability Conclusion 

 

Having regard to the above assessment the proposed development is considered to 

represent sustainable development. 

 

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 

 

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Act, 

and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act. This Act gives further 

effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 

recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development 

rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community 

interests, as expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central 

Government Guidance. 

 

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 

provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and Section 

149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different 

people when carrying out their activities. Protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 

reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and 

sexual orientation. Page 151



 

 

 

Local Finance Considerations  

 

Affordable Housing: 

For the proposal, which is a brownfield site and over 20 dwellings, Policy H2 of the Local Plan 

identifies that 20% affordable housing should be provided on site. For a scheme of 99no. 

units this equates to an affordable housing provision of 20no. units to provide a policy 

compliant development. Commuted sums will only be accepted where this would achieve 

more effective provision of affordable housing or bring significant regeneration benefits. The 

applicant has confirmed that 20% will be provided on-site.  

 

CIL: 

The land is situated in Charging Zone 1 in the Council's CIL Charging Schedule; this means 

that all new floorspace will be charged at a rate of £30/sqm for 15+ dwellings.   

 

The CIL liability is indexed linked, and the final figure will be calculated on the day of the 

decision.  

 

An informative can be imposed, should consent be granted, to explain the 

applicant's/developer's/ landowner's obligations under the CIL Regulations. 

 

CIL is a “Local Finance Consideration” relevant to determining applications.  However, in the 

officer’s assessment, it is not a determining factor (either way) in the planning balance 

assessment below.  

 

Sustainable Transport: 

In accordance with Policy SS7 of the Local Plan and the Planning Contributions and 

Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (December 2022) (to open market 

housing only) Sustainable Transport obligations should be secured. 

 

However, such contributions cannot be sought due to 79no. open market units being CIL 

liable and the 20no. affordable units would be ineligible due to site deliverability matters. 

 

Public Open Space, Sport and Recreation: 

In accordance with the Council’s Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing 

Supplementary Planning Document (December 2022), residential developments are 

expected to provide public open space as part of their layouts to match the types of open 

space likely to be needed by residents, and enable a good level of access to sport, leisure 

and recreation facilities. 

 

The breadth of facilities to support development are identified as: 

 Playing Pitches 

 Other Sport and Recreation Facilities 

 Equipped play facilities for young people 

 Greenspace/Open spaces 

 Allotments/sustainable food production 

 

Page 152



 

 

However, such contributions cannot be sought due to 79no. open market units being CIL 

liable and the 20no. affordable units would be ineligible due to site deliverability matters. 

 

Education: 

Obligations in-line with the adopted Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing 

Supplementary Planning Document (December 2022) should be sought to secure 

increased school capacity within Torquay, however, such contributions cannot be sought 

due to 79no. open market units being CIL liable and the 20no. affordable units would be 

ineligible due to site deliverability matters. 

 

Lifelong Learning Obligations: 

Obligations in-line with the Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary 

Planning Document (December 2022) should be sought to secure library improvements 

within the area. This contribution is not sought as 79no. open market units being CIL liable 

and the 20no. affordable units would be ineligible due to site deliverability matters. 

 

Waste and Recycling: 

Obligations in-line with the Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary 

Planning Document (December 2022) should be sought to secure waste and recycling 

facilities for properties that will be served by the Local Authority waste collection provider. 

This contribution is not sought as 79no. open market units being CIL liable and the 20no. 

affordable units would be ineligible due to site deliverability matters. 

 

NHS Devon: 

Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust and NHS Devon ICB have given their 

support to the proposed development, which will deliver significant benefits to the health 

and wellbeing of our local communities and play a key role in the regeneration of the town 

centre. The proposal seeks to include a GP surgery within the development as access to 

high-quality, local primary care is essential for improving health. Locating a GP practice in 

such a central, accessible location will not only enhance convenience for patients but also 

help to reduce pressure on other parts of the health and care system.  

 

The inclusion of a GP surgery in Union Square represents a meaningful and forward-

thinking investment in local health infrastructure and the Torbay and South Devon NHS 

Foundation Trust and NHS Devon ICB are pleased to endorse it. 

  

EIA/HRA 

 

EIA: 

Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on the 

environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development. The development does 

not meet the thresholds for screening and is not in a sensitive area. 

 

HRA: 

The Local Plan Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) and Neighbourhood Plan HRA 

screen in a Likely Significant Effect on the Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC) from the potential impact of the future growth areas on water quality. 

Page 153



 

 

Policy W5 of the Local Plan outlines what is required to satisfy a conclusion of no adverse 

effect on the integrity of the Lyme Bay & Torbay Marine SAC.  

 

Devon County Council’s Ecologist on behalf of Torbay Council as the Appropriate Authority 

under the Habitats Regulations has adopted the applicant’s Shadow HRA: Test of Likely 

Significant Effects and Appropriate Assessment document as the Council’s HRA. As an 

Appropriate Assessment was conducted as part of the HRA, Natural England have been 

consulted on the HRA. An update will be provided to Members at Planning Committee 

regarding Natural England’s response. 

 

Planning Balance 

 

This report gives consideration to the key planning issues, the merits of the proposal and 

Development Plan policies.  

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on local 

planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

Development Plans often contain policies that pull in different directions and it is sometimes 

difficult to come to a view whether a proposal is in accordance with the Development plan 

“taken as a whole”. Whilst the proposal is supported by policies in the Local Plan that seek 

to boost housing supply, there are conflicts with the Pannier Market (Policies HE1 and SS10 

of the Local Plan and Policy TH10 of the Neighbourhood Plan). Whilst the harm to the Pannier 

Market has been assessed as being “less than substantial” it is sufficient to render the 

proposal not in accordance with the development plan.  

 

As noted above, the Council has less than 5 years housing land supply and on this basis the 

Development Plan must be “deemed” to be out of date. At 1.72 years supply, the shortfall is 

serious and must be given significant weight in the planning balance. The proposal is for 

99no. residential units, which carries very substantial weight. Out-of-date policies can still 

carry weight in the planning balance, but in practice attention shifts to other material 

considerations, especially the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development which is 

set out in Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF.  

 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states:  

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

For decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 

delay; or  

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date [Footnote 8], granting permission 

unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance [Footnote 7] provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having 

particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making Page 154



 

 

effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, 

individually or in combination [Footnote 9]. 

 

The first issue is whether the application of NPPF policies related to heritage assets provides 

a strong reason for refusing the development.  

 

Paragraph 210 of the NPPF states:  

In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of:  

a) The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 

putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

b) The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 

communities including their economic vitality; and  

c) The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 

distinctiveness. 

 

Paragraph 212 of the NPPF states:  

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 

heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more 

important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 

potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 

significance.  

 

Paragraph 214 of the NPPF states:  

Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of significance 

of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it 

can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 

substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. 

 

When taking account of the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 

homes and the role of the construction industry in supporting economic growth, very 

substantial weight should be given to the provision of market and affordable homes.  

 

Great weight should be given to the conservation of designated heritage assets. The Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that special regard shall be 

given when considering planning permission for developments that affect listed building or 

their settings. However, in this case the harm identified to the designated heritage asset of 

the Pannier Market from the proposal is assessed as the minor end of less than substantial 

harm.  

 

The public benefits in the form of the economic and social benefits include the economic 

growth and associated economic benefits to the construction industry from the proposed 

development, the proposal would also result in additional disposable income from the 

occupants. The proposal would provide housing where there is a lack of 5 year housing land 

supply and this would be located within a sustainable location and some of which would be 

affordable housing. Other matters that weigh in favour include a landscaping and drainage 

scheme and the proposal promotes low carbon and energy efficiency measures in the 

building construction and promotion of bicycle storage.  

 Page 155



 

 

The proposed development will result in less than substantial harm to the Pannier Market, 

however the proposed development would provide significant regeneration benefits in terms 

of the provision of 99no. residential units and repurposing and refurbishing the commercial 

offering of Blocks C and D. 

 

Paragraph 215 of the NPPF indicates that proposals that result in less than substantial harm 

to the significance of designated heritage assets should be weighed against the public 

benefits of the proposal, including where appropriate securing its optimal viable use. The 

level of harm identified is less than the threshold that would constitute a “strong reason” for 

refusal under paragraph 11(d)(i) of the Framework and the accompanying Footnote 7.  

 

Attention then turns to Paragraph 11(d)(ii) which directs decision makers to grant permission 

unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the Framework taken as a whole. This can include a 

consideration of Development Plan policies. Particular regard should be given to key policies 

for directing development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land, securing 

well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in combination. 

 

On balance, the public benefits of the scheme as a whole, when weighed against the level of 

harm caused, are considered to justify the proposal and the proposal is considered to 

represent sustainable development when considering the Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plan 

and NPPF taken as a whole as the adverse effects of granting planning permission would not 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  

 

Other than the less than substantial harm to the Pannier Market, there are no other adverse 

impacts of granting planning permission which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits of the development.  

 

In addition, the public benefits are a material consideration which weigh in favour of granting 

planning permission notwithstanding conflicts with some aspects of the development plan. 

 

Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 

 

The relevant legislation requires that the application be determined in accordance with the 

statutory Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

In terms of material considerations, the provision of 99no. residential units, is a significant 

public benefit in favour of the development where national guidance seeks to significantly 

boost the supply of homes. The weight afforded housing supply is not insignificant where the 

most recent Housing Delivery Test (December 2023) for Torbay was published as 55% (i.e. 

between 2019-22 there were only 55% as many completions as the number of homes 

required), and Torbay’s most recent housing land supply (2025) is that there is 1.72 years, 

which is a significant shortfall. 

 

In terms of other matters that weigh in the developments favour there will be economic 

benefits through construction phase in terms of created jobs, and post construction in terms 

of local household spend within the local economy. The stated biodiversity net gain also 

weighs positively within the planning balance. Page 156



 

 

 

In-line with the above conclusions and the assessment within this report, the proposals are 

considered to be in principle accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan and to 

demonstrate that an acceptable scheme could be accommodated on the site. The NPPF 

states that development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan should 

be approved without delay.  

 

Due to the level of accordance with the Development Plan and in the absence of material 

considerations that weigh sufficiently against the proposal, the Officer recommendation is 

one of approval, subject to suitable planning conditions.  

 

The proposed development is considered to represent sustainable development and is 

acceptable, having regard to the Torbay Local Plan, the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan, the 

NPPF, and all other material considerations. 

 

The NPPF guides that decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development and for decision making that means approving development proposals that 

accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay. For housing proposals within 

circumstances where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites, the NPPF guides to granting permission unless the application of 

policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear 

reason for refusing the development proposed or where any adverse impacts of doing so 

would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (99no. residential units), when 

assessed against the policies in the NPPF when taken as a whole. Subject to the 

recommended planning conditions, the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas 

or assets of particular importance do not provide a strong reason for refusing the development 

proposed.  

 

Officer Recommendation 

 

Approval: subject to;  

 

1. The planning conditions outlined below, with the final drafting of planning conditions 

delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency. 

2. Completion of a Section 106 agreement.  

3. Receiving a consultation response from Natural England to confirm no objection to the 

Council’s Appropriate Assessment. 

4. The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following 

Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and 

Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning conditions 

or obligations.  

 

Planning Conditions 

 

1. Phasing Plan 

 

Page 157



 

 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a site wide phasing 

plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved 

phasing plan. An up-to-date phasing plan and programme shall be maintained at all 

stages of the development hereby permitted. An up-to-date phasing plan should be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority immediately upon 

any amendments. Development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved 

phasing plan. Unless otherwise specified this condition does not prevent the construction 

of any phase being undertaken concurrently with any other phase. 

 

Reason: To secure the programme for the delivery of key infrastructure and ensure that 

the Local Planning Authority is able to monitor the delivery of the development. To guide 

submission of details required by other conditions and to accord with planning guidance 

contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

This needs to be a pre-commencement condition to ensure that the impacts of 

construction on neighbour amenity and highway safety and convenience are mitigated 

from the outset of development. 

 

2. Construction Management Plan 

 

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a site specific 

Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority.  

The plan should include, but not be limited to: 
a. Procedures for maintaining good neighbour relations including complaint 

management. 

b. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors. 

c. Loading and unloading of plant and materials. 

d. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.  

e. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 

facilities for public viewing, where appropriate. 

f. Wheel washing facilities. 

g. The adoption and use of the best practicable means to reduce and control the emission 

of dust and other airborne pollutants and dirt during construction. 

h. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 

works, with priority given to reuse of building materials on site wherever practicable. 

i. The adoption and use of the best practicable means to reduce and control noise.  

j. Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2 : 2009 Noise and Vibration 

Control on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise noise disturbance 

from construction works. 

k. Construction working hours from 8:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 9:00 to 13:00 on 

Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or bank holidays. Deliveries to and removal of 

plant, equipment, machinery and waste from the site must only take place within the 

permitted hours detailed above. 

 

Page 158



 

 

The approved Construction Management Plan development shall be adhered to and 

implemented throughout the construction period of the development strictly in accordance 

with the approved details. 

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the construction 

of the development in accordance with Policies DE1 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local 

Plan 2012-2030. 

 

These details are required pre-commencement as specified to ensure that neighbouring 

amenity is not harmed by building operations or site preparation.  

 

3. Construction Traffic Management Plan 

 

Prior to the commencement of development (including demolition), a Construction Traffic 

Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The Construction Traffic Management Plan shall provide for: 

 

a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

c) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

d) Wheel washing facilities; 

e) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 

f) Delivery and construction working hours. 

 

The development shall take place in accordance with the approved Construction Traffic 

Management Plan.  

 

Reason: To ensure that safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 

residential amenity in accordance with Policies DE3, TA1, TA2 and TA3 of the Adopted 

Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

These details are required pre-commencement because any initial construction or 

demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety and/or residential 

amenity. 

 

4. Construction Environmental Management Plan  

 

No development (including ground works) or vegetation clearance works shall take place 

until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall describe the 

actions that will be taken to protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living 

and/or working nearby. It shall include as a minimum provisions for: 

- A noise and vibration management plan, including details of quantitative monitoring of 

noise and/or vibration to be conducted. 

- All plant and equipment based at the site to use white noise reversing alarms or a 

banksman unless agreed otherwise in writing in the CEMP. 

- No driven piling without prior written consent from the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 159



 

 

- A detailed proactive and reactive dust management plan, including details of 

quantitative monitoring of dust emissions. 

- No emissions of dust beyond the site boundary so as to cause harm to amenity of the 

locality. 

- No burning on site during construction or site preparation works. 

- All non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) based at the site shall be of at least stage IIIB 

emission standard (or higher if stage IIB has not been defined for the type of 

machinery) unless agreed otherwise in writing in the CEMP. 

- The site access point(s) of all vehicles to the site during the construction phase. 

- The areas for loading and unloading plant and materials. 

- The location of the site compound and details of how power will be provided to the 

compound (use of a generator overnight will not normally be considered acceptable). 

- The location of storage areas for plant and materials. This should include the location 

of stockpiles of topsoil and sub soil. 

- The erection and maintenance of securing hoarding, if appropriate. (Hoarding is to be 

kept free of fly posting and graffiti). 

- Arrangements for communication and liaison with local residents, including regular 

letter drops and a dedicated contact number for complaints. 

 

The approved Statement shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period of 

the development. 

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the construction 

of the development in accordance with Policies DE1 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local 

Plan 2012-2030. 

 

This condition needs to be a pre-commencement condition to ensure the impacts of the 

development are mitigated from the beginning of the development. 

 

5. Demolition Method Statement  

 

The works of demolition shall not commence before details of the method of demolition 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

demolition shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and to safeguard features of special architectural 

and historical interest and preserve the character and appearance of the Pannier Market 

in accordance with Policies DE1, HE1 and SS10 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-

2030 and Policies TH8 and TH10 of the Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-

2030. 

 

These details are required pre-commencement because any initial construction or 

demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety and/or residential 

amenity. 

 

6. Assurance of Build 

 

Page 160



 

 

No demolition shall take place until arrangements, including a contract for carrying out of 

works, have been put in place to secure the redevelopment of the site and details of these 

arrangements have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The arrangements shall include details of the timescale for carrying out the 

works approved under planning permission reference P/2025/0164 and the development 

approved under this permission.  

 

Reason: To ensure that the character and appearance of the area is not prejudiced and 

to safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve the 

character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policies DE1 and HE1 of the 

of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policies TH8 and TH10 of the Adopted 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

This condition needs to be a pre-commencement condition to protect visual amenity and 

heritage assets. 

 

7. Details of Underbuild and Levels 

 

Prior to the commencement of any development hereby approved, full details of any 

underbuild, site levels including landscaped areas and finished floor levels in relation to 

the units, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning 

Authority. The development thereafter shall be built in strict accordance with the proposed 

details and levels as approved.  

 

Reason: In interests of visual and local amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and 

DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

This pre-commencement condition is required to protect visual amenity. 

 

8. Schedule of Works – Block D 

 

Prior to any works being undertaken that affect Block D as identified in the approved plan 

(ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 

2025), a detailed schedule of works (including repair works) and a timetable for removal 

and works of reinstatement, including investigative works, methods and materials to repair 

and re-instate of internal features where relevant, shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the work shall be carried out only in 

accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.  

 

9. Expert Supervision – Block D 

 

Prior to the commencement of works relating, affecting or impacting Block D as identified 

in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Page 161



 

 

Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), the details of the appropriately qualified 

professional specialising in conservation work who will supervise the hereby approved 

works of alteration or demolition shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. Any proposed changes to the agreed supervision arrangements shall 

be subject to the prior written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. The works shall 

then be supervised for the full duration of the works by the agreed suitably qualified 

professional. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

10. Building Recording – Block D 

 

Prior to the commencement of works relating, affecting or impacting Block D as identified 

in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block 

Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), an appropriate programme of historic building 

recording and analysis shall be secured and implemented in accordance with a written 

scheme of investigation which has previously been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy SS10 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 

2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 and 

Paragraph 211 of the National Planning Policy Framework, that an appropriate record is 

made of the historic building fabric that may be affected by the development.  

 

11. Submission of Details Following Demolition 

 

Prior to forming any new opening following the demolition of the extensions on the 

southern and western elevations of Block D as identified on the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-

TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025) 

along with the investigative works, details and evidence of any historic openings shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Any details and evidence approved by the Local Planning Authority pertaining to Condition 

11 shall be thereafter included as an appendix to the building record as required by 

Condition 10 of this consent. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

12. Hidden Historic Features – Block D 

 

During the works, if hidden historic features are revealed relating to Block D as  identified 

in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Page 162



 

 

Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), they should be retained in-situ. Works shall be 

halted in the relevant area of the building and the Local Planning Authority should be 

notified immediately. Failure to do so may result in unauthorised works being carried out 

and an offence being committed. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

13. External Materials – Blocks A and B 

 

Prior to their installation, technical details and/or samples of the proposed exterior 

materials relating to Blocks A and B as  identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-

HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025) including 

wall finishes, roofing materials, eaves, fascias and rainwater goods shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

The development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved details, 

and shall be retained as such for the life of the development.  

 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and SS10 

of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH8 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

14. Stone Cleaning – Block D 

 

No work shall commence on the stone cleaning across any elevation of Block D as  

identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block 

Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), until a sample panel has been provided insitu to 

establish the final parameters of the stone cleaning and this sample panel shall be 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved panel shall be kept on 

site for reference until the development is completed. The work shall only be carried out 

in accordance with the approved sample panel. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

15. Masonry Cleaning & Painting – Block D 

 

No cleaning of masonry, other than low pressure (20-100 psi) surface cleaning using a 

nebulous water spray across any elevation of Block D as identified in the approved plan 

(ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 

2025) is authorised by this consent without the prior approval of the Local Planning 

Authority. Before cleaning work begins, any other cleaning proposals must be submitted 

Page 163



 

 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and then carried out strictly in 

accordance with those details.  

 

Prior to any new internal and external painting, a detailed specification of any paint to be 

used on the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority and then carried out strictly in accordance with those details. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

16. Matching Details – Block D 

 

All new external and internal works and finishes and works of making good to the retained 

fabric of Block D as  identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-

00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), shall match the existing 

original work adjacent in respect of methods, detailed execution and finished appearance 

unless  the alternative details are first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. Any alternative method which is agreed shall be strictly adhered to. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.  

 

17. Windows and Doors – Block D 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the installation of new windows 

and doors relating to Block D as identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-

ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), the following 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  

 Broken sections at a scale of 1:1 and elevations at a scale of 1:10, of all new windows 

and doors  

 Reveal sections, drawn to a scale of 1:1-1:10  

 Sill sections, drawn to a scale of 1:1-1:10  

 Frame and door materials  

 

The development shall then proceed in full accordance with the approved details and shall 

be retained as such thereafter.  

 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy DE1, HE1 and 

SS10 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policies TH8 and TH10 of the 

Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

18. Joinery Details – Block D 

 

Page 164



 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, no installation of any new opening 

relating to Block D as  identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-

00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), shall commence until the 

following has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

- Broken sections at a scale of 1:1 and elevations at a scale of 1:10, of all new windows 

and doors 

- Reveal sections, drawn to a scale of 1:1-1:10 

- Sill sections, drawn to a scale of 1:1-1:10  

 

The development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved details and 

retained thereafter.  

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

19. Removal of Redundant Infrastructure/Services – Block D 

 

Prior to the first use of Block D as identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-

ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), all redundant 

infrastructure associated with the former use of the building shall have been removed from 

the exterior of the building. For the avoidance of doubt this includes communications and 

information technology servicing, alarms, lighting, security cameras, soil pipes, flues, 

ducting, vents and air handling/conditioning units. 

 

Reason: To safeguard features of special architectural and historical interest and preserve 

the character and appearance of the building in accordance with Policy HE1 of the of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH10 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

20. External Materials – Block C 

 

Prior to their installation, technical details and/or samples of the proposed exterior 

materials relating to Block C as identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-

ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025) including 

cladding materials and openings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority.  

 

The development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved details, 

and shall be retained as such for the life of the development.  

 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and SS10 

of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH8 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

21. Boundary Treatments 

 Page 165



 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the first occupation of the 

residential development hereby approved and referenced as Blocks A and B as identified 

in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block 

Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), a scheme of boundary treatment shall be fully 

installed in accordance with details which shall previously have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme of boundary treatment 

shall include a scheme of mitigation, to protect the amenities of the future occupiers of the 

Level 0 units (7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14) of Block A as indicated on approved plan (ref: 

‘4695-TQUS-HMA-AA-ZZ-D-A-00200 S2-P09 (Block A L0)’, received 4th August 2025) 

and the ground floor units (1a, 2a, 3a, 4a, 5a, 6a, 7a) of Block B as indicated on approved 

plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-BB-ZZ-D-A-00200 S2-P05 (block B GF)’, received 25th 

March 2025) which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

Once provided, the approved boundary treatment shall be maintained and retained for the 

life of the development.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory completion of development in the interests of visual and 

residential amenity and to protect the privacy of future and neighbouring occupants in 

accordance with Policies DE1, SS10 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-

2030 and Policy TH8 of the Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

22. Street Furniture  

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans, no development above ground level shall take place 

in each approved phase until details (including siting/alignment, type and appearance 

including materials/finishes) of the proposed street furniture (including refuse bins, 

signage, wayfinding, seating, bollards, lockers, railings, handrails, bicycle stands, and 

other means of enclosure) in the area of that relevant phase have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Prior to the completion of each 

approved phase, the street furniture shall be installed in accordance with the approved 

details and retained and managed for the lifetime of the development.  

 

Reason: In the interests of design and in order to accord with Policy DE1 of the Adopted 

Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, Policy TH8 of the Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 

2012-2030, and guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

23. Surface Water Drainage 

 

Prior to the commencement of development, excluding the demolition works, a detailed 

surface water drainage scheme for the site shall have been submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority in writing. Priority shall be given to sustainable urban drainage 

systems, where soakaways must be designed in accordance with Building Research 

Establishment Digest 365 and include details of how they have been designed to cater 

for the 1 in 100 year critical rainfall event plus 50% allowance for climate change. 

Evidence that trial holes and infiltration tests have been carried out in accordance with 

Building Research Establishment Digest 365 in the same location as any soakaways or 

sustainable drainage features must be provided. The scheme shall demonstrate that there Page 166



 

 

will be no increased risk of flooding to surrounding buildings, roads and land. To adhere 

to current best practice and take account of urban creep, the impermeable area of the 

proposed development must be increased by 10% in surface water drainage calculations. 

 

The development shall not be occupied or brought into use until an approved surface 

water drainage system has been completed as approved and it shall be continually 

maintained thereafter. 

 

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and in 

order to accord with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 

and the guidance contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

24. Topographical Levels – Floodwater 

 

The topographical levels should be built in accordance with drawing TQUS-CDY-XX-XX-

D-C-0020 P01. No alterations to site levels shall take place that would adversely affect 

the conveyance of floodwater or reduce floodplain storage unless alternative details have 

first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 

consultation with the Environment Agency. Any alternative details which are agreed shall 

be strictly adhered to. 

 

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and in 

order to accord with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan and the 

guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

25. Finished Floor Levels – Block A 

 

All residential units within Block A as identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-

HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025) shall have 

finished floor levels set no lower than 16.21m AOD, providing a minimum of 600mm 

freeboard above the lowest adjacent ground level.  

 

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and in 

order to accord with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan and the 

guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

26. Flood Resistance and Resilience  

 

The development shall incorporate flood resistance and resilience measures as outlined 

in the approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (ref: ‘TQUS-CDY-ZZ-XX-

T-C-0003-50452w0011-P06 (inc. drainage strategy)’, received 25th March 2025). The 

approved flood resistance and resilience measures shall be installed and implemented 

prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and shall operate and 

be maintained for the lifetime of the development. 

 

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and in 

order to accord with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan and the 

guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. Page 167



 

 

 

27. Bicycle Storage – Residential  

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the first occupation of the 

residential development hereby approved and referenced as Blocks A and B as  identified 

in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block 

Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), details of the proposed covered and secure bicycle 

storage facilities for 1no. cycle per residential flat shall be submitted to and agreed in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle storage facilities shall be provided in 

accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of any of the residential 

development and maintained and retained as such for the lifetime of the development. 

 

Reason: To ensure adequate parking facilities are provided to serve the development in 

accordance with Policies TA2 and TA3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

28. Bicycle Storage – Commercial 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the first occupation of the 

commercial development hereby approved and referenced as Blocks C and D as  

identified in the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block 

Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025), details of the proposed secure bicycle storage 

facilities to serve the commercial developments within Blocks A, C and D (ref: ‘4695-

TQUS-HMA-ZZ-ZZ-D-A-00002 S2-P01 (Block Reference)’, received 22nd April 2025) shall 

be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle storage 

facilities shall be provided in accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation 

of any of the commercial development and maintained and retained as such for the 

lifetime of the development. 

 

Reason: To ensure adequate parking facilities are provided to serve the development in 

accordance with Policies TA2 and TA3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

29. Travel Plan 

 

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, a Travel Plan and 

Implementation Strategy with SMART targets to seek to meet Policy requirements of 30% 

modal shift to foot, cycle and public transport, with appropriate mitigation measures should 

these targets not be met, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority.  

 

The development shall then proceed in accordance with the approved travel plan 

thereafter. 

 

Reason: To support sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in single 

occupancy car journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking and cycling in 

accordance with Policy TA1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

30. Bin Storage – Residential  

 Page 168



 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the first occupation of the 

residential development hereby permitted, provision shall be made for the storage of 

refuse and recycling awaiting collection according to details which shall previously have 

been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once provided, 

the agreed storage arrangements shall be retained and maintained for the life of the 

development. 

 

Reason: In interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies W1 and DE1 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

31. Bin Storage – Commercial 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the first occupation of the 

commercial development hereby permitted, provision shall be made for the storage of 

refuse and recycling awaiting collection according to details which shall previously have 

been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once provided, 

the agreed storage arrangements shall be retained and maintained for the life of the 

development. 

 

Reason: In interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies W1 and DE1 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

32. Waste Management Plan 

 

Prior to the first occupation or first use of the development a Waste Management Plan 

(WMP) for the building, setting out recycling and waste collections methods which follow 

the waste hierarchy to ensure locally established recycling targets at the that time are 

met, together with measures to review and respond to evolving targets, shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved WMP shall be 

implemented prior to the first occupation of the building and maintained at all times 

thereafter as a working document and strategy for the lifetime of the development. 

 

Reason: To ensure a suitable waste collection that accords with Policies W1 and W2 of 

the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

33. Road Management and Maintenance Plan 

 

Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby approved, a Road 

Maintenance Plan including the arrangements for the implementation of a Private Road 

Management Scheme to secure the effective management and maintenance of the road 

and refuse collection and emergency vehicle access throughout the lifetime of the 

development.  

 

Where it is proposed that the road shall be privately maintained, no residential unit shall 

be occupied unless a Private Road Management Scheme has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and which shall provide for: 

Page 169



 

 

a) Setting up a company or other entity to be responsible for the on-going management 

and maintenance of the road, refuse collection, and public access for all units (the 

"Management Body").  

b) How the company and the future management and maintenance of the road and 

refuse collection is to be financed including initial capital investment with subsequent 

funding.  

c) The rights for and obligations on the Management Company to manage and maintain 

the road and collect refuse.  

d) Arrangements for the management and collection of refuse and waste from the 

residential units.  

e) A road management and maintenance and refuse collection schedule.  

f) How refuse and waste will be managed on site including the location of individual and 

communal refuse and waste collection facilities and the locations where refuse and 

waste is to be transferred off-site.  

g) Confirmation from the relevant waste collection company that they have agreed to 

collect the refuse and waste from the development in accordance with the approved 

details.  

h) The ongoing maintenance and management of any communal lighting illuminating any 

part of the access road and surface water drainage systems.  

i) An action plan which specifically covers road maintenance and management of access 

where potholes or subsidence arise.  

 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Road Maintenance 

Plan and the approved Private Road Access Scheme which shall thereafter be fully 

complied with and implemented.  

 

No residential unit shall be occupied unless it connects directly to a road (including a 

footway and / or carriageway) which is:  

a) Adopted, or subject to an agreement by the highway authority as a highway 

maintainable at the public expense; or  

b) Subject to a Private Road Management Scheme where the Management Body has 

been established and is responsible for the management and maintenance of the road 

and the collection of waste and refuse from the date of occupation of the dwelling.  

 

Any roads (including carriageways and footways) which do not form part of the highway 

maintainable at the public expense shall be permanently maintained to an adoptable 

standard and retained and made available for public use in perpetuity.  

 

Reason: To provide safe and sustainable access to the site for drivers, cyclists and 

pedestrians in accordance with Policies TA1, TA2 and DE1 of the Adopted Torbay Local 

Plan 2012-2030. 

 

34. Designing Out Crime  

 

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, evidence shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the design of 

the development meets Secured by Design standards as far as practicable, and the 

Page 170



 

 

measures shall be incorporated into the development prior to that part of the development 

to which they relate being brought into use and shall be permanently retained thereafter.  

 

Reason: In the interests of crime prevention in accordance with Policy DE1 and SS11 of 

the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH2 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

35. Bat Mitigation Measures 

  

All demolition and construction activities must comply with the bat mitigation measures 

detailed in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.12 of the approved Bat Survey Report (ref: ‘P20250173-

15 (Bat & Bird Survey)’, received 5th August 2025), unless otherwise agreed with Natural 

England through the bat mitigation licensing process. No licensable works affecting bats 

or their roosts may begin until a bat mitigation licence has been issued by Natural 

England. If circumstances change and a bat licence is no longer required where one was 

previously deemed necessary, written confirmation must be obtained from the Local 

Planning Authority before any such works commence.  

 

Reason: To ensure the protection of bats and their roosts, which are legally protected 

under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and in accordance with Policy NC1 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

36. Nesting Bird Mitigation Plan 

 

Prior to the commencement of any demolition works, a Nesting Bird Mitigation Plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 

plan shall thereafter be implemented in full thereafter.  

 

Reason: To safeguard nesting gulls and other urban species protected under the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and in accordance with Policy NC1 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

These details are required pre-commencement as specified to ensure that biodiversity 

and protected species are not harmed by building operations. 

 

37. Ecological Enhancement Plan 

 

Prior to the commencement of development, an Ecological Enhancement Plan shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 

include details of the quantum, type, and location of faunal enhancement features, 

specifically swift boxes, house sparrow terraces, bat boxes, and insect bricks, all of which 

shall be integrated into the fabric of the building (e.g. built-in or flush-mounted units). The 

approved measures shall be installed prior to the occupation of the development and 

retained thereafter.  

 

Reason: To enhance ecological value and support protected and priority species through 

the provision of targeted faunal features, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Page 171



 

 

Framework, Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, and 

Policy NC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

These details are required pre-commencement as specified to ensure that biodiversity 

and protected species are not harmed by building operations. 

 

38. Energy and Sustainability  

 

A detailed energy and sustainability statement shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the construction of the development hereby 

approved. The statement shall identify the specific details that will be incorporated into 

the site including how the proposed development: 

1. Conserves energy by reducing energy demand through siting and design. This 

includes the use of building orientation, layout and landscaping to optimise solar gain, 

ventilation and cooling, 

2. Uses energy efficiently within the fabric of the building, 

3. Uses on-site renewable technologies to achieve 20% reduction in carbon emissions, 

4. Minimises water consumption and run-off, 

5. Uses construction methods and materials to reduce carbon release, 

6. Minimises waste. 

 

The Statement shall be accompanied by detailed plans and elevations that demonstrate 

the incorporation of these details into the design of the development. The approved details 

shall be implemented in full prior to the occupation of the development and retained for 

the lifetime of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

Reason: In interests of low carbon development and in accordance with Policy SS14 and 

ES1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

39. Soft Landscaping  

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to first occupation of the development hereby 

approved a soft landscape scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority showing details of all trees, hedgerows and other planting to be 

retained; finished ground levels; a planting specification to include numbers, density, size, 

species and positions of all new trees and shrubs; and a programme of implementation.  

 

All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the approved scheme shall be carried out 

in the first planting season following the completion of the development. Any trees or plants 

indicated on the approved scheme which, within a period of five years from the date of the 

development being completed, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 

diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of a similar size 

and the same species. 

 

Reason: In interests of visual and residential amenity and in accordance with Policies C4, 

DE1 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 Page 172



 

 

40. Hard Landscaping  

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans, no development shall take place in each approved 

phase which involves the provision of hard surfacing materials until details of the materials 

to be used in the relevant area have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the works shall be fully implemented in accordance 

with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved 

and shall be retained for the lifetime of the development. The details for approval shall 

include a detailed scheme of:  

a) Type/texture/colour finishes (including any samples as may be necessary) including 

at key public realm and historic areas; and  

b) The proposed pattern treatments to add local distinctiveness within the floorspace 

at key public realm areas.  

 

Reason: In the interests of design and in order to accord with Policies DE1 and SS10 of 

the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, Policy TH8 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030, and guidance contained within the National Planning 

Policy Framework. 

 

41. External Amenity Spaces 

 

Prior to the first occupation of any residential unit hereby approved, the external amenity 

spaces, detailed on the approved plan (ref: ‘4695-TQUS-HMA-ZZ-00-D-A-00001 S2-P08 

(Site Plan)’, received 29th April 2025) shall be provided in full. The external amenity spaces 

shall thereafter be maintained and retained as such for the use of the development's 

occupiers for the lifetime of the development. 

  

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with Policy DE3 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

42. Removal of Permitted Development Rights C3 to C4 

 

Notwithstanding the provisions of Class L of Part 3 to Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking 

or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the residential use of any one or 

more units hereby approved shall not be changed to a House in Multiple Occupation, 

unless permission under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 has 

first been sought and obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: In interests of visual and local amenity and the living environment conditions in 

this locality in accordance with Policies DE1, DE3, H4 and SS11 of the Adopted Torbay 

Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

43. Removal of Permitted Development Rights Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A 

 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 

modification), Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A, no other means of enclosures shall Page 173



 

 

be erected within the external areas of this development, unless permission under the 

provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 has first been sought and obtained 

in writing from the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: In interests of visual and local amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and 

DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH8 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

44. Removal of Permitted Development Rights Schedule 2, Part 7, Class A 

 

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 7, Class A, of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 

(or any Order amending or revoking that Order), no extensions or alterations shall be 

made to the commercial units hereby approved.  

 

Reason: To maintain an acceptable form of development in accordance with Policies DE1, 

TA2, TA3, C4, NC1 and ER1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy 

TH8 of the Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

45. Acoustic Insulation Implementation and Verification Plan  

 

Prior to commencement of any construction (excluding demolition and site clearance) of 

the development hereby approved, an Acoustic Insulation Implementation and Verification 

Plan shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This plan 

shall include details of the insulation to be installed and describe how the installation shall 

be tested so as to demonstrate the achievement of suitable internal noise levels.  

 

Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved an Acoustic Installation 

Verification Report shall be submitted. This report shall document the successful 

completion of the acoustic insulation work which shall accord with the previously approved 

details and shall include post installation testing. 

 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with Policy DE3 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

46. Cumulative Noise – Plant and Equipment 

 

Cumulative noise from all building services plant and equipment shall not exceed a rating 

noise level of 41dB (07:00 to 23:00) and 37dB (23:00 to 07:00) (measured in accordance 

with BS4142) at 1 metre from the façade of any noise sensitive receptor.  

 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with Policy DE3 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

47. Opening Hours – Use Class E 

 

The Use Class E uses hereby approved, including within the Pannier Market, shall not 

operate outside the hours of 07:00 to 23:00. Page 174



 

 

 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with Policy DE3 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

48. Contaminated Land 

 

No development shall take place (including demolition) until a full investigation of the site 

has taken place to determine the extent of, and risk posed by, any contamination of the 

land and the results, together with any remedial works necessary, have been submitted 

to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The buildings shall not be 

occupied until the approved remedial works have been implemented and a remediation 

statement submitted to the Local Planning Authority detailing what contamination has 

been found and how it has been dealt with together with confirmation that no unacceptable 

risks remain. 

 

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 

ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 

unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, in accordance with 

Policy ER3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, and guidance contained within 

the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

These details are required pre-commencement as specified to ensure that contaminated 

material is not released into the environment from building operations and there are no 

risks to workers, neighbours or other receptors. 

 

49. External Lighting 

 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a scheme of external 

lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Such details shall include the location, number, luminance, angle of illumination and type 

of each luminaire or light source and a lux diagram showing the light spill from the scheme. 

The submitted scheme shall include a lighting assessment with measures to prevent light-

spill into the surrounding area and on the nearest receptors. The external lighting shall 

thereafter be installed, operated and maintained operated in accordance with the 

approved details for the lifetime of the development and no further external lighting shall 

be installed. 

 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with Policies DE3 and 

NC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

50. Additional Paraphernalia  

 

No equipment, signage or plant shall be located on the roof, walls or in the grounds of the 

development hereby permitted (other than those indicated on the approved plans) unless 

the full details have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. This shall include air conditioning units, extraction equipment, aerials, tanks, 

Page 175



 

 

satellite dishes and external lighting. Development shall then proceed strictly in 

accordance with the approved details.    

 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area, in accordance with Policies 

DE1 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH8 of the Adopted 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. 

 

51. Commercial Kitchen Extractions 

 

Before the commencement of use of any commercial kitchen within the development 

hereby approved, a scheme for the installation of equipment to control the emission of 

fumes and smell from that kitchen shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full and 

maintained in operation thereafter. 

 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with Policy DE3 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

Informative(s) 

 

Positive and Proactive  

 

In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order, 2015, in determining this 

application, Torbay Council has worked positively with the applicant to ensure that all relevant 

planning concerns have been appropriately resolved. The Council has concluded that this 

application is acceptable for planning approval. 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

 

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 

that planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to have been 

granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that development may not begin 

unless:  

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and  

(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.   

 

There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 

biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity Gain 

Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 

(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024.  

 

Based on the information provided to determine the application this permission is considered 

to be one which will not require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development 

is begun because one or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements is/are 

considered to apply. 

 

Relevant Policies Page 176



 

 

 

Development Plan Relevant Policies 

 

C4 - Trees, Hedgerows and Natural Landscape Features 

DE1 - Design 

DE3 - Development Amenity 

DE4 - Building Heights  

ER1 - Flood Risk 

ER2 - Water Management 

ES1 - Energy  

H1 - Applications for New Homes 

HE1 - Listed Buildings 

NC1 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

SDT1 - Torquay 

SDT2 - Torquay Town Centre and Harbour 

SS1 - Growth Strategy for a Prosperous Torbay 

SS3 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

SS10 - Conservation and the Historic Environment  

SS11 - Sustainable Communities  

SS12 - Housing 

SS13 - Five Year Housing Land Supply 

SS14 - Low Carbon Development and Adaption to Climate Change 

TA1 - Transport and Accessibility 

TA2 - Development Access 

TA3 - Parking Requirements 

TC1 - Town Centres 

TC2 - Torbay Retail Hierarchy 

TC4 - Change of Retail Use 

W1 - Waste Hierarchy 

W5 - Waste Water Disposal 

 

TS1 - Sustainable Development  

TS4 - Support for Brownfield and Greenfield Development 

TH8 - Established Architecture 

TH9 - Parking Facilities 

TH10 - Protection of the Historic Built Environment 

TE5 - Protected species habitats and biodiversity 

TH2 - Designing Out Crime 

THW4 - Outside Space Provision  

THW5 - Access to Sustainable Transport 

  

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 11 Alta Vista Road, Paignton (P/2025/0253)
	6 Pannier Market, Union Square, Market Street, Torquay (P/2025/0164)
	7 Union Square Shopping Centre and Pannier Market, Union Square, Torquay (P/2025/0173)

